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Our mission
Making tomorrow a better place.

Our vision

To be the leader in delivering
integrated solutions for infrastructure,
buildings and services.

Our strategy is to deliver sustainable
profitable growth through:

Growing support services and Public
Private Partnerships (PPP) organically
and by acquisition;

Maintaining a strong and selective
construction capability focused on
higher added-value contracts for
long-term customers;

Developing and marketing integrated
solutions tailored to the needs of
customers, including project

finance, design and construction,
maintenance and lifetime asset
management.
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Financial Highlights

Revenue
2004: £1,985.1 million

£2.3bn

Revenue, including joint ventures, increased by 15 per cent,
with organic growth and the acquisition of PME more than
offsetting the effects of disposing of non-core businesses
and of transferring rail maintenance 1o Network Rail.

Profit
2004: £48.1 miliion

£555m

Underlying*® profit before tax increased by 15 per cent.

Earnings per share
2004: 18.6 pence

204p

Underlying* earnings per share increased by 10 per cent.

Net cash
2004: £128.8 million

£90.8m

Operating cash flow remained strong and we had
substantial net cash at 31 December 2005, after investing
£47 million in the acquisition of PME in March 2005.

Revenue

£ millions

05

o4 1,885.1
03 1.672.7
02 1,075,2
01 1,800.7

Earnings per share

pence

05

C4 166
03 1T

02 14,1

01 14.3

£.284.2

20.4

Final dividend
2004; 4,825 pence

5.2p

The Board is recommending a final dividend
of 5.2 perice per share.

Total dividend
2004: 7.5 pence

3.0p

Based on the recommended final dividend, the
total full year dividend of 8 pence per sharz
represents an increase of approximately 7 per cent
on the total dividend paid in respect of 2004.

Order book
2004: £5.0 billion

£7.0bn

Qur year-end order book increased by

40 per cent and we have continued 1o maintain
a strong pipeling of probable new orders worth
approximately £1.6 billion.

*Undertying profit and underlying earnings per share, which
are defined o page B0, are used 10 regort ur financial
parfarmance 0 2009 on a comgaralzle basis 10 thar of 2004,

Profit

£ millions
05
04 43,1
03 7.2
02 44.3
ct 408

5
«
o«

£

Dividend per share

pence

05 8.0
04 75

03 875

02 EY:

01 44




Chairman’s Statement

i am pleased to report that in 2005 Carillion achieved all its key
financial targets and made substantial strategic progress to deliver
further profitable growth, both organically and through the
acquisition of mechanical and electrical engineering maintenance
company, FME.

in December 2605, we announced the terms of a recommended
cash and shares offer for the acquisition of Mowlem pic. This
acquisition, which received the overwhelming support of Carillion
and Mowlem shareholders, was completed in February 2006 and,
in line with our strategy, represents a step change in Carilfion’s
transformation.

in this report, Carillion has presented for the first time #ts fuli-year
financial results under International Financial Reparting Standards. In
2005, revenue increased by 15 per cent to £2,284 million, induding
joint ventures, {2004: £1,385 million), despite the impact of
transferring to Network Rail maintenance contracts that generated
£150 million of revenue in 2004, Underlying* profit before tax also
increased by 15 per cent to £55.5 million (2004: £48.1 million).
Operating cash flow remained strong and at 31 December 2005
net cash amounted to £9C.8 million (2004: £128.8 million).

The intake of new orders in 2005 was particularly strong and by
the year end the value of the Group's order book and framework
contracts had increased by 40 per cent to £7 billion (2004: £5 billion).

The integration of PME, which we acquired in March 2005, has
been completed successfully. This has significantly strengthened our
building management and support services capability and enhanced
cur earnings in 2005.

Three non-executive directors, Sir Nevilie Simms, our previous
chairman, Andrew Parrish and Roger Dickens, retired from the Board
in 2005. | should fike to record the Board's thanks and recognition
for their contributions to the development and success of Carillion
and in particutar to record the Board's deep sadness at the death

of Roger Dickens early in 2006. During 2005, we were pleased

to welcome to the Board two new non-executive directors. The
appointment of Vanda Murray OBE in june, which | reported to
shareholders in my Interim Report, was followed by the appointment
in Novernber of David Maloney, who brings to the Board
considerable experience in a number of service industry sectors.

*Underlying peofit and underiying 2arnings per share, which
are defined on page &0, are us
performance in 2005 on & compar,

po
able basis 1o that of 2004
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With a record order book and streng presence in our key

growth markets, the outlook was already positive for Carillion to
deliver sustainable growth. However, the acquisition of Mowlem
will accelerate growth substantially and create significant value

for shareholders. It brings together two companies of a similar

size with an excellent strategic fit, complementary skills and

market strengths, to create one of the largest support setvices

and construction compantes in the UK and with substantial
international businesses. Combining the two companies will
generate opportunities for cost savings and strengthen Carillion’s
ability to compete successfully in its chosen rarkets, As a result, we
expect the acquisition of Mowlem to enhance earnings materially in
2007, the first full year of operation following the acquisition.

The strong platform that has enabled us 1o acquire Mowlem and
move forward into 2006 with considerable confidence is due to
the leadership of Carillion’s senicr management team and the
commitment and professionatism of all its people. On hehalf of
the Board 1| should like to offer our thanks to everyane in Carillion
for the contributicns they have made to our success.

In view of the financial performance in 2005 and enhanced
prospects for future growth, the Board is recommending a final
crdinary dividend for 2005 of 5.2 pence per share, making the total
full year dividend 8 pence per share, an increase of some 7 per cent
on the total dividend paid in respect of 2004 (7.5 pence per share).
The final crdinary dividend for 2005 will be paid on 23 june 2006

to shareholders on the register at close of business on 28 April 20086.

Philip Rogerson
Chairman
8 March 2006
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Making tomorrow a better place

Carillion’s success

s driven by our
commitment to
providing a first-class
customer experience
using our wide
range of skills and
resources to provide
integrated solutions




A balanced and
more resilient
business

taking iomarrae a hatier piace

in 2005, Carillion made a major
breakthrough in the UK Defence
market. With our joint venture
partners we won two support

services contracts for Defence Estates,

together worth around £1.2 billion
over a period of up 1o 10 years.
These contracts invelve maintaining
and upgrading Ministry of Defence
family accommaodation comprising
some 45,000 properties in England
and Wales and the maintenance,
refurbishment and replacement of
around 8,500 other tuildings and
infrastructure in central England
and Wales.

We also made good progress in
the fast-growing education sector
winning new contracts worth over

Secion 03 Larillion pir
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£300 million. These included a

Public Private Partnership (PPP}
project to build nine new schools

in Renfrewshire, with a construction
vatue of around £100 million and

in which we will invest approximately
£4 million of equity, and a £100
ritlion contract to provide design
and construction services for six new
schools in Leeds. A Carillion joint
venture was also appointed preferred
bidder for a PPP project in Ayrshire
to provide six new schools with a
construction value of over £70 million
and in which we expect to invest
some £3 million of equity.
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Improving the
lives of our
customer’s
customer

Making tomorrcs a better place

Carillon is one of the leaders in Public
Private Partnership {PPF) projects and
Health is one our key growth sectors.
In December 2005, we secured

our ninth PPP hospital contract,

the Queen Alexandra hospital,
Portsmouth, which is expected 1o
generate around £7.1 billion of
revenue for Carillion cver the 33-year
concession contract. This includes
approximately £250 million of
construction, over £500 million of
maintenance and support services

and around £350 million of revenue
relating to our £12 million equity
investment in this project.

In 2065, a Carillion joint venture
was appointed preferrad bidder

by Bedfordshire and Hertfordshire
Primary Care Trust {0 provide two
new Independent Sector Treatment
Centres, involving some £48 million
of construction and £119 million of
clinical and non-clinical services over
a five-year period.




Our reputation
is helping us to
win contracts

Section 03 Carillon pic

Making tornamsow 3 betier place

Carillion is a recognised leader in
developing and adopting socially
responsible business practices and
for demonstrating the measurable
benefits this has for our business.

To measure and benchmark our
performance, we take part in Business
in the Community’s annual survey of
sustainability performance. Since the
Index was launched in 2003, Carillion
has each year been ranked first in is
sector and also in the top guartile of
companies participating in the Index.

Ancual Report and Accouts 2005

Carillion is one of the UK's leading
providers of training for support
services and construction. In 2005,
around 3,000 people attended
courses at our 16 training centres
across the UK and some 800
apprentices qualified with NVQs.
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Chief Executive's Review

In 2005 we delivered
substantial profitable
growth and with the
acquisition of Mowlem
laid the foundations
for a step change in
the development of
our business




In our 2004 annual report, | said that 2005 marked the beginning
of a new phase of growth for Carillion. Having completed our
programme of major disposals and built a well-balanced, customer-
focused business, delivering good quality earnings backed by strong
operating cash flows, we were ready to accelerate the development
and growth of our business. That growth will continue to be driven
by implementing our consistent and effective strategy through
customer-focused husinesses, supported by a culture based on
“living” our core values in everything we do.

Strategic development

Qver the past few years we have been seeking acquisitions to fill
capability gaps in order to improve the scope and guality of our
integrated services solutions and also to deliver a step change in
the devefopment of our business, We apply the same criteria to
all potential acquisitions, namely that they must be consistent
with our strateqy for delivering sustainable, profitable growth
and deliver financial returns equivalent 1o those we expect from
other investments.

Acquisition of PME

The acguisition of PME, one of the largest privately owned
mechanical and electrical (M&E) engineering maintenance
businesses in the UK, for approximately £47 million (including a
£10 million payment to the PME pension fund} in March 2005 filled
an important capability gap. M&E maintenance accounts for up to
40 per cent of a typical building management and support services

Seclion 04
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contract. Having an in-house M&E maintenance capability has
therefore considerably strengthened our integrated service cffering
for both new and existing customers, PME is performing well as an
integral part of cur business, with cost synergies now expected to
reach approximately £3 million by the end of 2006, exceeding the
£2 million originatly identified.

Acquisition of Mowlem pic

Carillicn announced its cash and shares offer for the acquisition
of Mowlem in December 2005. it was recommended by the
Mowlem Board and received the overwhelming support of
Carillion and Mowlem shareholders. The acquisition valued
Mowlem’s share capital at £313 million and was completed
successfully on 23 February 2006. 65.8 million new Carillicn
shares were issued on 23 February 2006 as a result of the
acquisition.

Mowlem is an outstanding strategic fit, particularly in support
services and private finance, and we are confident that it will deliver
a step change in the development of our business and materially
enhance our earnings in 2007, the first full year after acguisition.

The addition of Mawlem’s complementary skills and market
strengths in support services makes Cariliion one of the largest
support services businesses in the UK and significantly enhances
our ability to provide customers with high quality, integrated
soluticns in our key market sectors.
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Chief Executive’s Review cortinued

The addition of Mowiem's portfolio of Public Private Partnership
{PFP} projects to Carillion’s own substantial portfolio will create

a very large and valuable portfolio of equity investments.

Mowlem also has a large pipeline of new PPP projects for which

it is the preferred bidder or shortlisted, with the potential to add
cansiderable further value to our investment portfolio. Furthermare,
the acquisition of Mowlem will increase the number of spacialist
people we have with private finance skills, which has been the
main constraint to ocur growth in this market.

Mowlem’s considerable strengths in construction services will

add to the breadth and scale of our own construction capabilities.
Going forward, Mowlem’s approach to construction will be subject
to the same selectivity criteria that we have consistently applied

to our own construction activities. furthermore, our rigorous and
proven risk management policies and processes will underpin
every aspect of the enlarged group’s operations.

Cn 18 January 2006, Cariliien announced that it had agreed 1o sell
two Mowlem businesses, Charter, the US construction management
company and Edgar Allen, the UK rail track products manufacturer
to Balfour Beatty plc for a total consideration of approximately
£20.5 million, subject to due diligence by Balfour Beatty. Completion
of these saies is expected in the second guarter of 2006.

in earfy March 20086, the Office of Fair Trading (OFT) visited two
Mowlem offices. We have fully co-operated with the OFT and will
cantinue to do so as appropriate.

The integration of Carillion and Mowlem is being led by a
dedicated team comprising senior people from both companies
to ensure we achieve the synergy benefits we have identified and
create a business that will deliver accelerated growth, materially
enhanced earnings and strong cash generation. We expect to
deliver cost savings at a running rate of £10 million per annum
by the end of 2006, rising to £15 million per annum by the end
of 2007. The one-off cost of delivering these savings is expected
to be £10 million in 2006.

Our business madet for the enlarged group will continue to be
based on delivering our existing strategy through market focused
business units, each equipped with the skills and resources
necessary to provide customers with sofutions tailored to meet
their specific needs,

Business performance

Total revenue in 2005 increased by 15 per cent 1o £2,284 million
{2004: £1,985 million), including revenue from joint ventures of
£259 million {2004: £126 million).

Q1 Carillion is using its specialist skills
and resources 10 provide integrated
solutions 1o the NHS, induding PPP
hospitals and independent Sector
Treatment Centres.

02 The acquisition of PME, a mechanical
and glectrical engineering maintenance
business, in March 2005, has significantly
strengthened our ability 1o provide

fully integrated sobutions for building
maintenance and services.

Financial reporting segments

Investments Support Services

In this segment we
report the results of
our activities in ral
infrastructure, roads
maintenance,
facilities management
and other support
SErVICes,

Iy this segment

we report the equity
returns on cur
investments in Public
Private Partnership
(PPP) projects.

Construction Services

In this segment we
report the results of
our UK huilding and
construction activities
and our international
Regional businesses




Underlying* profit before tax also increased by 15 per cent to £55.5
million (2004: £48.1 million), with underlying earnings per share of
20.4 pence (2004: 18.6 pence). Underlying earnings per share grew
by 10 per cent, after the Group’s effective tax rate returned 1o a
more normat level of 27 per cent, having reduced temporarily in
2004 to 21 per cent, due 1o a number of one-off tax settlements.

Our relentless focus on cash management has again resulted
in a strong cash flow from cperations of £84 million. Average
weekly net cash was £37 million, net of finance lease liabilities
of £31 million. At 31 December 2005 Carillion had net cash
of £90.8 miliion, net of finance leases of £37.7 million (2004
£128.8 million net of finance leases of £24.2 million), having
invested approximately £47 million in the acguisition of PME.

Delivering improved rasults in 2005 was a particularly significant
achievernent, given the impact of transferring to Network Rail
during 2004 profitable maintenance contracts that contributed
around £150 million of revenue in 2004.

We continue to report our financial results in three segments -
Support Services, Construction Services and Investments — in which
we group together activities of a similar type and risk profile to
make it easier for the Market to value our earnings on a consistent
basis. Our performance in each of these segments is summarised
helow and a more detailed explanation follows later in this review.

In Support Services, revenue (including joint ventures) increased

by over seven per cent to £989 million, with the effect of losing
£150 million of rail maintenance revenue more than offset by the
acquisition of PME and organic growth. An increase in operating
profit of two per cent, to £40.6 millien, lagged growth in revenue,
reflecting the loss of rail maintenance contracts, which had higher
than average margins in this segment,

In Construction Services, revenue (incfuding joint ventures) increased
by 22 per cent to £1,230 million, driven mainly by growth in our
International Regions, particularly the Middle East and Canada, UK
Building and our Developments business. Operating profit in this
segment increased by 35 per cent to £16.9 million,

Investments contributed revenue of £65.4 million. Operating profit
increased by 36 per cent to £8.3 million, due to &n improved
performance across cur portfolio of equity investments in PPP
projects and reductions in bid costs and overheads. As explained
later in this review, we are also creating long-term vatue by
investing in these projects and the Directors’ current valuation of
our portfclio s £89 million, based on discounting at 10 per cent

2004

£5 billion
2005

Investments
Support Services
Construction Services

Order book 2004-2005
Qur order book at 31 December 2005,
increased by 40% to £7.0bn.

Seclicn 04
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the cash flows that will be generated by these investments over
the next thirty years or more,

Total operating profit from our three financial reporting segments
was £65.8 million, including joint ventures. After corporate centre
casts of £10.4 million, net financing income of £5.1 million and tax
on joint venture profits of £5.0 million, underlying profit before tax
was £55.5 million. Non-operating items, amortisation of intangible
assets and goodwill impairment amounted to £3.6 million, leaving
profit before tax of £51.9 million. Profit after tax was £40.8 miltion
and basic earnings per share were 18.7 pence.

2005 was an outstanding vear for new orders, which increased
the value of the Group’s order hook and framework contracts

at the year-end by some 40 per cent to around £7 biilion

{(2004: £5 billion). Despite converting a high proportion of
potential new orders into contracts in 2005, we also maintained
a healthy pipeline of probable orders, worth up to £1.6 billion at
the year-end (2004: £2.2 billion).

Our strategy for growth continues to be reflected in our order book,
with Support Services and PPP concession contracts accounting

for some 84 per cent of order book value (2004: 78 per cent). The
longer-term nature of these contracts also significantly improves the
visibility of future revenues, with arocund 74 per cent of our order
book expected to generate revenues in 2007 and beyond. At the
same time, through our selective approach, we have continued

to improve the quality of cur construction order bock and focused
on long-term relationships with key customers. For example, in
2005 our UK building business generated around 84 per cent
(2004: 80 per cent) of its revenue from 20 key customers,

Risk management

The rigorous palicies and processes we have established to
identify, mitigate and manage risk are a cornerstone of our
business. Our Group Head of Risk is responsible for agvising
on all risk issues, including our policies and processes and their
application 0 all our businass activities.

We address strategic risks and risks specific to individuat businesses
and contracts, including social, environmental and ethical risks.
Our risk managerment processes apply to every aspect of our
business, from choosing the markets in which we operate to

the contracts we bid for and the selection of our suppliers and
sub-contractors. They apply to every stage of a contract from
inception to completion, in order to deliver the cash-backed profit
we expect and 3 service that meets or exceeds the expectations of
our customers.

*LUnderlying profit and underlying earnings per
share, which are defined on page 80, ere
Lsed o report our financiat performance in
2005 on a comparable basis ta that of 2004,

£7 billion
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Chiet Executive's Review continued

The maore significant areas of risk, where our failure to perfarm
weli or changes to macro economic or market specific environments
that would adversely affect our business, are summarised below:

Integraticn of Mowlem. The efficient and professional
integration of Carillion and Mowlem is essential to the success
of this acquisition and to the delivery of cost synergies,
sustainable, prafitabie growth and materially enhanced earnings,

Attracting, developing and retaining excellent pecple. The
success of our business depends primarily on the guality of
our people;

Management of major contracts. Completing contracts on
time and to the required standards, avoids financial penalties
and damage to our brand and reputation;

Closing out existing contracts. Settling completed contracts
and collecting the cash we are owed is essential to reducing
debt and delivering the earnings growth we expect;

Pension scherme management. The cost to Carillion of funding its
pension schemes depends on the macro-economic environment,
equity market stability and reguiatory requirements;

Government investment and outsourcing. YWith a substantial
proportion of our business and future growth dependent on
planned investment and outsourcing of services, it is important
to maintain an effective presance in a number of growth sectors
to support the resilience of our business;

A more detailed description of our risk management structure
can be found in our Corporate Governance Report on page 23,

Our people

Our pecple are the key source of competitive advantage and it
15 through their effors each day that we meet or exceed our
customers’ expectations

The success of our business and the value of the Carillion

brand depend primarily upon the performance of our people.

We therefore remain totally committed to attracting, developing
and retaining excellent people by becoming an employer of choice
and have a wide range of measures in place to make this a reality
across all our businesses.

Abhove all we strive to communicate well with all our people and
to listen to and act upon what they tell us. We do this through

a structured approach to communication, including individual
performance and development reviews, monthly Team Talks and
reqular surveys through which everyone can share their views
openly and frankly, in line with cur core value of 'Openness’.
These surveys culminate annually in "The Great Debate” in which
around 1,400 people from across the Group took part in 2005.

01 Part of the new Westwood Cross
retail development in Thanet, Kent,
which opened in 2005, This 20 acre site,
which is home to 3% retail cutlers, was
developed by the Carillion/Richardson
partnership and built by Carilbon,

02 Carillion manages and maintains the
Royal Parks for the Royal Parks Agency.




This enables us to monitor and maasure our progress on a wide
range of issues, including how welt we engage with our people to
recognise and value the contributions they make to our business,
to help them develop and fulfil their potential.

Specifically in response to feedback from the Great Debate,

in 2005 we redoubled our efforts to improve the way we
commuricate, beginning with around 250 of our senice managers
attending workshops designed to demonstrate the "Power of
Engagemant”. By the end of 2005 around 2,000 managers ang
supervisors had attended these workshops. Good two-way
communicatior: must ba the hallmark of our business leaders

and the benefits of this are increasingly evident in the satisfaction
and performance of our geople.

Health and Safety

Carillion has an absolute commitment to ensuring that all cur
people can work safely at all times, wherever they are. This
commitment extends 1o those wha work with us and those who

cold be affected by our activities, including members of the public.

This requires the continual vigilance and cornmitment of everyone
involved in our activities to ensure that safe working practices are
always used. This is supported by rigorous reviews, inspections,
training and education, all of which are actively promoted and led
by the Board.

At the end of 2004, we faunched a radical new initiative, Target
Zero, aimed at eliminating reportable accidents by 2010. This is an
ambitious target, but we are determined to create a culture of zero
tolerance to accidents, not only within Cariffion, but also within
our stakeholders, including customers, suppliers and partners.
Tragically, five people were killed while working on projects under
Carillion’s management control during 2005. These accidents
reinforce our commitment to make Target Zerc a reality and its
benefits are already evident. Qur Accident Frequency Rate (AFR),
reduced by 35 per cant in 2005 to 0.24 (2004: 0.37). The number
of RIDGOR accidents (Reporting of Injuries Diseases and Dangerous
Occurrences Regulations 1995} for the Group reduced by 27 per
Ccentin 2005 to 255 (2004:348). We say more ahout Health ang
Safety in the Corporate Social Respansibility section of this report
on page 26. More detailed information can also be found in our
20695 Sustainability Report, which has been published on our
wabsite at wwww. carillionplc.com/sustainability,

Sustainability

We believe that cur commitment to responsible business practices
that create positive impacts on the anvironment and on the
communities in which we operate, is not only goad for our own
people and for society in general, but also makes goocd business
sense. It s fundamental to delivering sustainable, profitable growth.

Our commitment to becoming a more sustainable company began
over ten years ago. Today, we are one of the recognised leaders in
developing and adopting socially responsible business practices and

Section D4
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for demonstrating that these practices can have measurable
business benefits. We benchmark our performance in & number
of ways, including participating in Business in the Community’s
Corporate Responsibility Index, an independent annual survey of
sustainability performance. Since its inception in 2003, Carillion
has each year been ranked first in its sector and in the top quartile
of all companies participating in the Index.

Our strategy mode!, which helps us to map and guantify the
links between cur business ohjectives and cur impacts on the
environment and society, continues to form the basis for our
sustainability programme by identifying the areas where we need
to improve our performance.

You can read more about this programme and the benefits it
delivers for our business in the Corporate Social Responsibifity
section of this report on page 26. More detailed information can
alse be found in our 2005 Sustainability Report, which has been
published on our website at www, carillionple, comysustainability

Strategic objectives
In order to build on our success in 2005, we have set the
Tollowing strategic objectives for 2004:

Attract, develop and retain excellent people, by becoming
an employer of choice;

Successfully integrate Carillion and Mowler:

Achieve cost synergies at a minimum running rate of

£10 million par annum by the end of 2006, and be on course
to achieve a minimum running rate of £15 million per annum
by the end of 2007;

Reduce net debt to circa £200 miltion by the end of 2006 and
be on course to reduce it to below £160 million by the endg of
2007,

Be on track to deliver materially enhanced earnings for the
enlarged Group in 2007;

Be the racognised leader in the delivery of safety and
sustainabifity.

tohn McDonough
Chief Executive
8 March 2006
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Markets and Outlook

Business Services

Carillion Business Services comprises our UK building, facilities
management (FM) and other Support Services activities.

These activities generated approximately £1.2 billion of revenue
fincluding joint ventures) in 2005 (2004 £769 million), &
56 per cent increase on 2004, driven mainly by a strong
performance in UK building and the acquisition of PME.

Business Services had a very successful year, more than doubling
the value of its arder book at the year-end to £2 billion

(2004: £821 million), as a result of winning a number of significant
new orders and the acquisition of PME, which contributed some

In 2005, Carillionknterprise, a joint
venture in which Carillion has a 50%
interest, was awarded the Regional
Prime Central cortract by Dafence
Estates. This contract involves the
maintenance and refurbishment of
araund 8,500 buildings and other
infrastructure for the Mindstry of
Deferice, swretching from the Scottish
boarder south through the North of
England 1¢ the Humber, Midlands and
all of wales. RAF valley, Anglesey, one
of the UK's busiest military arfields, is
pictured opposite,

The provision of these services,

which include planned and reactive
maintenance of buildings and cther
facilities, is expected o generate over
£500 rriflion of revariue for the joirit
venture over the life of the contract,
initially 7 years, but extendgable to

T years.

Financial reporting segments

Support Services

In addition (o providing 4 wide range
of support services under the Regional
Prirne Central contract, Carillion also
expects 1o carry out construction
work 1o provide new buildings and
infrastructure with a poiential value
of up 10 £200 million over the life of
the contract,

Construction Services

£180 million to cur year-end order book. In the Defence sector,
we made a major breakthrough by winning, with our joint venture
partners, twoe support services contracts for Defence Estates,
together worth around £1.2 billion over a period of up to 10 years.
in addition, Carillion’s Joint venture, Monteray, won a three-year
extension to its contract with BT to provide integrated facilities
management services, warth some £350 million.

In UK building, we won substantial new orders in our ¢hosen
sectors, worth some £1.1 billion. We were particularly successful

in the education sector we reached financial close on a PPP project
to huild nine new schools in Renfrewshire, with a construction value
of £100 million and in which we expect 1o invest approximately

£4 miilion of equity; we secured a £100 millicn contract to provide
design and construction services for six new schools in Leeds; and

a Carillion joint venture was appointed preferred bidder for a PPP
project to build six new schools in South Ayrshire. We expect to
invest around £3 million of equity in the latter project, which will

|




also add over £73 million to cur construction order book when
it reaches financial close in 2006.

in addition, our UK building business was awarded a £230 miflion
contract to provide three new printing plants for News International
and & £118 million contract for the British Nuclear Group to construct
a store for materials ansing from decornmissioning at Sellafield.

in 2005, our building business generated some 84 per cent of its
revenue from 20 customers, reflecting our focus on long-term key
customers. With around 80 per cent of our UK buslding order hook
for 2006 already secure, we expect a simifarly high percentage of
revenue to come from our top 20 custorers in 2006.

Business Services entered 2006 in a strong position to deliver
further growth, particularly from integrated solutions for public
sector customers in the Defence, Education and Health markets, as
well as from the retail, offices and mixed use developments sectors

01
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of the commercial building market. Notable new opportunities

in 2006 inciude reaching financial close on two major PPP projects
for which Mowlem is the preferred bidder - the £7 billion Allenby
Connaught project to provide Army accommodation in the South
of England and a £1.1 billion project to provide a new Permanent
Joint Headguarters for the Ministry of Defence — for which the
concession periods are 35 years and 25 years, respectively. We
also expect new opportunities in the growing nuclear market,
following the creation of the Nuclear Decommiissioning Authority.
Carillion has considerable experience as a supplier of construction
and support services in this market and Mowlem also has useful
skills and experience, which complement those of Carillion.

with the acguisition of Mowlem enhancing the strong positions
we already hold in our existing UK bullding and support services
markets, and creating a strong presence in other markets, such as
Defence and UK regional building, the cutlook for Busingss Services
is positive.

02 01 The 48 storey Manchester Hilton, one of
the UK’s tallest buildings, is being built by
Cariliion for the Beetham Crganization Limited.

02 Originaily a contaminated brownfigld site,
reclaimed and developed by Carillion and
now home to prestige car showrooms for

Mercedes-Benz.
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Markets and Outlook

Health

Public Private Partnership (FPP)
hospitals, ke The Great Westetn in
Swindor, shown here, are examples
of how Carillion can provide fully
integrated solutions, including
private finance, design, construction,
maintenance and facilities
rmanagement services throughout
the lives of these hospitafs.

Carillion is g joint venture partrier
and equity holder in The Hospital
Cornpany, which has the 27-year
concession contract with the Swindon
and Mariborough NHS Trust, under
which 1t has overall responsibility for
the construction and maintenarnce of
the hospital and for the provisicn of
non-chinical senvices

We have invested some £6 million

of equity in this profect. This
investirent is one of a portfolio

of 29 investmants in PPP projects,
including nine hospitals, that is
creating substantial value for Carillion.

Financial reporting segments

Investmentis

|

At The Greal Weslern hospital,
Carillion is providing a wide rarge of
non-clirical setaces including building
and grounds maintenarice, catering,
cleaning, portering, reception and
helpdesk. The provision of these
services is expected 1o generate over
£200 million of revenue for Carifion
over the 27-year cancession contract.

Support Setvices

In the health market, we provide a range of construction and
facilities management services, including integrated solutions
focused primarily on PPP hospitals and independent Sector
Treatrnent Centres (ISTC),

These activities generated £146 million of revenue (including

joint ventures) in 2005 (2004: £119 million), with the increased
contributions from both construction and support services.
Carillion Health made good progress in 2005, winning new orders
that nearly doubled the value of its order book to £1.1 billion

at the year end (2004: £592 million), including two particularly
notable successes. in Decernber 2005, we reached financial dose
on the Queen Alexandra hospital PPP project in Portsmouth, worth
approximately £1.1 bilior to Carillior over the 33-year concession
pericd, of which some £470 million is included in our Health order

Carillion designed and buiit The Great
Wastern hospital al a capital cost of
sorme £100 million. The contract for
this 490-bed acute hospital was
completed on thme and (o budget
in 2002. A major benefit of Prp
procurement is that it encourages
innovation. At The Great Western,
Carillion used its sector leading
knowledge and skills in sustainable
developrment to create one of the
UE's most sustainable buildings,

Construction Services




book. In addition, Carillion will invest sorme £12 million of equity

in this project, on which we expect to make finandial returns in ling
with ous normal PPP investment criteria. A Carillion joint venture
was also appointed the preferred bidder by the Bedfordshire and
Hertfordshire Primary Care Trust for new ISTC fadilities, involving
some £48 million of construction and services worth around

£119 million over a five-year period.

The outlook for our Health business continues 1o be positive,
particutarly in our two key market sectors of PPP acute hospitals
and ISTCs. The UK Government has reaffirmed its commitment to

a substantial programme of PPP hospitals, worth between £7 billion
and £9 billion. Carillion Health is currently shortlisted for one

new PPP hospital and will be bidding for further hospitals in this
programme as they come to market. The Government is aiso
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committed to a second wave of ISTCs, including 24 surgical
centres, plus eight regional contracts and one nationa
contract for diagnostic services, with a combined value of
some £3 billion over the next five years.

We expect to bid for a number of these new centres and
contracts in 2006.

Cariliion’s strong presence and successful track record will be
further enhanced by the acquisition of Mowlem, which has

six Local Improvement Finance Trust {LIFT) contracts. The
acquisition of Mowlern will also increase the number of peaple
we have with specialist private finance skills and therefore our
capacity to bid for PPP hospitals and 1STCs. Consequently, the
cutlook for our Health business also remains positive.

01 01 The Queen Alexandra hospital in Portsmouth,
our ninh PPP hospital, is a 1,200 hed hospital that
will replace three existing acute treatment centres
when it fully opens in July 2010,

02 Carillion’s CafeBiye restaurarits are becoming
a walcome feature of the facilities managerent
services we provide in NHS hospitals.

02
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Markets and Outlook
Transport

The Public Private Partnership (PPP)
profect for the A249 improvement,
pictured opposite, is another exarple
of how Carillion can use its wide range
of skills and resources to provide a fully
integrated sofution, induding private
finance, design, construction, and
mainenance.

Cariftion is a joint venture partrier
and enuity holder in Sheppey Route
Lirnited, which has a 30-year

Cariliion is already maintaining part
of the A249 project route and will

concession coniract with the
Highways Agency, under which i3 has
averall responsilility for the design,
copstruction and maintenance of

the project. We have a commitment
to invest some £3 million of equity In
this project.

Financial reporting segments

Investments

maintain all 17 km of the route

when construction work is completed
in dune 2006, This will inclute
inspections, routineg meintenznce and
repairs. These services are expected to
generate £18 million of revenue for

Cariflion over the fife of the concassion.

Support Services

Carillion Transport is focused on the provision and maintenance
of rail and road infrastructure. These activities contributed some
£580 million of revenue (including joint ventures) to the Groug in
2005 (2004: £713 million), with the reduction on 2004 due 1o the
effect of transferring to Network Rail maintenance contracts that
generated around £150 million of revenue in 2004.

Al 31 December 2005, the value of our Transport order hook

and framework contracts was £817 million (December 2004:

£888 million). The reduction in order book reflects the expected
trend in the UK rail infrastructure market, particutarly for major
projects, as we indicated in our 2005 interim results announcernent.
Nevertheless, during 2005 a joint venture, in which Carillion has a
S0 per cent interest, was awarded a £110 million contract for rail
electrification on the West Coast Mainline and orders for smaller
regional rail projects and track renewals have remained at a
satisfactory level.

Carillion is also responsibie for the
desigr and construction of the AZ249
project at a capital cost of some £82
miflion. This invobes building 5.6 km
of new road, including the 1.3 km
Swale Crossing, connecting the Isle of
Sheppey with North Kent. The project
also fnvolves extensive archasciogical
and ecological protection and
improvernent measures.

Construction Services




While the outlock in the UK rail market is expected to remain
challenging, planned investment by Network Rail is stil substantiat

at approximately £11 billion over the period 2006 to 2008. The
acquisition of Mowlem will increase Carillion's already strong presence
in this market, where we remain focused on increasing our market
share and on reducing costs to protect margins. After a slower than
expected start to the outsourcing of rail infrastruciure work in
Scandinavia, we are now making progress in this market. We expect
this to continue in 2006, as the market is forecast to double in size
over the next two years to around £600 million per annum,

tn highways rnaintenance, we expect to maintain our 10 per cent
share of the £1 billion per annum Highways Agency market and
o target opportunities for further growth in the Local Authority
market, worth around £750 million per annum.
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In road construction, the £122 million Early Contractor Involvemnent
{ECI) project to upgrade the A74 between Carlisle and Guardsmill
to motorway standard is expected to move into the construction
phase during the second guarter of 2006. The acquisition of
Mowlem, which has been particularly successful in winning six

ECI road contracts to date with a total value of over £350 million,
will significantly strengthen our presence in this market.

Overall, the outlook in Transport remains stable.

0l

02 0t Carilfion is making good progress with the first
private finance project on the the UK rail network to
extend and upgrade Marylebone Station and sections
of track and signalling to improve the speed and
frequency of passenger services for Chiltern Railways.

02 Carillion Roads helps to keep traffic flowing on
20 per cent of the UK's motorways and trunk roads,
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Markets and Qutlook
International Regions

Carillion is providing two of the

first Public Private Partnership (PPP)
hospitals in Canada - the New
Brarnpton hespital (part of the

Wiliam Oster Health Centre} pictured
right, a 608 bed acute care hospital
near Toronto, and the Royal Ottawa
hospital, @ 188 hed psychiatric hospital.

Carillion is a joint venture pariner

and equity holder in The Healthcare
nfrastructure Company of Canada nc.,
which has the concession contracts
with the Williarn Osler Health Centre
and the Royal Ottawa Health Care
Group. Under these concessions, the
joint venture has overall responsibility
for the construction and maintenance
of the hospitals and the provision of
non-clinical services, We are commitied
to invest some £5.4 million of equity in
these projects.

Financial reporting segments

fnvestinents

When the New Brampton and Oftawa
hospitals open, Cartllion wilt provide a
wide range of non-clinical services for
thase hospitals, incuding catering,
laundry, housekeeping, portering,
security, wasle managernent and
building maintenance.

Provision of these services is expecied
1o generate some £500 million of
revenue for Carilfion over the 25-year
concession contract for the New
Brampton hospiial, and around £75
illicn over the 2 1-year concession

contract for the Royal Ottawa hospital

Support Services

Our international regional businesses in the Middle East, Canada
and the Caribbean are focused on selected construction markets
and on their growing support services and PPP activities. These
businesses contributed £299 million of revenue to the Group in
2005 (2004: £349 million). The reduction in revenue was due to the
sale in November 2004 of our contracting business in France, which
contributed some £160 million of revenue in that year. However,
this reduction was offset by substantial growth in our remaining
international regions, notably in the Middle East and Canada.

2005 was ancther successful year for new orders. The value of

our international order book increased by over 11 per cent to
£1.23 billion at 31 Decernber 2005 (2004: £1.1 biliion) and mora
than treble its value at December 2003, Notable successes in 2005
included construction orders for Dubai Festival City worth around
£150 million and new highways maintenance contracts in Ontario,
Canada worth £130 million. This was followed early in 2006 by our

Construction of both the New
Brampton and Royal Qttawa hospitais
is being carried out in joint veriure
with a local partner. At the New
Brarnpion hespital, we are providing
diagnostic, treatment and in-patient
facilities at a capital cost of some
£225 million, with construction due
for completion in July 2007 At the
Royal Ottawa, we are providing
psychiatric in-patient facilities at a
capital cost of around £63 million
that are dgue for carmnpletion in
December 2006

Construction Services




appointment as preferred bidder for a further highway maintenance
contract in Canada worth £137 million, which will extend our
operations to Alberts.

With a strong order book, our international regional businesses
are already on track to deliver further growth in 2006, They also
remain well positioned in good growth markets, espedcially in
Canada and the Middle East. In Canads, where construction of
our two PPP hospitals — the Willlam Osler in Toronto and the Royal
Ottawa - is progressing well, we expect to bid for further PPP
hospitals as the next wave of projects comes to market in 2006,
Our highways maintenance business in Canada will also be
targeting further contracts in Alberta and in British Colurnbia as
these Provinces progressively outsource highways maintenance
work to the private sector.
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In the Middle East, growth in construction activity is forecast to
continue, with much of this being generated by the Dubai Festival
City developrnent for which our joint venture business is well
positioned. In addition, we shall be targeting opportunities in other
countries in the region, such as Abu Dhabi, where construction
activity is also forecast to grow.

The acquisition of Mowlern brings new international businesses
1o the Group in Australia and South East Asia. The sale of
Charter, Mowlemn’s US construction business, to Baifour Beatty
was announced on 18 lanuary 2006 and we expect this to be
cornpleted in the second guarter of 2006, subject to due diligence
by Balfour Beatty,

01 01 The Crowne Plaza hotel in Festival City is
part of 2 magnificent mixed-use development
covering 1,600 acres adjacent to Dubai Creek,
rmuch of which is being built by Cariflion and
its joint venture partner, the Al Futtaim Group.

02 The Shangri-La Barr Al Jissah Resort and
Spa it Oman, built by Carillion Alawi, consists
of three hotels with a total of 680 bedrooms.

02
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Revenue by business activity and financial reporting segments

Business activities

Financial reporting segments {£m)

Investments Support Services Construction Services

Transport Rail 408.7

Roads 147.7 24.3
Health 56.8 §9.2
Business Services UK Building 8131

M & Services 3695 39.2
International Regions 346 264.3
Private Finance 654
Total* 65.4 1,017.3 1,230.1

*Includes internal trading of £28 8 mikicn,

Accounting policies
These are the Group’s first annual consolidated financial statements
prepared in accordance with IFRS.

The Group’s iFRS accounting policies have been applied in
preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year to
31 Decermnber 2005, the comparative information for the year
to 31 December 2004 and the preparation of an opening IFRS
balance sheet at 1 January 2004 (the date of transition from UK
GAAP 1o IFRS),

Profit allocation

On construction contracts profit is recognised broadly in proportion
to revenue after taking into account the remaining risks and
uncertainties. In addition, on major construction contracts we

take ro profit on the first 20 per cent of revenue and this profit

is deferred until contracts are completed. This method, which
better reflects the risk profile of our construction activities,

reduced reported profit in Construction Services by £5.4 million

in 2005 (2004: £3.3 million). The total deferral of £8.7 million is
carried forward at 31 December 2005,

Interest and cash

The Group net interest credit of £4.0 millicn (2004: £4.1 million)
reflects an average net cash position of £37 million, net of average
tinance leases of £31 million.

Met cash at 31 December 2005 was £90.8 million after finance

lease liabilities of £37 7 million {31 December 2004: net cash

£128.8 million, after finance leases of £24.2 millicn). Strong cash
generation of £84 millicn from operations and dividends of £8 milfion
received from jointly controlled businesses continue to demonstrate
our focus on cash management and the resilience of cur business.

Capital expenditure of £38 million indluded £13 million of investment
in our previously announced project to outsource business processes
in Human Resources and Finance, which is progressing welt and on
schedule for completion in 2006.

Dividend payments in 2005 were £1%6 million and corporate tax
paid was £19 million.

lointly controlled businesses

An important part of cur strategy for Public Private Partnership
(PPP} and large construction projects is the development of jointly
controlled businesses that enable us to structure the resource
and risk profiles of these activities 1o generate reliable returns,
Our share of these businesses generated £259 million of turnaver
and £20.3 million of operating profit during 2005. The interest
credit of £1.1 miliion relating to joint ventures is £4.5 million
ahead of 2004 and reflects the effects of selling our equity interest
in the M40 project in June 2004 and of reclassifying our joint
venture interest in the Nottingham Express Transit project as a
trade investment.

Growth in construction joint ventures, notably that responsible

for our Dubai Festival City projects, and in profit from PPP projects,
resulted in profit before tax of £271.4 million (2004: £9.6 million}
and protit after 1ax ot £16.4 miilion (2004: £7.4 million).

Taxation

The Group's effective rate of tax on underlying profit returned

10 a more normal level of 27 per cent in 2005, having reduced to
21 per centin 2004 due 1o a number ot one-off tax settlements in
2004 relating to prior vears. We have £65 million of corporate tax
losses in the UK, none of which are recognised as a deferred tax
asset, that are potentially available to reduce future tax liabilities.

Amortisation of intangible assets

Amortisation of intangible assets relating to business acquisitions
was £2.5 million, which relates 1o the £6.2 million of intangible
assets arising from the acquisition of PME.

Non-operating items

The Group's share of results of jointly controlled entities includes
an exceptional {oss of £0.8 million relating 1o the disposal of the
remainder of our joint venture plant hire business (2004; profit of
£1.7 milhon, which included a related tax credit of £0.2million).

Pensions

The Group’s ongoing pensions charge in 2005, calculated on the
hasis of 1AS18, was £21.3 million (2004: £27.0 million}. The
reduction on 2004 mainly reflects a reduction in number of active
scheme members. The Group’s pension schemes had a net deficit
of £47.5 million at 31 December 2005 (2004: £59.7 miilion} and we
propose to discuss with the trustees proposals to reduce this deficit.




Acquisitions

On 8 March 2005 we acquired the entire share capitat of PME for
approximately £47 million, which included a one-off contribution
to the PME pension scheme of £10 million. Since acguisition,

the performance of PME has met our expectations, contributing
£3.5 million towards Group operating profit on revenue of
£148.7 million.

Following the acguisition of Mawlem pic on 23 February 2006

tor a total consideration of approximately £341 million, comprising
£117 millien in cash and 65.8 million new ordinary Carillion shares,
wae are in the process of evaluating the fair value of net assets
acguired. This process is progressing satisfactorily.

Financial reporting segments

Investments

£million 2005 2004

Revenue

Group 0.8 0.8

Vs 654.6 61.7
65.4 62.5

Operating profit* 8.3 6.1

JV Interest & tax {0.6) 4.9)

Profit from operations* 7.7 1.2

*Before goodwil impairment of £5.3 million in both years ang after tax on joint ventures
of £3.1m (2004: £2.7m)

in this segment we report the equity returns on our investments
in Public Private Partnership (PPP) projects.

At 31 Decernber 2005, we had 19 financially closed projects
in our portfelio, having added two new projects during the
year — Renfrewshire schools and Queen Alexandra hospital,
Portsmouth — in which we will invest a total of approximately
£16 millicn of equity.

Seciion 04
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Our portfolio of equity investments continues to generate
significant value for the Group. The increase in operating profit
reflects an improved performance across our portfolio, together
with a reduction in overheads and bid costs. This improvement
more than coffset the effect on operating profit of selling our
investment in the M40 motorway project in 2004. Due to this
sale, the interest charge relating to joint ventures also reduced,
resufting in a substantial increase in profit from operations.

Equity investments in PPP projects are typically valued by
discounting the cash flows they will generate over the lives of
concession contracts. Based on discounting cash flows at 10 per
cent and & per cent, our portfolio of investments in finandially
closed projects had valuations at December 2005 of £89 million
and £115 million, respectively. These valuaticns have increased
(2004: £33 million and £103 million) a3 a result of reaching
financial close on the Renfrewshire schools and Queen Alexandra
hospital projects. The value we are creating through our PPP equity
portfolio will continue to increase, because we are committed to
invest a further £31 million of equity in our financially clased
projects, in addition to the £29 million already invested. Beyond
this, we have a good pipeline of new projects, including two for
which we are the preferred bidder, in which we expect to invest
around £7 million of equity, and five for which we are shortlisted,
with a potential equity requirement of up to £33 million.

The acquisition of Mowlerm also adds substantial value to our PPP
portfolio. Mowlem has 10 financially closed PPP projects in which
it has either already invested, or commitments to invest, some
£51 million, It also has three projects for which it is the preferred
bidder, in which it expects to invest around £77 millien of eguity
and is shortlisted for two projects with a potential eguity
reguirement of up to £28 million.

Construction Services

£mitlion 2005 2004
Revenue
Group 1,050.1 949.3
VS 180.0 56.1
1,230.1  1,005.4
Operating profit* 16.9 125
JV Interest & tax (3.1} (0.3)
Profit from operations* 13.8 12.2

~Before a Jy non operating loss of £0.8n1 {2604 non-operating profit £1.7m) and after
ax on icirt ventures of £1.8m (2004: £0 7m credit)

In this segment we report the results of our UK building and
construction activities and International Regional businesses.

Revenue in Construction Services increased by 22 per cent, despite
the disposals in 2004 of Crown House and our contracting business
in France, which together contributed over £200 million of revenue
in 2004. Progress in this segment is due 1o healthy growth in the
Middle East and Canada, continuing success in our chosen sectors
of the UK commercial building market and 2 strong performance
by our Developments business.
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Financial Review confinued

Operating profit increased by 35 per cent and the operating margin
rose from 1.2 per cent to 1.4 per cent. This was achieved despite
the effect of introducing, in the second haif of 2004, a new
method by which we recognise profit on major censtruction
contracts. Previously, profit was recognised broadly in proportion to
revenue after taking account of risks and uncertainties. In addition,
we now take no profit on the first 20 per cent of revenue and this
profit is deferred until contracts are completed, The effect of this in
2005 has been to reduce reported operating profit by £5.4 million
(2004: £3.3 million). Totai deferred profit relating to this change at
31 December 2005 was £8.7 million, which we expect to begin
releasing to profit in 2007 as contracts reach completion.

On the UK road nedwork we provide Support Services

integrated solutions for mainienance, s .
airned at improving value for money £million 2005 2004
far customers and minimising Revenue
disruption for road users. Group 974.6 908.9
WS 14.1 83
988.7 917.2
Operating profit* 40.6 39.71
1V Interest & tax {0.2) (0.2
Profit from operations* 40.4 395

*Before amortisation of tangible assets of £2.5 m {20047 1l and after tax on oint
ventures of £0.1m (20604: nil}

TExcluding & ore-off increase of £7.2m refeting to the transfer of rad maintenance to
Network Rail.

in this segment we report the results of our activities in rail
infrastructure, roads maintenance, facilities managament and
other support services.

Revertue in Support Services increased by nearly 8 per cent, as
the acquisition of PME and organic growth more than offset a
reduction in revenue from our rail infrastructure activities. The
latter was largely due to transferring to Network Rail maintenance
contracts that generated around £150 million in 2004. Organic
growth was driven primarily by road maintenance in Canada and
the UK. Growth in Canada has been particularly strong following
QU SUCCess in winning contracts in Ontario, where we have
established a market leading position. Since the year-end, we
have built on that success by winning & further contract that will
extend our operations to Alberta.

Operating profit increased by £0.9 million (excluding the

£7.2 million one-off increase in profit in 2004, relating to the
transfer of rail maintenance to Network Rail) and the operating
margin reduced from 4.3 per cent to 4.1 per cent, reflecting the
{oss of rail maintenance contracts, which had higher than average
margins in this segment.

PME performed in line with our expectations, contributing
£149 million of revenue and £3.5 million of operating profit in
the year, following its acquisition in March 2005.

New bank facility

in connection with the acquisition of Mowlem plc 8 new committed
hank facility totalling £490 million has been arranged. OFf this
amount, £190 mittion is repayable at the end of five years,

£250 millicn is repayable over five years and £50 million is

available for 364 days with a six month term-out option.

R e
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Treasury policy and risk management

The Group has a centralised Treasury function whose primary role
is to manage funding, liquidity and finandial risks. In addition,
Treasury sources and administers contract bond and guarantee
facilities for the Group. Treasury is not a profit centre and does not
enter into speculative transactions. The Board sets policies within
which Treasury operates that ensure the most effective financing
of the Group’s operations and limit exposure o financial risk.

The areas of significant financial risk facing the Group relate to
funding and liquidity, foreign exchange and interest rates.

Funding and liquidity risk

The Group's policy is te avoid carrying significant net debt over the
fong term. Carillion plc's principal borrowing facility is a syndicated
loan facility led by The Royat Bank of Scotland plc and short term
overdraft and money market facilities are provided by a group of
relationship banks. Finance and operating leases are alsc employed
to fund longer-term assets. The guanturn of committed borrowing
facilities available to the Group is regularly reviewed and is designed
1o satisfy the requirements of the Group’s business plan.

Currency risk

The Group hedges all significant currency transaction exposures

using foreign exchange risk management techniques. in order to

protect the Group’s balance sheet from the impact of exchange

rate volatility, foreign currency net assets are hedged using

matching currency loans, where these assets exceed the On the UK rail network we carry out a
equivalent of £10 million. Profits arising within overseas subsidiaries wide range of projects 1 upgrade and

are not hedged unless it is planned to make a distribution. renew the infrastruciure, including track,

Such distributicns are then treated as currency transactions and signaling, electricification and stations.
hedged accordingly.

interest rate risk

Borrowing facilities are designed primarily to finance the acquisition
of Mowlem glc and short-term working capital requirements and
are at floating rates of interest linked to LIBOR. The Group has not
entered into interest rate derivatives to fix or hedge interest rate
risk and none are outstanding. Certain longer-term assets have
been financed using fixed rate leases.

Carilfion has eqguity in a number of PPP joint venture Special
Purpose Companies {SPC). 5PCs obtain funding for these projects
in the form of fong-term bank loans or corporate bonds without
recourse to the joint venture partners and secured on the assets
of the SPC. A number of SPCs have entered into interest rate
derivatives as means of hedging interest rate risk. These derivatives
are interest rate swaps that fix the rate of interest payable and an
interest rate cap and collar that limits the maximum and minimum
interest rates payable.

Going concern

The Directors confirm that, after making enguiries, they have a
reasonable expectation that the Company and the Group has
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. For this reascn, they continue to adopt the
going concern basis in preparing the finandal statements.

Chris Girling
Finance Director
8 March 2006
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Corporate Social Responsibility

For more than 10 years we have set the pace in our sector when it
comes to applying the prindiples of sustainable development. We
have consistently demonstrated that sustainable and responsible
business practices help us to deliver our business objectives,

Qur ability to have a positive effact on the environment and on the
communities in which we work is a key differentiator for Carillion,
helping us to win crders, minimise our Social, Environmentat and
Ethical Risks, control costs and deliver better services 1o customers,

The foliowing summary of the progress we have made towards
becoming a more sustainable business is supported by a more
detailed account in our 2005 Susiainability Report, which has been
published on our website at www carillionplc. com/sustainability,

In 2005, we continued 1o base our sustainability programme and
chjectives on the strategy model we first published in 2001, This
model helps us understand how the delivery of our business
objectives is supported by improving the effects we have on the
environment and the communities in which we operate. Qur 2005
sustainability objectives were based on nine specific and measurable
Group targets against which our average, externally verified, score
was 91 per cent. We have alse continued to benchmark our
performance through participating in Business in the Community's
Corporate Social Responsibility Index: in the 2005 Index, Carillion
was ranked first in its sector and in the top quartile of all
participating companies, positions we have held since the inception
of this index in 2003.

A new chalienge

In March 2005, the UK Government set a new challenge for
business when it published its Sustainable Development Strategy,
Securing the Future. This strategy identifies four priority areas for
sustainable development:

Sustainable communities;

Natural rescurce pratection and environmental enhancernent;
Climate change and energy, and

Sustainable consumption and production.

To strengthen aur leadership in sustainable development we have
realignad our own sustainability strategy and programme for 2006
with the Government’s new strategy. To do this we consuited
widely, both externally and internally, engaging all our people in
the task, because becoming a more sustainable business ultimately
depends on their understanding and commitment.

As a result, we have identified the business behaviours and
activities that have most impact on the four priority areas of
Securing the Future, as Hlustrated in the “Sun” diagram above.
Our sustainabifity strategy model has been redefined to relate these
behaviours and impacts to the Group’s business objectives and

we have aiso identified new ways of measuring the benefits of
beccming a more sustainable business. In 2005, we also developed
a “Toel Kit" specifically to help our marketing and work-winning
teams demonstrate to custorners the benefits of choosing
sustainable solutions that meet their business needs,

Cur new Sun diagram shows the business
behaviours and activities that have most
impact on the four priority areas of the UK
Government’s Sustainable Development
Strategy, Securing the Future.

Managing Sustainability

Our commitment to sustainability continues to be driven by our
Board, which is advised by a Sustainability Committee. Following
the retirement in 2005 of Sir Neville Sirnms, this committee is now
chaired by our chief executive, John McDonough and a number
of managing directors of our business units have joined the
committee to strengthen its links with the Group’s operational
activities. The committee also continues 1o benefit from expert
guidance and advice provided by two external advisors ~ Jonathon
Porritt, Chair of the UK Government’s Sustainable Development
Compmission, and David Cowans, Chief Executive of Places for
Pecple Group, a major social housing association.

The new Toyota Prius — a hybrid petrolfelectric
car — is now available as an option for Carillion
company car drivers. With excellent fuel economy
and low CC, emissions, the Prius is kind to the
nacket and to the environment.




Health and Safety
Target Zero is the high-profile campaign we launched in October
2004 with the aim of reducing reportable injuries to zero by 2010.

Target Zero takes a structured appreach to managing Health and
Safety and to creating a safety focused culture. To do this we
introduced a Health and Safety management model that enables
us to develop plans to improve and measure our performance.

This model, which is based on British Standard 8800 (Occupational
health and safety management systems — Guide), has the four main
principles or elements to which we aspire, namely:

Awareness - all our peopie and stakeholders should have an
awareness and understanding of Health and Safety hazards and
risks that affect our business;

Competence — all our people and stakeholders should have the
competence to undertake their work with minimum risks to
Health and Safety;

Compliance — our work activities must comply with legislation,
and our people are empowered to take action to minimise
Health and Safety risks;

Excellence — Carillion will become recognised for excellence in
the way it manages Health and Safety.

Within each element of the model, we have identified a number
of specific actions and targets. Having adopted the model within
Carillion, we are now rolling it out to our supply chain, with
suppliers having to demonstrate that they are achieving the
standards we require.

The results of Target Zero have been significant. In 2005, we
achieved our lowest ever Accident Freguency Rate of 0,24, which
represents the number of injuries per 100,000 hours worked, as
reported under the Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous
Occurrences Regulations 1995 (RIDDOR), a 35 per cent reduction
on 2004.

in 2005, we reported 255 injuries under RIDDOR, 162 involving
Carillion employees and 93 involving subcentractors and others,

an overall reduction of 27 per cent on 2004. Tragically there were
five fatal injuries, including one Carillion employee and four
employees of sub-contractors, and 62 other major injuries, involving
34 Carillion employees and 28 employees of sub-contractors. We
therefore have some way t0 go to eradicate reportable injuries, but
we are determined to do so and our commitment to Target Zero
remains absolute.

Environment

Our partnership with The Wildlife Trusts is now in its fifth year.
The Carillion MNatural Habitats Fund continues to go from strength
to strength. In 2005, we worked on five new projects with Trusts
local to Carillion’s business activities. For example, we are working
with The Wildlife Trust for Birmingham and the Black Country to
produce an atlas of reptiles and amphibians in the area. To date,
we have contributed £125,000 to the Wiidlife Trusts, sponsoring
26 projects and providing opportunities for our people to work
with a number of different Trusts.

Managing and reducing waste is an important aspect of
environmental protection and we are working hard to minimise
the waste we generate and send to landfill. On projects such as
the new john Radcliffe hospital in Oxford, we are now re-using
or recycling over 90 per cent of construction waste.
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We have developed a biodiversity framework along with simple
guidance for everyone working in locations where they need to
consider plants, natural habitats and the behaviours of animals.
For example, a highways maintenance team is working with local
wildlife groups to encourage biodiversity along the M40 motorway,
which Carillion maintains between its junction with the M25 and
Warwick. This includes supporting and monitering the kestrel
population, an initiative featured on the BBC programme British
Isles: A Natural History.

Carben emissicns are a significant measure of environmentat
performance. We have continued to reduce CO, emissions from
Carilion buildings and CO, emissions per vehicle in our company
car fleet, through awareness, energy management and Group-wide
transport and car policies.

Communities

Carillion continues to be a member of Business in the Community’s
(BitC} PerCent Chub of companies that contribute over one per cent
of their profits in cash or in kind to community activities. The new
community engagement strategy we introduced in 2004 continues
to provides practical guidance to our people on how we can be a
force for good in the focations where we work. From on-site job
centres and training, to involvement with local schools like St
John's, in Caterham, Surrey, where we built an agility traif and quiet
area in the school grounds. In another initiative, we sugported the
Lollipop Appeal at Darent Valley hospital, Carillion’s first PPP
hospital that opened in 2000, by arranging a five-a-side football
competition to raise funds for a children’s High Dependency Unit.
In Wales, a team from Carilfion Reads worked in partnership with
the Construction Industry Training Board (CITB) and Ferndale School
to trial the first pilot GCSE Construction course.

As cne of the UK’ leading providers of training for support services
and construction skills, Carillion makes a major contribution to the
development of individuals and communities. In 2005, around 3000
people attended courses at our 16 UK training centres and some
800 apprentices qualified with NVQs.

Further afield, in response to the Tsunami disaster on Boxing Day
2004, Carillion became & corporate sponsor of the charity RedR,
which sources, trains and places people with the professional skills
and resources required by the main aid agencies to provide disaster
relief and recovery. In addition to donating cash, cur support
inciuded secending one of our own water engineers to Oxfam

to work in Sri Lanka for six months immediately after the

Tsunami struck.

The year also saw cur third successful Sustainability Week, which
was arranged to coincide with World Environmental Day in June.
Cver 150 events took place across the Group, demonstrating
that corporate social responsibifity and a culture of sustainability
are embedded more firmly than ever at the heart of our
organisation. Success in creating a successful and sustainable
business depends primarily on the guality and commitment of cur
pecple. In 2005, 518 Carillien employees won Values awards in
recognition of their efforts in “going the extra mile” to exceed
the expectations of cur customers. They showed that by living
our values we can make a real, tangible difference 1o the quality
of the services we provide and to the parformance of our business.




Board of Directors

1. Philip Rogerson

Chairman

Age 61. Philip was appeinted to the Board
in October 2004 and became the Chairman,
in succession to Sir Neville Simms, on

11 May 2005. Philip is Chairman of the
Nominations Committee. He is also
Chairman of Aggreko plc and THUS Group
nlc and is a Non-Executive Director of The
Davis Service Group plc and Northgate plc.
He was an Executive Director of BG plc from
1992 10 1988, latterly as Deputy Chairman.

2. John McBonough

Chief Executive

Age 54. John was appointed Chief Executive
in January 2001 and is a member of the
Nominations Committee. He is a member of
the CBI's Public Services Strategy Board and
was a Non-Executive Director of Exel plc until
he retired from the Board on 13 Decemnber
2005 following that company's takeover. He
was formerly Vice President, Integrated
Facilities Management, Europe, the Middle
East and Africa of Johnson Controls Inc.

3. Chris Girling

Finance Director

Age 52. Chris was appointed to the Carillion
pic Board in Novernher 1999, Chris is a
Non-Executive Director of Elementis plc and
is a Chartered Accountant and holds the
degree of Master of Business Administration.
He was previously Group Finance Director of
YVosper Thornycroft Holdings plc.

4. Roger Robinson

Executive Director Construction Services
Age 54, Roger ipined Tarmac Construction
as Contracts Director in 1989 subsequently
becoming Managing Director of Tarmac
Civil Engineering, International and Rail
Roger was appointed to the Board of
Carillion plc in May 19299 and has
Groupwide responsibility for commercial
and Health and Safety matters. He is a
Feflow of the Institution of Civil Engineers
and was a member of the Government
Taskforce on Modern Apprenticeships.




5. David Garman

Senior Independent

Non-Executive Director

Age 54. Appointed to the Board in
September 2004, David is Chairman of the
Remuneration Ccmmittee and a member

of the Audit and Nominations Committees.

David is Group Chief Executive of TDG plc
which he joined in 1999 from Associated
British Foods where he was an executive
director, having previously held senior
positions in a number of leading UK

food companies.

6. Vanda Murray OBE

Non-Executive Director

Age 45. Vanda was appointed 1o the

Board in June 2005 and is a member of
the Audit, Nominations and Remuneration
Committees. Vanda is a Director of
Ultraframe plc prior to which she was Chief
Executive of Blick pic. She is a Trustee and

7. David Maionay

Non-Executive Director

Age 50. David was appointed to the

Board in November 2005 and is Chairman
of the Audit Committee and a member

of the Nominations and Remuneration
Committees. David Is a Non-Executive
Director of Micro Focus international plc
and of Virgin Mobile Holdings {UK} plc.
Before taking up these appointrents, David
held senior positions in a number of services
sector companies, including Chief Financial
Officer for Le Meridien Hotels and Resorts,
Chief Financial Officer for the Thomson
Travel Group {Holdings} plc and Group
Finance Director of Avis Europe pic.
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In May 2005, Sir Neville Simms retired

as Chairman and as a Director of the
Company. Sh Neville was Chairman and
Chief Executive of Carillion from its launch
as an independent company in 1999

until fanuary 2001, when he became
Non-Executive Chairman. Sir Neville's
leadershin was a key factor in establishing
Carillion as one of the UK’ leading support
services and construction companies.

Two other Non-Executive Directors,

Roger Dickens and Andrew Parrish, retired
from the Board in 2005, having made
valuable contributions to Carilion’s succass.
It was with deep sadness that we learnt

of the death of Roger Dickens in January
2006. Roger joined the Board in May 2000
and had served as Senior independent
Non-Executive Director, Chairman of

the Audit Committes and as a member

of the Remuneration and Nominations

Nen-Executive Director of The Manufacturing Committees.
Institute, a registered charity, and is a Fellow

of the Chartered Institute of Marketing.

She was appoeinted OBE in 2002 for Services

to Industry and to Export. Additionally,

Vanda will join the Board of the North

West Regional Development Agency in

April 2006 as a Non-Executive Director.
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Corporate Governance Report

General principles

The Board is tirmly committed to high standards of corporate
governance. During the year to 31 December 2005, the Company
camplied with the provisions set cut in Section 1 of the Combined
Code on Corporate Governance (July 2003), as detailed below and
in the Remuneration Report.

Ethics and Business Integrity Policy

Carillion has a clear and unequivocal approach to business integrity
and ethics which underfies the Group's values of openness,
coitaboration, mutual dependency, professional delivery, focus on
sustainable, profitable growth and innovation. The policy requires
Carillion to conduct its business 10 the highest ethical standards.

It applies 1o ali employees and the way Carillion delivers this policy
is and will be reflected in the way the Group competes for business,
through the guality and value of its work and through the reliability
and reputation of its employees.

The policy is:

= business integrity: we do not give or accept bribes. We do not
sanction or accept any illegal payments, allowances, or gifis-in-
kind. We will investigate fully all alleged breaches. We will dismiss
any employee who has breached this policy;

rutual respect: we do what we say we will do. We treat our
people tairly and with respect at all times, avoiding discrimination

and bullying. We provide a safe and healthy working environment,

and respect sustainable principles in all our dealings;

trust: we engender trust within our work groups and companies,
respecting diverse traditions and cultures. We respect the trust
placed in us by others, not least when we are asked to take
responsibility for aspects of their business or resources. We
maintain and dernand high professional standards and demand
honesty and openness. We avoid contlicts of interest wherever
possible, and we proactively declare any unavoidable conflicts
for open scrutiny and resolution;

tegality: we respect the rule of law in all our dealings. We
clearly communicate procedures for disciplining those who do
not comply with the law or our standards and policies. We
maintain a system for contidential reporting of breaches of

our standards and policies; and

human rights: we support the belief that human rights are
universat and adhere to the principles of human rights in our
operations. We support the United Naticns Universal
Declaration on Human Rights.

L]

Qur pelicy is carried into our business through a series of detailed
procedures. They allow us to carry into practice our reputation for
conducting business to the highest ethical standard which is
essential to our relationships with customers, business partners,
empioyees, shareholders and the public.

The Ethics and Business Integrity Policy and its implementation is
reviewed annuaily by the Board.

Directors

The Board

The Company is led by a Board comprising three Executive and
four Non-£xecutive Directors. Throughout 2005, the Chairman
and the Non-Executive Directors comprised miore than haif of the
Board and this continues 1o be the case. The Chairman and each
of the Non-Executive Directors is considered to be independent of
management. They each have wide areas of experience and have
ne business or other relationship that could materially interfere
with their independent judgement. David Garman is the Senior
Independent Non-Executive Director.

in accordance with the Combined Code, the Executive Directors’
service contracts are terminable by one year’s notice.

A detailed internal evaluation of the Board's corporate governance
procedures and compliance was again conducted in 2005 by the
Chairman in conjunction with the Company Secretary. The internal
evaluation took into account the views of each of the Directors on
{iy the role of Directors, {ii) the performance of the Board, the
Chairman and the Non-Executive Directors, (i) Board Committees,
{iv} leadership and culture, (v) Corporate Governance (vi) Directors’
remuneration, (vii) relations with sharehoiders and (viii) Board
accourtability and audit. The Board at its meeting in Qctober 2005
reviewed the results of the internal evaluation and, where required,
issues were acted upon in order to further enhance the effectiveness
of the Board's procedures and working practices.

This is the fourth year that this process has taken place and will be
repeated annually as the Board considers it satisfactory. in addition,
reviews of the performance of each of the Directors has taken place.

The division of responsibilities between the Chairman and the Chief
Executive has been agreed by the Board and encompasses the
following parameters:

* the primary job of the Chairman of a public company is to provide
continuity, experience and governance while the Chief Executive
provides leadership, energy, imaginaticn and the driving force;
the Chairman is viewed by investors as the ultimate steward of the
business and the guardian of the interests of the shareholders.
Nenetheless, it is essential that the outline of their respective roles
encourages the Chairman and Chief Executive to work well
together to provide effective and complementary stewardship;
the Chairman must:

~ take overall responsibility for the composition and capabifity of
the Board;

- consult regularly with the Chief Executive and be available on a
flexible basis for providing advice, counsel and support to the
Chief £xecutive;

the Chief Executive must:

—manage the Executive Directors and the Groups day to
day activities;

- prepare and present to the Board strategic options for growth
in shareholder value;

— set the operating plans and budgets reguired to deliver the
agreed strategy;

— ensure that the Group has in place appropriate risk
management and control mechanisms.
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The Board usually has a programme of seven meetings during the
year and also meets on an ad hoc basis as required. A formal
schedule of matters reserved to the Board for consideration and
decision is maintained. These matters include:

* statutory matters such as the approval of final and interim
financial statements and the recommeandation of dividends;

* appointments 10 and removals from the Board and the terms

of reference and membership of Board committees;

approval of Group strategy and annual budgets;

approvat of authority levels, financial and treasury policies;

authorisation for any acquisiticn cr disposal;

review of the internal control arrangements and risk

management strategies; and

review of corporate governance arrangements.

. & & @

All Birectors have access to the Company Secretary, who is
responsible 1o the Board for ensuring that agreed procedures and
applicable rules and regulations are observed. The Board approves
the appointment and removal of the Company Secretary.

Any Director may, in furtherance of his duties, take independent
professional advice when necessary, at the expense of the Company.
No such advice was sought during the vear.

The Board is provided with regular and timely information on the
financial performance of businesses within the Group, and of the
Group as a whole, together with reports on trading matters,
markets, sustainabifity and other relevant issues.

Board Committees

The principal Board comimittees are the Remuneration Committee,
the Audit Committee and the Nominations Comgmittee, The
Company Secretary acts as secretary 10 each of these commitiees.
The terms of reference of each of the Board committees are
available on the Carillion website at www.carillionplc.com or on
request from the Company Secretary.

The membership of each of the principal committees is as follows:

Remuneration Committee
David Garman, Chairman
David Maloney
Vanda Murray

The Committee consists entirely of independent Non-Executive
Directors and has a key role in reviewing and advising the Board
on the appropriate remuneration for the Executive Directors of
Carillion plc. Further details on remuneration issues are given on
pages 35 to 41.

Audit Committes

Cavid Maloney, Chairman
David Garman

Vanda Murray

This Committee consists entirely of independent Non-Executive
Directors. For further information see the Report of the Audit
Committee on page 32.
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Nominations Committee
Philip Rogerson, Chairman
David Garman

David Maloney

lohn McDonough

Vanda Murray

The Committee reviews the structure, size, composition, balance

of skills, knowledge and experience of the Beard and makes
recommendations to the Board with regard to any changes that are
deemed desirable. The Commitiee also reviews succession planning
to ensure that processes and plans are in place with regard to both
Board and senior appointments.

Sir Neville Simms was Chairman of the Nominations Committee until
he retired from the Board on 11 May 2005. Both Andrew Parrish
and Roger Dickens served on the Remuneration, Audit and
Nominations Committees during the year under review until they
stood down as a Directors on 11 May and 2 December 2005
respectively.

Attendance at meetings in 2005
The number of full scheduled Board and Committee meetings
attended by each Director during 2005 was as follows:

Audit Remuneration Nominations

Board Committee Committee  Committes
Number of
meetings held 2 4 2 4
Roger Dickens**** 2 2 0 0
David Garman 2 4 2 4
Chris Girling 8
John McDanough 8
David Maloney*** 1 1 1
Vanda Murray®* 4 2 1 2
Andrew Parrish* 3 2 1 1
Roger Robinscn 2
Philip Rogerson a 3
Sir Neville Sirmms* 2 1

* Retired 11 May 2005
** Appointed 1 June 2005
=% Appointed T Novernber 2005
**r* Retired 2 December 2005
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Other Board matters

Policy on external appointrments

Recognising that external appointments can broaden their
knowledge and so be of benefit to the Company, Executive Directors
are permitted, at the discretion of the Board, to accept a limited
number of such appointments and retain the fees received for such
appointments. John McDonough was a Non-Executive Director of
Exel plc until he retired from the Board on 13 December 2005
following that company’s takeaver. Chris Girling is a Nen-Executive
Director of Elementis plc.

Nomination and remuneration of Directors
The appointment of a Director is a matter for resolution by the
Board as a whale, taking advice from the Nominations Committee.

For the Board appeointments made in 2005, the Nominations
Committee used the services of executive recruitment consultants,
Odgers Ray & Berndtson. Details of potential candidates were
provided by Odgers Ray & Berndtson and initiglly reviewed by a
sub-cormmittee of the Nominations Committee. Meetings with
selected candidates were then held with Directors. Subsequently,
the Nominations Cornmittee met 1o recommend appointments
which were then approved by the Board.

in the case of Non-Executive Directors, initial appointments are for
three years; reappointment is subject to review and is not automatic.

The fees of Non-Executive Directors are determined by the Board
as a whole, taking into account the commitment required and
participation in the work of committees and other advisory services
in relation to the business of the Group. In advising the Beard on
such fees, it is the policy of the Executive Directors to seek
independent external advice concerning the appropriateness of
the amounts by comparison with general practice. The level of
fees currently payable to the Non-Executive Directors is based on
independent external advice.

The remuneration of the Directors is dealt with in the Remuneration
Report on pages 35 to 41.

Retirement of Directors hy rotation

All Directors are required to submit themselves for re-election at
ieast every three years. The Director retiring and seeking re-election
at the Annual General Meeting to be held on 10 May 2006 is
Roger Robinson.

Additionally, new Directors are subject to election by shareholders at
the first opportunity following their appointment. Accordingly,
Vanda Murray and David Maloney will seek election at the 2006
Annual General Meeting.

The service contracts of the Executive Directors and the terms and
conditions of appointment of the Non-Executive Directors are
available for inspection at the registered office of the Company
during normal business hours on any weekday (hank holidays
excepted} and at the Annual General Meeting.

induction and developrert of Directors

Directors are provided with & comprehensive information pack on
ioining the Company and are advised of their legal and other duties
and obligations as a Director of a listed company. In addition, all
new Directors receive induction on their appointment covering such
matters as the operation and activities of the Group, the role of
the Board, the Company’s corporate governance precedures and
social, environmental and ethical (SEE} matters. Directors are also
briefed by the Company’s external advisors, where appropriate, on
changes 1o legislation or regulation or market practice as well as
receiving briefings from business groups throughout the year.

At least once a year, the Board visits an operational site and in
October 2005 the Directors visited the Group's operations in
Canada. Directors are aiso encouraged to visit other operations
and staff.

The regular updating of Directors’ skills and knowledge is
encouraged and a procedure has been established whereby the
Company Secretary is notified by Directors of their requirements
in this respect.

Relations with shareholders

In addition to communicating with shareholders generally from time
10 time, the Executive Directors and the Director of Group Corporate
Communications meet regularly with representatives of major
shareholders in order to foster the mutual understanding of
objectives. The details of these meetings are reported to the Board.
The Chairman is available for meetings with representatives of major
shareholders as required,

Private and institutional shareholders are encouraged to attend the
Company’s Annual General Meeting.

The Company complies fully with the provisions of the Combined
Code in respect of the notice, content of agenda and conduct of its
Annual General Meetings. The Chairmen of the Remuneration and
Audit Committees will be present at the Annual General Meeting on
10 May 2006 to respond to shareholders’ questions.

Accountability and Audit

Report of the Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists entirely of independent Non-Executive
Directors:

David Maloney, Chairman
David Garman
Vanda Murray

David Maloney is an accountant who previously held a number of
senior finance posts including Chief Financial Officer for Le Meridien
Hotels and Reserts, Chief Financial Officer for the Thomson Travel
Group {Holdings) plc and Group Finance Director of Avis Europe plc.
David was appeinted to the Audit Committee in December 2005.

David Garman is Chief Executive of TDG plc and was appointed to
the Audit Committee in October 2004,
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Vanda Murray is a Director of Ultraframe plc. Vanda was appointed
1o the Audit Committee in July 2005.

Appointments to the Comimittee are made by the Board.

The Audit Committee has in attendance at meetings, by invitation of
the Committee, Executive Directors, representatives of the external
auditor, (KPMG Audit Plc}, the Group Head of Risk and the Head of
Internal Audit. it is also able to invite others as it requires from time
to time. The Committee also meets privately with both the external
and internal auditors,

The responsibilities of the Audit Committee include:

 the review of the annual and interim finandial statements;

* consideration of the impact of changes to accounting regulations

and the financial and accounting policies of the Carillien Group;

compliance with statutory and other external requirements;

reviewing the rofe of the internal audit function and the resubts of

its audit work and the response of management;

reviewing the scope and results of the external audit and #t$ cost-

effectiveness;

ensuring that the internal and external audit functions are

complementary;

monitoring the independence and chjectivity of the external

auditor and ensuring that the services provided ({including non-

audit services) provide a proper balance between objectivity and

value for money;

+ recommending to the Board the external auditor to be proposad
to sharehotders for appointment.

The Committee is authorised by the Board to (i} seek any
information necessary to fulfil its duties (i) call any member of staff
to be questioned at a meeting of the Committee as and when
required and (i) obtain external professional advice, at the
Company’s expense, which might be necessary for the fulfilment
of its duties.

The members of the Commitiee receive fees as Non-Executive
Directors which also reflect their membpership of the Audit
Committee and other Board committees. See page 36 for details.

Main activities of the Audit Committee in the year to

31 December 2005

Financial statements

The Audit Committee reviews and discusses with management and
the external auditors the annual and interim statements. In this
context, the Committee also reviews the written reports of KPMG
on issues arising from the annual audit and the review of the
interim results.

Internat controls

The Board is ultimately responsibie for the Group’s system of internal
control. This responsibility includes clearly determining the control
environment and reviewing annually the effactiveness of the internal
controf system, However, such g system can provide only reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

th accordance with the Turnbuli Guidance for Directors internal
Control: Guidance for Directors on the Combined Code, the Board
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confirms that there is an angoing process for identifying, evaluating
and managing the significant risks (both financia! and non-financial
and including Corporate Sccial Responsibility risks) faced by the
Group (including joint ventures and overseas businasses), The
process has been in place for the year under review and up 1o the
date of approval of the Annual Report and Accounts and is reqularly
reviewed by the Board.

Assurance over the design and operation of internal controls across
the Groug is provided through a mix of technigues:

* Internal Audit carries out audits to assess the adeguacy and
effectiveness of internal controls over the key risks faced by the
business and reports its findings to management, the Executive
Directors and the Audit Committee. The Audit Plan is presented
to and appiaved by the Audit Committee annually;
recommendations 1o improve the system of contro! are made by
internal Audit. The implernentation of these recommendations is
followed up and reported on quarterly;

Internal Audit independently reviews the risk identification
procedures and contral processes implemented by management;
a process of Control Risk Self-Assessment is used in the Group
where Directors and senicr managers are required to detail and
certify controls in operation to ensure the controf environment in
their business areas is appropriate. They also confirm annually, in
writing, that risk management processes and appropriate controls
are in place and are operating effectively; and

Internal Audit advises on aspects of the design and application of
internal controls in key business projects and on policy and
procedure changes.

-

Internal Audit reports to the Audit Committee on a reguiar basis.
The Audit Committee reviews the assurance procedures and ensures
that the level of confidence required by the Board is obtained. It also
ensures the financial reporting process is credible and reliable.

The Audit Committee presents its findings to the Board reguiarly
and the Head of Internal Audit has direct access to the Audit
Committee members.

An internal appraisal of Internal Audit was carried out during 2004
to ensure that it continued to meet the needs of its stakeholders
and fulfill its governance role. This exercise involved extensive
consultation across the Carillion Group. As a result, minor
amendments to the resourcing and processes of Internal Audit were
implemented in 2005.

Risk Management

The Group Head of Risk is responsible for advising on strategic risk
issues across the Group, and for oversight of risk training. The Group
Head of Risk is also responsible for carrying out an independent
appraisal of all projects before submission to the Major Projects
Cornmittee (see page 34). This appraisal ensures that the
differentiating factors of the Group’s offer have been properly
identified so maximising the opportunities available; it alsc involves
ensuring that all inherent and residual risks associated with the
project have been properly identified and considered.
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In addition, the Risk Forum, a committee of risk professionals from
each of the business groups, meets on a quarterly basis to assess the
strategic risks facing the Carillion Group. The conclusions of the Risk
Forum are reported to the Audit Committee.

The Major Projects Committee, a committee of the Board, acts
as the sanctioning bedy for major commitments and transactions
including capital expenditure, major contracts and company and
business acquisitions and disposals. This committee has delegated
authority up to specified levels, beyond which Board approval

is required.

Practical guidance for all staff is maintained in Group policy and
procedure documents regarding the authorisation levels for
commitments, contract selectivity and bidding, the provision of
guarantees, management accounting as well as reporting and
resolution of suspected fraudulent activities. Wherever possible, the
Board operates a policy of prosecuting individuals found to have
defrauded the Company or fts subsidiaries. Learning points for
management are identified and action pfans implemented to
minimise the recurrence of fraud.

Employees are encouraged to raise genuine concerns about
malpractice at the earliest possible stage and a confidential
"whistleblowing' hotline provided by an independent third party
is available.

Management is responsible for the identification and evaluation of
significant risks applicable to its areas of business together with the
design, operation and monitoring of suitable internal contrels. These
risks are assessed on a continual basis and may be assocdiated with a
variety of internal or external sources, including control breakdowns,
disruption in information systems, competition, corperate social
responsibility, natural catastrophe and regulatory reguirements,
Managernent is also responsible for timely and accurate reporting of
business performance and for ensuring compliance with the policies
set by the Board in its areas of business. Regular performance review
meetings are held where management reports to the Executive
Directors on business performance, risk and internal control matters.
Tne results of these meetings are presented o the Board.

The Executive Directors report to the Board on material changes in
the business and the external envircnment that affect significant
risks. The Finance Director provides the Board with regular financial
information, which includes key performance indicators and a
summary of risk. Where areas for improvement are identified, the
Board considers the recommendations made both by the Executive
Directors and by the Audit Committee.

This report is reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee,

Audit independence

The Audit Committee and Board place great emphasis on the
objectivity of the Group’s auditor, KPMG Audit Plc, in their reporting
to shareholders.

The KPMG audit director and manager are present at Audit
Committee meetings 1o ensure full communication of matters
relating to the audit.

The overall performance of the auditor is reviewed annuslly by the
Audit Committee, taking into account the views of management,
and feedback is provided to senior members of KPMG unrelated to
the audit. This activity also forms pait of KPMG's own system of
quality control. The Audit Committee also has discussions with the
auditor, without management being prasent, on the adequacy of
controls and on any judgmental areas. These discussions have
proved satisfactory to date.

The scope of the forthcorning year’s audit is discussed in advance

by the Audit Committee. Audit fees are reviewed by the Audit
Cormmittee after discussions between the businesses and the local
KPMG offices and are then referred to the Board for approval.
Rotation of audit director's responsibilities within KPMG is required
by their profession’s ethical standards. The current audit director
responsible for the Carillion engagement is in his first year of signing
the report following appointment at the 2005 Annual General
Meeting. There is also rotation of key members within the

audit team.

Assignments awarded to KPMG and Hs associates have been and are
subject to cantrols by management that have been agreed by the
Audit Committee so that audit independence is not compromised.

in summary, the procedures are:

« audit related services: as auditor this is the main area of work
of KPMG and iis associates. H any additional accounting support
is required then this is considered competitively;

» tax consulting: in cases where they are best suited, Cariflion uses
KPMG and its associates but the Group also uses other tax
consultancies. Significant pieces of tax work are evaluated
competitively;

+ general and systems consulting: all significant consulting projects
are subject to competitive tender.

OCther than audit, the Group Finance Director is required to give
prior approval of work carried out by KPMG and its associates

in excess of a predetermined threshold; part of this review is tc
determine that other potential providers of the services have been
adequately considered.

These controls provide the Audit Committee with adequate
confidence in the independence of KPMG in their reporting on
the audit of the Group.

Heaith and safety

A review of the Group's progress on health and safety,
environmental and social performance is contained in the
Corporate Social Responsibility section on pages 26 to 27.

R F Tapp
Secretary
8 March 2006




Remuneration Report

This report has been prepared in accordance with the Combined
Cede on Corporate Governance {(july 2003).

The Beard is responsible for determining policy for remuneration
of the Directars of Carillion plc and key members of the senior
management team, The Remuneration Committee consists
exciusively of independent Non-Executive Directors, namely David
Garman (Chairman), David Maloney and Vanda Murray and is
responsible for formulating policy and recommending to the Board
the remuneration of the Executive Directors. The Board determines
the fees of the Non-Executive Directors based on independent
external advice.

The Reruneration Commitiee is assisted in remuneration decisions
by Susan Morton, Group HR Director and by John McDonough,
Group Chief Executive. The Group Chief Executive is consulted on
the remuneration of his direct reports and other senior executives,
No Executive Director or employee is present when his or her
remuneration is being discussed.

Additionally, the Remuneration Committee uses Deloitte & Touche
LLP to provide salary survey and benchmarking information.
Deloitte & Touche LLP which was appointed in 2005 has no other
connections with the Company.

Remuneration policy

It is the policy of the Company to ensure that remuneration and
other benetits attract, motivate and retain Executive Directors and
senior managers of the required calibre to achieve the Board's
objectives, including that of achieving growth in sharehalder value.
Remuneration and other benefits are determined with regard to
competitive market practice and, where considered appropriate, are
supported by external independent surveys. The main elements of
remuneration of the Executive Directors are basic salary and pension
benetits, together with an annual bonus and share based incentives
linked to financial performance to ensure that the interests of the
Executive Directors are aligned to those of shareholders. The
Company intends 1o continue this approach to the structure of
remuneration for the foreseeable future.

The Groug's remuneration policy is also based ugon Carillion's
strategic objectives, which specifically include achieving high
standards in respect of sustainability, which encompasses Carillion’s
health and safety, environmental and social performance.

Service contracts

Each of the Executive Directors’ service contracts are terminable by
one year’s notice from the Company. On termination of their
employment, Executive Directors of the Comgany have no additional
entitlement to compensation for loss of their office as Directors.

The service contracts contain provision for early termination.

In determining compensation for early termination of a service
contract, the Remuneration Committee will consider the specific
dircumstances together with the Company’s commitments under the
individual’s contract {including future bonuses),
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Notice
Name Commencement Period Term
John McDonough 1 January 2001 12 months Rolling
Chris Girling 13 September 1999 12 manths Rolling
Roger Robinscn 29 july 1899 12 months Rolling

Non-Executive Directors are not employed under contracts of service,
but are generally appointed for fixed terms of three years renewable
for further terms of one to three years if both parties agree. David
Garman, David Maloney, Vanda Murray and Philip Rogerson are in
their initial three year terms.

Basic salary and other benefits

The basic sataries and other benefits of the Executive Directors

are set by the Remunerztion Committee and are determined taking
into account individual performance and information provided by
independent sources on the rate of salary for similar posts in
comparable companies, The aim is to reward Directors fairly

and competitively,

Other benefits typically include a company car, private healthcare
and salary supplements {or contributions to a funded unapproved
retirement benefit scherne (FURBSY in place of approved pension
provision for salary over the annual earnings cap.

Annual performance bonus and deferred bonus plan

Annual bonuses are reviewed each year by the Rermnuneration
Committee, which sets performance targets geared 1o kay
financial indicators and individual performance objectives. In

2005, the Executive Directors had the potential to earn annual
bonuses up to a maximum of 75% of their basic saiary for
outstanding performance. The bonus arrangement for 2005

set a financial performance target based on earnings per share

and individual, detailed and confidential personal performance
objectives that support the strategic objectives of the Company.
The maximum bonus oppartunity of 75% comprises an annuat
cash payment limited 10 30% of salary with a deferred bonus of
shares of the Company with a value of up to 45% of salary vesting
after two years. The number of shares allocated is determined by
the price prevailing at the date the bonus is confirmed and the
amount by which the bonus earned exceeds 30% of basic salary at
the end of the bonus year in question. The shares are released on
the condition that the recipient makes funds available to the
Company at the peint of transfer to allow the Company to meet its
tax and Nationat Insurance obligations on the value of the shares
transferred. The potential bonus available in 2006 will be 100% of
basic salary comprised of a cash payment of up to 30% of basic
salary with a deferred bonus of shares in the Company up to the
vaiue of 70% of salary vesting after two years.
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in relation to the 2004 bonus arrangernent, the Executive Directors, Pension benefits

on 7 April 2005 received a deferred bonus of shares as follows: The Group makes contributions 1o an inland Revenue approved
defined benefit scheme and, where appiicable and where the
Number of shates 1 dividual has so elected, to FURBS on behalf of the Executive

John McDonough 29,395 pirectors. Alternatively, & payment equal to the comtribution the
Chris Girling 17479 Group would have made to the funded unapproved arrangement is
Roger Rohinson 18,870 paid to the Executive Director as a salary supplement. Contributions
to the funded unapproved arrangernents are repcrted as a benefit in
These shares have been held in Trust for a year and wiil be kind on an annual basis. Salary supplements are taxed at source.

transferred in April 2006 following payment of the tax and
National nsurance obligations.

Directors’ remuneration
The remuneration of the Directors of Carillion plc for the year ended
31 December 2005 is set out in the table below.

Annual

Basic performance Other Total Total
£000 salary/fees bonus benefits 2005 2004
John McDonough 430 195 126 751 645
Chris Girling 270 120 72 452 395
Roger Robinson 275 125 75 475 406
Total for Executive Directors 975 440 273 1,688 1,446
Sir Neville Simms 67 13 80 187
Roger Dickens 42 42 45
Philip Rogerson 107 107 19
Andrew Parrish 23 23 45
David Garman 43 43 13
Yanda Murray 23 - 23 -
David Maloney 7 7 -
Total for Non-Executive Directors 312 i3 325 300
Total for all Directors 1,287 440 286 2,013 1,755

The auditor is required to report on the information contained in the above table.

Sir Neville Simmis and Andrew Parrish stcod down as Directors on 11 May 2005 and Roger Dickens on 2 December 2005, Philip Regerson
succeeded Sir Neville as Chairman of the Company on 11 May 2005. David Garman became Chairman of the Renumeration Committee
on 1 June 2005 in succession to Andrew Parrish. Vanda Murray was appointed a Pirector on 1 June 2005 and David Maloney on

1 November 2005,

included in "Other benefits’ is a salary supplement for John McDonough of £109,300 (2004: £102,060} in respect of salary over the
infand Revenue pensions earnings cap. Contributions were payable to FURBS in respect of Chris Girling of £55,540 (2004: £51,660) and
Roger Robinson of £57,220 (2004: £53,340).




Remuneration Report e

The bonus figures shown on page 36 are paid in two elements; up
to 30% of basic salary is paid in cash and the balance in the form
of deferred shares in the Company vesting after two years. The
amaounts shown above were therefore split as follows:

£00¢ Cash payment Value of deferred shares
Executive Director

Johr McDonough 122 73
Chris Girling 77 43
Roger Rohinson 78 47

John McDonough retained the fees of £40,000 per year that he was
paid as a non-executive Director of Exel plc until he retired from the
Board on 13 December 2005. Chris Girling retains the fees of
£35,000 per year that he is paid as a Non-Executive Director of
Elementis pic,

Executive pensions

Until April 2003, it was the Company’s policy to offer membership
of the Carillion “B’ Pension Scherme to Executive Directors and other
senicr employees. This scheme was operational from 1 October
1999. The scheme is 3 funded, Inland Revenue approved, defined
benefit scheme to which members contribute 7% of pensionable
earnings. The main features are:

¢ pension payable at the normal retirement age of 80 (save in cases
of ill heaith or early retirement);

« pension accrual rate for Executive Birectors of 1/30th of final
pensicnable salary for each year of service targeting a pension
(8t normal retirement age) of twa thirds of final pensicnable satary
(subject to twenty years’ service after which employee
contributions cease);

*increases to pensions in payment {in excess of the State
Guaranteed Minimum Pension) in line with price indexation up to
5% per annum for service to 5 April 2006 and 2.5% per annum
for service after that date;

» life assurance of four times pensionable salary;

* pensions payable in the event of ill health; and

» on death (in service or after retirament), spouse’s and/or
dependent’s pension at two thirds of member’s prospective
pension.

Maximum pension benefits of two thirds of pensionable salary are
offset by any pension benefits accruing from earlier pension
arrangements.

The Carillion B” Pension Scheme was closed to new entrants with
effect from 1 Agril 2003. Pension provision for senior managers and
Executives is now through their existing Carillion scheme (for current
employees) or the Carillion Pension Plan (for new employees and
existing employees who opted for membership). The Carillion
Pension Plan is a defined contribution pension arrangement that
provides members with pensions at retirement based on the

accumulated value of their notional pension account within the plan.
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The current Executive Directors are subject to the infand Revenue
earnings cap and their pensionable salary is limited accordingly. They
are provided with additional benefits by way of individual FURBS or
a salary supplement equal to the contribution the Group would have
made to a FURBS and with unapproved life cover of four times salary
over the earnings cap. In all cases, any contributions made to these
arrangements in respect of the year are disclosed separately on page
36. As these additional arrangements are limited 1o the balance of
basic salary in excess of the earnings cap, bonus paid to Executive
Directors does not count towards pension benefits. The Company
does not contribute to any pension arrangemensis for Non-Executive
Directors. The Company has agreed with the Trustees of the Carillion
pension schemes that it wall continue to operate an earnings cap
after April 2006 when the external cap is removed. The Carillion cap
will commence at the level of £110,000 for the tax year 2006/07
and rise in line with the published increases in the Life Time
Allowance up until 2010 in line with the table below.

Year Cap
2006-07 £110,000
2007-08 £117,400
2008-09 £121,100
2009-10 £128,500
2010-11 £132,200

All the Executive Directors will be subject to this cap on salary
pensioned through the Carillion B’ Pension Scheme but they will be
provided with a salary supplement on the same basis as currently or
egual to the funding currently made to FURBS. FURBS funding will
cease in March 2008,

The following additional changes have been made to the provisions

of the Carillion ‘B* Pension Scheme;

«in respect of benefits arising from service after & April 20086,
increases to pensions in payment {in excess of the State
Guaranteed Minimum Pension) will be in line with price indexation
up to 2.5% per annum;

e fife assurance of four times basic salary will be made through the
scheme {subject 1o the Life Time Allowance);

» the twenty year limit on contributory service is removed and
replaced with an overall benefit limit of two thirds of pensionable
salary {subject to the Carillion cap).

These changes closely replicate the current position while using the
available efficiencies regarding life assurance and reducing the
Company’s lizbilities in respect of pension increases.
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Directors’ pensions
Pensions accruing during the year to Executive Directors in their capacity as Directors of Carillion plc are set out below.

Value
of increase
in accrued
Increase in increase in pension at Increase in
accrued pension  accrued pension Bec 05 transfer value
Accrued over year over year less member over year
pension at excluding incleding contributions Transfer value Transfer value after member
21 Dec05 inflation inflation during the year  at start of year at end of year contributions
£ pet anhum £ per annum £ per annum £ £ £ £
John McDonough 17,600 4,000 3,699 49,130 182,669 265,309 75,31
Chris Girling 21,707 4,140 3,751 46,146 218,540 305,405 79,536
Roger Robinson 53,203 4,228 3,860 53,994 677,431 835,559 105,799

The auditor is required 1o report on the information contained in the above table.

Share incentive schemes

The Company now operates three share incentive schemes to
motivate employees and 10 encolrage them to invest in the future
success of the Group. The Executive Share Option Scheme
(Approved and Unapproved) and the Long Term Incentive Plan have
challenging performance criteria which apply similarly to alt
participants. In addition, a Sharesave Scheme operates to give UK

employees the opportunity to have a financial stake in the Company.

Executive Share Option Scheme

Share options have been granted 10 the Executive Directors and
certain senior managers under the Executive Share Option Scheme.
The options were granied at an exercise price equal 1o the average
market price of the Company’s shares on the three business days
immediately preceding the date of grant.

Options under the inland Revenue Approved Executive Share Option
Scheme 1999 (which carries certain tax advantages for UK
empioyees) and the Executive Share Option Scheme 1389 are
exercisable normally between three and ten years after the date

of grant, subject to the achievement of the performance condition.
For options granted between QOcteher 1999 and October 2002,
the performance condition reguires that the earnings per share

of Cariflion over a roiling three year period must increase by a
percentage that is not less than the increase in the UK Retail Prices
Index over the same period, expressed as a percentage, plus four
percentage points per annum. This performance condition was
selected in order to provide an incentive which aligns the interests
ot execttives with those of shareholders in growing the Company’s
earnings per share. However, as this performance condition no
longer complied with best practice, at the 2003 Annual Genersl
Meeting, shareholders resolved that future options granted under
both schemes become exercisable in accordance with the
following table:

Average compound annual earnings
per share growth {before exceptional
items) in excess of RPI over the three

Percentage of option
that becomes

year period following grant exercisable
Less than 4% 0%
4% 30%
Above 4% and below 10% 30% to 100% (straight-line basis)
10% or more 100%

To the extent that this performance condition s not met in full
at the end of the three year period following grant, there is the
opportunity for no more than one re-test of performance (from
a fixed base) at the end of the following year.

The first grants of options using this new performance condition
were made on 1 July 2003 and subseguently on 31 March 2004
and 15 March 2005.

The aggregate value of options granted to an employee under the
Executive Share Option Scheme cannot normally exceed their basic
salary in any year without the prior approval of the Remuneration
Commitiee.

At 371 December 2005, Executive Share Options were outstanding
aver 3,391,236 shares {2004; 3,653,138 shares) at exercise prices
ranging from 1252 pence to 242.75 pence

tong Term Incentive Plan

Conditional awards under the Long Term Incentive Plan have been
made to the Executive Directors and key members of senior
management, in recognition of the contribution that these
individuals can make to the Group's success.

There is no subscription price for the shares, the award of which is
conditional on the Company’s performance during a three-year
period in delivering Total Shareholder Return (TSR} against a
comparator group of companies in the Construction and Building
Materials and Support Services sectors or, in respect of the awards
made in 2005, the FTSE 250 index.

The companies comprising the comparator group for Long Term
incentive Plan awards made in January 2002 were Amec pic, WS
Atkins plc, Balfour Beatty plc, Interserve plc, Jarvis pic, Kier Group
plc, Alfred McAlpine plc, Mowlem plc and Taylor Woodrow plc.
(Amey plc was in the comparator group but was removed as it
delisted from the London Stock Exchange in iune 2003).

Carillion subsequently came second in this comparator group at the
end of the three year performance period for these 2002 awards
with the result that 85% of the awards vested and a total of
172,913 shares transferred to two participants in March 2005.
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Following review in 2003, the Remuneration Committee
considered that with a comparator group of ten companies, the
removal of one company (through takeover or otherwise) would
have a progportionately greater impact on the extent of the vesting
of awards than if the comparator group was larger, Consequently,
sharehoiders at the 2003 AGM approved that future awards
granted under the Long Term incentive Plan would be subject to
Carillion's TSR performance agsinst an expanded group of 12
companies as follows:

Percentage of
award that will vest

100%

Straight line vasting batween
30% at the median and
100% for first place

30%

No award

Carillion ranking at
end of three years

First place
Between the median
and first place

Median
8elow the median

The comparator group for awards made fallowing the 2003

sharehclder approval is Amec plc, WS Atkins ple, Balfour Beatty plc,

Interserve ple, Jarvis plc, Kier Group plc, Alfred Mcalpine plc,
Mowtem plc, Morgan Sindall plc, John Laing plc and Serco Group
plc. {Again, Amey plc was in this comparataor group until it was
delisted. Mowdern plc was also delisted in February 2006.)

To date awards with this performance condition have been made
on 1 July 2003 and 31 March 2004,

Awards equivalent to 100% of annual salary were also made to
Executive Directors on 15 March 2005 the Reruneration
Committae resoived that these 2005 awards will have a
performance condition based on Cariliion’s TSR performance
against the FTSE 250.

The performance conditions were chosen in order to align the
interests of Directors and senior managers with those of
shareholders in growing total shareholder return against
comparator companies and sectors,

At 31 December 2005, Long Term Incentive Plan awards were
outstanding over a total of 2,221,874 shares (2004: 1,431,327
shares).

Conditicnal awards made to Executive Directors under the Long
Term Incentive Plan are set out in the table of share incentives

on page 40, The awards represent the maximum number of
shares that could be awarded to Executive Directors under the
performance perigds commencing on 1 July 2003, 1 january 2004
and 1 January 2005 The monetary value of the conditional awards
atiributed to each Director was based on their annual basic salary
at the date of award and the number of shares was calculated
using the share prices of 162.1 pence, 143 pence and 225 pence,
the average share prices over the six weeks immediately before
the commencemernt of the respective performance periods.
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Following a review of the share incentives currently offered by the
Company, the Reruneration Committee has recornmended the
implementation of a new fong term incentive plan, the Carillion plc
2006 teng Term Incentive Plan, for senior executives. Shareholder
approval of this new long term incentive plan will be sought at the
Annual General Meeting on 10 May 2006.

Total Shareholder Return (TSR} Performance Graph

The foliowing graph shows the TSR of Carillion plc compared with
the TSR of the FTSE 350 Index for the period from 1 January 2001
10 31 December 2005.
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The FTSE 350 was chosen as the comparator group in order to
Hlustrate the Company’s TSR performance against a broad equity
market index of the UK's leading companies.

The Sharesave Scheme

The Company operates a Sharesave Scheme which provides a
savings and investrnent opportunity for employees in the UK. The
options may normally be exercised on completion of a three or five
year savings contract, at a price eguivalent to not less than 80% of
the market value of the shares at the time of grant. Options were
granted in November 1999 over 6,140,194 shares and in October
2002 over 3,995,803 shares,

The five year aptions granted in November 1599 became
exercisable for a six month period commencing 1 January 2005 at
an option price 109.1 pence. A total of 983,369 shares were issued
following maturity.

The three year options granted in October 2002 became exercisable
for a six month pericd commencing 1 January 2006 at an opticn
price of 126.6 pence. To date, the market price of Carillion shares
has not been less than 299 pence during this latter period

of exercise.

At 31 December 2005, options over 1,895,908 crdinary shares of
50 pence each were outstanding under the Sharesave Scheme
(2004: 3,481,966 ordinary shares of 50 pence each), exercisable
up to June 2006 at an exercise price of 126.6 pence.

The Carillion share option and share incentive schemes comply with
the share dilution guidelines,
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Share incentives of Directors of Carillion plc

The awards held by Executive Directors of the Company under the Long Term Incentive Plan are detailed below:

Long Term
As at Incentive Plan

1 January awards Awvards Awards As at it market
2005 granted during vesting during fapsing during 31 December Date of share price on
the year the vear the year 2005 award date of award
John McDonough
LTIP 2003 {maximum} 118,739 - - - 118,739  01.07.2003 1598
LTiP 2004 {maximum} 141,608 - - - 141,608 31.03.2004 187p
LTIP 2005 (maximum) - 191,043 - - 191,043 15.03.2005 244.5p
Chris Girling
E£TIP 2003 (maximumy 75,561 - — - 75,561 01.07.2003 15%p
LTIP 2004 (maximum) 89,160 - - - 89,160 31.03.2004 187p
LT 2005 {maximum} - 119,957 - - 119,957 15.03.2005 244.5p
Roger Robinson
LTIP 2003 {maximum;) 77,103 - - - 77,103 01.07.2003 15%p
LTIP 2004 {maximumn} 90,909 - - - 90,909  31.03.2004 187p
LT{P 2005 {maximum} - 122,178 - - 122,178 15.03.2005 244 5p

The auditor is required to report on the information contained in the above table.

The number of options over Carillion plc shares held by Executive Directors of the Company under the Executive Share Option and

Sharesave schemes is detailed below:

As at date fror tid market

As at Granted
I danuary durinig 31 December Ixercise which share orice

2005 the year Exercised 2005 price exercisable Expiry date  on date of grant
John MecDonough
ESOS 2001 501,930 - - 501,930 129.5p 09.01.04 09.01.11 1355p
ESOS 2002 254,532 - - 254,532* 2107p 19.03.05 18.03.12 197.5p
ESQS 2003 188,494 - - 188,494 163.4p 01.07.06 01.07.13 159.0p
ESOS 2004 175,229 - - 175,229 184.9p 31.03.07 31.03.14 187.0p
Chris Girling
ESQS 2003 119,950 - - 119,950 163.4p 01.07.06 01.07.13 159.0p
ESOS 2004 110,329 - - 110,329 184.9p 31.03.07 31.03.14 187.0p
Roger Robinson
ESOS 2003 122,398 - - 122,398 163.4p 01.07.06 01.07.13 159.0p
ESQS 2004 112,493 - — 112,493 184.9p 31.03.07 31.03.14 187.0p

The auditor is required to report on the information contained in the
above table.

*The option over 254,532 shares at an option price of 210.7 pence
granted 10 John McDonough in March 2002 under the Executive
Share Option Scheme was made later in the year than had been
specified at the time of his appeintment which resuited in an
increased option price of 67.3 pence. Therefore, in order to ensure
that he will be in no worse nor better a position as a result of the
delay in the grant, a maximum cash adjustment of 67.3 pence per
share (less tax} will be made when and if the option is exercised.

There have been no changes to the interests of Executive Directors
in share incentives and options in the period 1 January to 8 March
2006. The performance conditions for the options shown in the
table are as detailed in this Remuneration Report in the summaries
of the relevant schemes.

Ernployee benefit trusts

An employee berefit trust has been established to acguire shares
in Carillion plc and hold them for the benefit of participants in the
share incentive and share option schemes. At 31 December 2005,
the Trust held 3,715,612 Carillion shares (2004: 4,238,013 shares)
(1.73% of the issued share capital and a nominal vaiue of

£1.9 million) (2004: 1.98% and £2.1 million) acquired aver a
period in the open market and which have a carrying value of
£5.4 million. The market value of the shares held at 31 December
2005 was £11.4 million (2004; £9.6 million).
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Additionally, a Qualifying Employee Share Ownership Trust (QUEST)
operates in conjunction with Carillion in providing shares to
employees under its Sharesave Scheme. At 31 December 2005,
the QUEST held 390,334 Carillion shares (2004: 819,383 shares)
(0.18% of the issued share capital and a nominal value of

£0.2 million) (2004: 0.38% and £0.4 million) at subscription prices
ranging from 115.5 pence to 269.0 pence per share, to enable it

Directors’ share interests
Ordinary shares
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to satisfy, as and when required, options granted under the
Sharesave Scheme. The market value of the shares held by the
QUEST at 31 December 2005 was £1.2 miilion (2004: £1.9 million).

For details of dividends paid to the above trusts see Note 23 o
the Consolidated Financial Statements on page 70.

The beneficial interests of the Directors and their immediate families in the ordinary share capital of the Company are shown balow:

As at As at
1 January 31 December
Fully paid SOp ordinary sheres owned: 005 2005
Executive Directors
John McDonough 467,100 480,223
Chris Girling 58,258 58,258
Roger Robinson 50,343 50,343
MNon Executive Birectors
Sir Neville Simms 427,641 N/A
Roger Dickens 22,043 N/A
David Garman 10,000 10,000
Andrew Parrish 37,529 N/A
Philip Rogerscn 10,033 10,033
Vanda Murray N/A -
David Maloney N/A -

There has been no change in Directors” interests in the pericd 1 January to 8 March 2006.

The dlosing mid-market price of Carillion shares at 31 Dacember 2005 and the highest and lowest mid-market prices during the year were

as follows;

Share price
31 Decermnber 2005 306.0 pence
High (2 December 2005) 318.0 pence
Low {4 May 2005) 223.5 pence

Approved by order of the Board

D N C Garman
Chairman of the Rermuneration Commities
8 March 2006

Carilion plc
Annual Repart and Accounts 2005
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Report of the Directors

The Directors of Carillion plc present their annual report, together
with the audited financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2005.

Principal activities and business review

Catillion is a leading company delivering integrated solutions for
infrastructure, buildings and services and operating throughout the
UK and in a number of overseas regional markets.

A review of the Group’s businesses, financial performance and
future developments is contained in the Chairman’s Statement
and Operating and Financial Review.

Analyses of revenue, results and net assets by business segment
and geographical locaticn are given in Note 2 on page 55.

Profits and dividends

The consolidated income statement is shawn on page 46.

The pre-tax profit on ordinary activities was £51.9 million (2004:
£66.8 million).

A 2005 interirn dividend of 2.8 pence per ordinary share (2004:
2.675 pence) was paid in November 2005. It is proposed to pay a
final dividend of 5.2 pence per ordinary share (2004: 4 825 pence)
on 23 fune 2006 to shareholders on the register at the close of
business on 28 April 2006, The payment of these 2005 interim and
final dividends amounts to £20.6 million (2004: £15.7 million).

A dividend reinvestment plan (DRIP) will also be offered.

Directors

The Directors of the Company who served during 2005 are shown
on page 36 of the Remuneration Report. Biographical details for
each Director at 31 December 2005 are given on pages 28 and 29.

Vanda Murray was appeinted a Non-Executive Director on 1 June
2005 and David Maloney on 1 November 2005. Mrs Murray and
Mr Maloney will hold office until the Annual General Meeting at
which, being eligible, they offer themselves for election.

Both Mrs Murray and Mr Maloney have three year terms of
appointment and are members of the Audit, Nominations and
Rernuneration Committees. Mr Maloney is Chairman of the Audit
Commitiee.

In accordance with the Articles of Assocdiation, Roger Robinson
retires by rotation and, being eligible, offers himself for re-election
at the Annual General Meeting on 10 May 2006. Roger Robinsen
has a contract of service which is subject to one year’s notice of
termination by the Cormpany.

The interests of the Directors and their families in the share capital of
the Company are shown in the Remuneration Report on page 41.

Employees
Information refating to employee numbers and remuneration is given
in Note 7 on page 58.

Employees are key to achieving Carillion’s business strategy and the
Group is committed to improving their skills through training and
development and nurturing a cufture in which employees feel valued
far their contribution and are motivated to achieve their full
potential.

Carillion’s core values of openness, collaboration, mutual
dependency, innovation, prefessional delivery and sustainable
profitable growth have been developed to emphasise the changing
working practices reguired to succeed in an environment where
partnership and integrated solutions are becoming the norm.

It is Carillion’s aim to foster a working environment in which all
employees are treated with courtesy, dignity and respect. Carillion
continually strives to eliminate all bias and unlawful discrimination
in relation to job applicants, employees, business partners and
members of the public. Employees who become disabled are,
wherever possible, retrained or provided with equipment so that
they can continue their employment.

The chjectives of Carilliens Equal Opportunity and Diversity

Policy are:

» to have a workforce that represents and responds to the diversity
of customers and today's society;

improved safety and quality provided by a balanced and
productive workforce;

better public image and market position, leading to improved links
with the community in which Cariflion works;

adherence to legal reguirements;

fower staff turnover, absenteeism and sickness levels leading to
cost savings;

10 provide a fair working environment in which discrimination will
not be tolerated;

to create & working environment free from discrimination,
harassroent, victimisation and bullying;

to work towards finding ways for under represented groups to
fully realise their potential within Carillion and to take reasonable
steps to help such groups;

to ensure that all employees are aware of the Group Equal
Oppaortunities and Diversity Policy and to provide any necessary
ongeing training to enable them to meet their responsibilities
under it; and

Carillion also recognises the merit of developing a workforce that
incorporates the many diverse skills and backgrounds available
from within the total population and accordingly, will strive to
become an organisation that will recognise, value and understand
diversity and provide its employees with genuine oppoertunities to
improve and reach their full potential.

Carillion places great importance en open and regufar
communication with employees through both formal and informal
processes. As part of this commitment, a Group newspaper,
‘Spectrurn’, is produced on a regular basis for all employees.

The views of employees on matters affecting their interests are also
sought through ‘The Great Debate’. This is & major exercise which
was undertaken by the Group in 2003, 2004 and 2005 to capture
the feelings and views of as wide a range of employees as possible.
These views are then taken into account in the development of
work related initigtives as part of Carlllion’s strategy to become an
emptoyer of choice. In 2005, around 1,400 employees attended
‘The Great Debate’ sessions.
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Carillion stages ‘The Great Debate” as part of the ongoing quest for
cultural change and to produce step changes which:

* raise understanding of what drives motivation, morale,
engagement and performance;

* sllows employees to take ownership and be empowered to build
and implement solutions; and

» demonstrates Carillion’s desire to change attitudes and behaviours
based on listening to the views of its employees.

Additionally, “Team Talk’ which is held monthly provides Carillion
employees with a face to face communication with their line
managers and facilitates two-way communication, discussion and
feedback. it focuses on local issues and key corporate messages
and information.

One to one meetings between individual employees and their line
managers are also held to discuss performance and progress.

Employees can also exchange best practice information on a
Knowledge Managernent Forum on the Group intranet.

Carillion seeks to involve all employees in its leading edge
pragrammes to integrate safety into everything it does and to
imprave its environmental performance, incduding the understanding
and application of the principles of sustainability. Further information
on Health and Safety, the Environment and Community is given in
the Comporate Social Responsibility report on pages 26 and 27,

Carillion also involves, engages and consults with employees through
‘People Forums' across the Group which give employees the
oppartunity to express their views on business issues. Specifically,

the objectives of the 'People Forums' are:

* 10 improve empioyee information and consultation;

* to help employees feel more involved and valued,

* t0 support the continued education and development of
employees,

s improve business performance by enabling employees to be
better aware of the business climate in which they operate; and

»t0 help employees 1o be responsive to and better prepared
tor change.

Substantial share interests

At 8 March 2006, the Company had received formal notification of
the fallowing substantial interests in the ordinary share capital of
the Company:

Number of shares held Percentage

Schroder Investment Management
Lirnited, its subsidiaries and

affiliated companies 42,177,184 1503%
Fidelity international Ltd and
its direct and indirect subsidiaries 13,869,292  4.94%
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Policy for payment of suppliers

It is the policy of the Group that each business agrees terms and
conditions for transactions with its suppliers and for payment to be
madie on these terms providing the suppliers meet their obligations
to the husinesses’ satisfaction. The Group as a whole therefore does
not apply a general recognised code with regard to the payment of
alt suppliers. The Company does not have any trade creditors.

The number of days credit outstanding for the Group averaged 62
days at 31 December 2005 (63 days at 31 December 2004).

Charitable and political contributions

Payrents for charitable purposes made by the Group during the
year ended 31 Decernber 2005 amounted to £84,000 (2004
£76,000). The primary beneficiaries of these charitable donations
were The Wildlife Trust, Business in the Comminity, the British
Heart Foundation and CRASH, the construction and property
industry charity for the homeless.

The Cariflion Group also contributes more than one per cent of
profits per annum in cash or in-kind (staff time on community
projects} to community activities and is a member of the Business
in the Community PerCent Club.

The Company and its subsidiaries made no politicat donations during
the period under review.

Annual General Meeting

The Annual General Meeting will be held at 12 noon on Wednesday
10 May 20086 at Austin Couri, 80 Cambridge Street, Birmingham

BT 2NP. The notice of the Annual General Meeting accompanies this
annuai report and accounts,

Amongst the business 1o be transacted is a proposal to renew

the authority for the Company to purchase its own shares. As at
31 December 2005, the Company had authority from shareholders
for the purchase of 21,451,268 of its own shares.

Auditor

Resolutions to reappoint KPMG Audit Plc as auditor and to authorise
the Directors to determine its remuneration will be proposed at the
Annual General Meeting.

Approved by order of the Board

b co TCria

R F Tapp
Secretary
8 March 2006
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in Respect
of the Annual Report and Financial Statements

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and
the Group and Parent Cempany financial statements, in accordance
with applicable law and reguiations.

Company law reguires the Directors to prepare Group and Parent
Company financial statements for each financial year. Under that law
the Directors are required to prepare the Group financial statements
in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU and have elected 1o
prepare the Parent Comnpany financial statements in accordance with
UK Accounting Standards.

The Group financial statements are required by law and IFRS as
adopted by the EU to present fairly the financial position and
performance of the Group; the Companies Act 1985 provides in
relation to such finandial statements that references in the relevant
part of that Act to financial statements giving a frue and fair view
are references to their achieving a fair presentation

The Parent Company financial statements are required by faw to
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Parent
Company. In preparing each of the Group and Parent Company
financial statements, the Directors are required to:

» select suitable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently;

make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
for the Group financial statements, state whether they have been
prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU;

« for the Parent Company financial statements, state whether
applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject
10 any material departures disclosed and explained in the Parent
Company financial statements, and

prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless
it is inappropriate 1o presume that the Group and the Parent
Company will continue in business.

-

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records
that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the Parent Company and enable them to ensure that its
financial statements comply with the Companies Act 1985, They
have general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably
open to them to safeguard the assets of the Group and fo prevent
and detect fraud and other irregularities.

Under applicable law and regulations, the Directors are also
responsible for preparing a Directors’ Repart, Directors'’
Remuneration Report and Corporate Governance Statement
that comply with that law and those regulations.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of
the corporate and financial information included on the Company’s
website. Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation

in ather jurisdictions.
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members of Carillion plc

We have audited the Group and Parent Company financial
statements (the "financial statements”) of Carillion pic for the year
ended 31 December 2005 which comprise the Consolidated thcome
Statement, the Consolidated and Parent Company Balance Sheets,
the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, the Consolidated
Statement of Recognised Income and Expense and the related notes.
These financial statements have been prepared under the accounting
pelicies set out therein. We have also audited the information in

the Directors’ Rermuneration Report that is described as having

been audited.

This report is made solely to the Company’s mernbers, as a body, in
accordance with section 235 of the Companies Act 1985. Our audit
work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company's
members those matters we are required 1o state to them in an
auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permiited by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to
anyone cther than the Company and the Company's members as

a body, for cur audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we
have formed.

Respective responsibilities of Directors and Auditors

The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Arnnual Report and
the Group financial statements in accordance with applicable law
and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS} as adopted
by the EU, and for preparing the Parent Company financial
statements and the Directors’ Remuneration Report in accordance
with applicable law and UK Accounting Standards (UK Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice) are set aut in the Statement of
Directors’ Respansibilities on page 44.

Qur responsibility is to audit the financial statements and the gart
of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited in accordance
with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and international
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements
give a true and fair view and whether the financial statements and
the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be sudited have
been properly prepared in accerdance with the Companies Act 1985
and whether, in addition, the Group financial statements have been
properly prepared in accordance with Article 4 of the 1AS Regulation.
We also report to you if, in our opinion, the Directors’ Report is not
consistent with the financial statements, if the Company has not
kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all the
information and explanations we require for our audit, or if
infarmation specified by law regarding Directors’ remuneration

and other transactions is not disclosed.

Wae review whether the Corporate Governance Statement reflects
the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the 2003 FRC
Combined Code specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the
Financial Services Authority, and we report if it does not. We are

not required to consider whether the Board's statements on internal
control cover alf risks and controls, or form an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group's corporate governance procadures

or its risk and contrel procedures.

We read other information contained in the Annual Report and
consider whether it is consistent with the audited financial
statements, We consider the implications for our report if we
become aware of any apparent misstatements or material
inconsistencies with the financial statements. Our responsibilities
do not extend to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
en Auditing (UK and frefand) issued by the Auditing Practices Board.
An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant
to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements and the
part of the Directors” Remuneration Report to be audited. it also
includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgments
made by the Directors in the preparation of the financial statements
and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate 1o the
Group’s and Company’s circumstances, consistently applied and
adeqguately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the
information and explanations which we considered necessary

in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable
assurance that the financial statements and the part of the
Directors’ Remuneration Report 1o be audited are free from material
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irreqularity or error.
In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of
the preseration of information in the finandial statements and the
part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report 1o be audited.

Opinion

in our opinion:

* the Groug financial statements give a true and fair view,
in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU, of the state
of the Group’s affairs as at 31 December 2005 and of its profit
for the year then ended;

= the Group financial statements have been properly preparad
in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of
the IAS Regutation;

* the Parent Cempany financial statements give a true and fair
view, in accardance with UK Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice, of the state of the Parent Company’s affairs as at 31
Decemier 2005; and

« the Parent Company financial statements and the part of the
Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited have been properly
prepared in accordance with the Corapanies Act 1985,

KPMG Audit Plc u

Chartered Accountants
Registered Auditor
Birmingharm

8 March 2006
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Consolidated Income Statement

For the year ended 31 December 2005

2005 2004

Note fm £
Total revenue 2,284.2 1,885.1
Less: Share of jointly controlled entities revenue (258.7) (126.1)
Revenue 2 2,025.5 1.855.0
Cost of sales (1,888.6) {1,698.9)
Gross profit 136.9 160.1
Administrative expenses {104.6) (116.6)
Group operating profit 4 323 435
Jointly controlled entities
Operating profit 20.3 13.0
Net financing income/expense) 1.1 (3.4)
Non-operating items 5 {0.8) 1.5
income tax {5.0) (2.0}
Share of results of jointly controlled entities 3 15.6 9.1
Profit from operations 47.9 52.6
Non-operating items 5 - 10.1
Financial income 3 54.4 52.3
Financial expenses 6 {50.4) (48.2)
Net financing income 4.0 4.1
Profit before tax* 51.9 66.8
Incorne tax g (11.1} {8.6)
Profit for the year 40.8 58.2
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 39.3 56.4
Minority interests 1.5 1.8
Profit for the year 10.8 58.2
Earnings per share*® 10
Basic 18.7p 27.1p
Diluted 18.4p 26.7p
Total dividend declared for the year 9 8.0p 7.5p

The above results for both years derive from continuing operations.
*A reconciliation of the reported resuit to the underlying result is given in Note 10(b).
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Consolidated Statement of Recognised Income and Expense

For the year ended 31 December 2005

Carillion pic
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2005 2004
£m £m
Foretgn exchange translation adjustments 1.6 (1.1)
Actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit pension schemes 6.7 26.3
Group share of change in fair value of cash flow hedges within jointly controlled entities (net of tax} {1.3) -
7.0 25.2
Tax in respect of the above (1.5} {8.3)
Income and expense recognised directly in equity 5.5 16.9
Profit for the year 40.8 58.2
Total recognised income and expense for the year 46.3 75.1
Effect of adoption of 1AS 32 and 1AS 39 {net of tax) on 1 January 2005
Hedging reserve {9.7)
Fair value reserve 0.9
37.5
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 44.8 733
Minority interests 1.5 1.8
Total recognised income and expense for the year 46.3 75.1
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

At 31 December 2005

2005 2004

Note fm im
Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment i 100.9 £9.9
Intangibie assets 12 62.3 20.3
Retirement benefit assets 3 6.4 46
Investments in jointly controlled entities 13 62.7 65.1
Other investments 14 4.7 6.8
Deferred tax assets 15 35.2 353
Total non-current assets 272.2 202.0
Current assets
Inventories 16 21.2 18.0
Income tax receivable 0.2 04
Trade and other receivables 17 459.7 389.1
Cash and cash equivalents 18 180.9 202.7
Total current assets 662.0 610.2
Total assets 934.2 812.2
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Borrowings 19 (17.0} (17.4
Derivative financial instruments 27 {0.3) -
Trade and other payables 20 (600.4) (486.2)
Provisions 21 - (1.8}
income tax payable (13.3) (24.4)
Total current liabilities (631.0) ({529.8)
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 19 (73.1} {56.5)
Retirernent benefit liakilities 31 (74.3) (89.8)
Deferred tax liahilities 15 {6.0) 8.1
Provisions 21 - (0.4}
Total non-current liabilities {153.4) {154.8}
fotal liabilities (784.4) (684.6)
Net assets 149.8 127.6
Equity
Issued share capital 22 107.4 107.1
Share premium 23 8.2 6.8
Reserves 23 (1.0} 6.8
Retained earnings 23 34.1 4.8
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 148.7 125.5
Minority interests 1.1 2.1
Total equity 149.8 127.6

The financial statements wera approved by the Board of Directors on 8 March 2006 and were signed on its behaif by

\)m&wu@ﬂ

John McDonough

Chris Girling
Chief Executive Finance Director
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2005 2004
Note fm m
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit for the year 40.8 58.2
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 20.5 16.8
Prefit on disposal of property, plant and equipment (0.9} -
Share-based payment expense 1.2 0.6
Other non-cash movements (3.2} 30
Share of results of jointly controlled entities (15.6} 9.1}
Nen-opersting profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment - 2.9
Profit on disposal of investments in jointly controlled entities - (7.7
Loss on disposal of businesses - 0.5
Net financing income 4.0 4.1}
income tax expense 11.1 8.6
Operating profit before changes In working capital and provisions 49.9 639
iIncrease in inventories (2.6) (1.9)
{Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (26.4) 16.5
increase in trade and cther payabies 65.1 13.7
Decrease in provisions (2.2} {0.3)
Cash generated from operations before pension scheme contribution 83.8 2919
Contribution to PME pensicn scheme (10.0) -
Cash generated from operations 73.8 919
Financial expenses paid (4.6) (3.5
Income taxes paid {(19.5) (12.7}
Net cash flows from operating activities 49.7 75.7
Cash flows from investing activities
Disposal of property, plant and equipment 7.3 6.9
Disposal of investments in jointly controlied entities 6.6 20.2
Disposal of other non-current investments 3.4 0.9
Financial income received 7.4 7.2
Dividends received from jointly controlled entities 8.4 7.3
Disposal of businesses, net of cash disposed of - 4.3
Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired 30 (37.1) -
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (34.2) {(14.8)
Acquisition of intangible assets (4.3} (0.2)
Acquisition of equity in and loan advances to jeintly controlled entities (2.3} (1.0
Net cash flows from investing activities {50.8} 222
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from the issue of share capital 1.7 0.4
Draw down of other loans 3.4 2.2
Repayment of bank loans (2.8} (5.6)
Payment of finance lease liabilities (3.7 2.9)
Dividends paid to equity holders of the parent (16.1} (6.4
Dividends paid to minority interests (2.5} (2.0
Net cash flows from financing activities (20,0} (243
Net {decrease)}/increase in cash and cash equivalents {21.1) 7386
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 189.6 116.2
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held 1.2 0.2)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 169.7 189.6
Cash and cash equivalents comprise:
Cash and cash equivalents 180.8 2027
Bank overdrafts (11.2} (13.1)
169.7 1896
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1 Significant accounting policies
Carillion ple (the *"Company’) is a company domiciled in the United Kingdom (UK). The consolidated financial statements of the Company for

the year ended 31 December 2005 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries {together referred to as the ‘Group’} and the Group’s interest
in jointly controlled entities.

The consokidated financial statements were authorised for issuance on 8 March 2006,

{a) Statement of compliance
The Group's financial statements as approved by the Directors have heen prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) adopted for use in the EU. The Company has elected 1o prepare its parent company financial statements in accordance with

UK GAAP These are presented on pages 85 1o 91.

An explanation of hiow the transition 1o IFRS has affected the reported financial position, financial performance and cash fiows of the Group
was pubtished on 30 June 2005 and is available on the Group's website at www carillionplc.com. These consolidated financial statements
include reconciliations of total equity and profit or loss for the comparative period reported under UK GAAP (previous GAAP) to those
reported under IFRS (see note 35).

(b} Basis of preparation
The following accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items which are considered material in relation to the

Group's financial statements.

The financial statements are presented in pounds sterling. They are prepared on the historical cost basis except that the following assets and
liabilities are stated at their fair value: derivative financial instruments and financial instruments classified as available-for-sale.

As permitted by IFRS 1, the Group has adopted 1AS 32 ‘Financial instruments: disclosure and presentation’ and IAS 39 ‘Finandial instruments:
recognition and measurement’ prospectively from 1 January 2005. Conseguently, comparative information for 2004 has been prepared in
accordance with UK GAAP A reconciliation of total equity at 1 January 2005 following the adoption of 1AS 32 and 1AS 39 is given in

note 35,

As permitted by the standard, the Group has opted to adopt the requirements of 185 19 (revised 2004) 'Employee benefits’ early rather than
from f1s effective date of 1 January 2006,

in March 2005, the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee {IFRIC) issued draft guidance on accounting for service
concession arrangements (drafts 312 to D143, (FRIC are currently cansidering the comments received o this draft guidance, with the final
guidance expected 1o be issued in late 2006. Until the final guidance is issued and endorsed by the EU and in the absence of specific
guidance within IFRS, the Group has, from 1 Jaruary 2005, recognised the FRS 5 'Reporting the substance of transactions’ finance debtors
relating to concession arrangements held by PPP jointly controlied entities at amortised cost as defined by 1AS 39. FRS 5 fixed assets relating
to concession arrangements are accounted for in accordance with 1AS 16 'Property. plant and eguipment’. The effect of adopting this policy
is to maintain the accounting within PPP jointly controlled entities in line with existing UK GAAP {with the exception of the treatment of
interest rate derivatives under 145 39), whilst ensuring that the accounting treatment complies with existing IFRS.

Basis of consolidation

{a) Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and subsidiaries controlled by the Company drawn
up to 31 December 2005. Control exists when the Group has direct or indirect power to govern the financial and operating policies of an
entity so as to obtain economic benefits from its activities. Subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date
that controt transfers to the Group untit the date that control ceases, The purchase method s used to account for the acquisition

of subsidiaries.

(b} Joint ventures
A joint vertture is a contractusal arrangement whereby the Group undertakes an economic activity that is subject to joint control with

third parties,

The Group's interasts in jointly controlfed entities are accounted for using the equity method. Under this method the Group's share

of the profits less losses of jointly controlled entities is included in the consclidated income statement and its interest in their net assets fs
included in investments in the consolidated balance sheet. Where the share of losses exceeds the interest in the entity the carrying amount
is reduced to nil and recognition cf further lcsses is discontinued. Interest in the entity is the carrying amount of the investment together
with any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the net investment in the entity.

Where a Group company is party te a jointly controlled operation, that company accounts for the assets it controls, the liabilities and
expenses it incurs and its share of the income. Such arrangements are reported in the consolidated financial statements on the same basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wnie

1 Significant accounting policies continued

Other non-current asset investments

Other non-current asset investments are classified as available-for-sale financial assets and are recognised at fair value. Changes in fair value
in the year are recognised directly in the statement of recognised income and expense, Dividend income from investments is recognised
when the right to receive payment is established.

Goodwill and cther intangible assets

Goodwill arising on acquisitions that have occurred since 1 January 2004 represents the difference between the fair value of the purchase
consideration and the fair value of the identifiable net assets and contingencies of an acguired entity. Consideration includes the attributable
costs of the acquisition. In respect of acquisitions prior to 1 January 2004 geodwill is included on the basis of its deemed cost, which
represents the amount recorded under previous GAAP. This is in accordance with the transitional provisions of IFRS 1,

Positive goodwill is recognised as an asset in the consolidated balance sheet and is subject to annual impairment review. Goodwill arising

on the acquisition of subsidiaries is recognised separately as an intangible asset in the consolidated balance sheet. Goodwill arising on the
acquisition of jointly controlled entities is included within the carrying value of the investment. Negative goodwill is recognised in the income
statemnent immediately.

Under previous UK GAAF, goodwill arising on acquisitions prior to 1 January 1998 was written off to reserves. In accordance with the
transitional provisions of IFRS 3 "Business combinations’, this treatment has continued to be applied for those years. Any goodwill previously
written off to reserves remains in reserves.

Other intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation is based on the useful
economic lives of the assets concerned, which are principally as follows:

Computer software and licences Straight line over 3-5 years
Custorner contracts and lists (PMG)  Reducing balance over 6 years

Impairment

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amertisation and are tested for impairment at each balance sheet date, Assets
subject to depreciation and amaortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised in the income statement based on the amount by which the carrying amount
exceeds the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use.

Construction contracts

When the outcome of & construction contract can be estimated reliably, contract revenue and costs are recognised by reference to the
degree of compietion of each contract, as measured by the proportion of total costs at the balance sheet date to the estimated total cost
of the contract.

insurance claims and incentive payments arising from construction contracts are included where they have been agreed with the client.
Variations and other claims are included where there is reasonable certainty that the amount will be settled. When the outcome of a
construction contract cannat be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised to the extent of contract costs incurred where it is
probable those costs will be recoverable.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised immediately. Contract costs
are recognised as expenses in the pericd in which they are incurred.

Where costs incurred plus recognised profits less recognised losses exceed progress billings, the balance is shown as due from customers
on construction contracts within trade and other receivables. Where progress hillings exceed costs incurred plus recognised profits less
recognised losses, the balance is shown as due 1o customers on construction contracts within trade and other payables.

Pre-contract costs

Pre-contract costs are expensed as incurred untit the Group is appointed preferred bidder. Provided the contract is expected to generate
sufficient net cash inflows to enable recovery and the award of the contract is probable, pre-contract costs incurred post the appointment
as preferred bidder are included in amounts owed by customers on construction contracts. Where pre-contract bid costs are reimbursed at
financial close, the proceeds are initially applied against the asset included in amounts owed by customers on construction contracts.

Any excess recoveries are carried forward as deferred income and released to profit over the period of the contract.
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1 Significant accounting policies continued

Revenue recognition

Revenue represents the fair value of consideration receivable, excluding value added tax, for services supplied to external customers. it also
includes the Group's proportion of work carried out under jointly cantrolied operations during the year, Revenue from service contracts is
recognised by reference to the stage of completion, as measured by reference to services performed to date as a percentage of total services to
be performed. Revenue from construction contracts is recognised in accordance with the Group's accounting policy on construction contracts.

Property, plant and egquipment
Depreciation is based on historical or deemed cost, less the estimated residual values, and the estimated economic lives of the assets
concerned. Freehold land is not deprecisted. Cther tangible assets are depreciated in equal annual instaliments over the period of their

estimated economic lives, which are principatly as follows:

Freehold buildings 40-50 years
Leasehold buildings and improvemernts Periad of lease
Plant, equipment and vehicles 3-10 years

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of the term of the lease or the expected usefu! life of the asset.

Leasing
Operating lease rental charges are charged to the incame statement on a straight-line basis over the life of each lease.

Assets held under finance leases are included in property, plant and equipment at the lower of fair value at the date of acquisition or present
value of the minimum lease payments. The capital element of outstanding finance leases is included in finandial liabilities. The finance charge
element of rentals is charged to the income statement at a constant periodic rate of charge on the outstanding obiligations.

Inventories
Inventories comprise raw materials and land for development and are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is calculated

using the weighted average method.

Taxation
Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. income tax is recognised in the income statement except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised directly in equity, In which case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payabie on taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet
date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for finandial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The amount of deferred tax provided is
based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and Habilities, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only tc the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset
can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax henefit will be realised.

Foreign currencies

in individual entities, transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated into sterling and recorded using the exchange rate
prevailing at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into sterling at the
exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date and the gains and {osses on transtation are included in the income statement,

On consolidation, the balance sheets of overseas entities are translated into sterling at the rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet
date. Incorne statements and cash flows of cverseas entities are translated into sterling at rates approximating to the foreign exchange rates
at the date of the transaction. Gains or losses arising from the consolidation of overseas entities are recognised in the translation reserve.

In accordance with the transitional provisions of IFRS 1 exchange differences that arose prior to 1 January 2004 are presented within the
opening retained earnings reserve at that date.
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1 Significant accounting policies continued

Employee benefits

{a) Retirement benefit cbligations

For defined contribution pension schemes operated by the Group, amounts payable are charged to the income statement as they fall due.

For defined benefit pension schernes, the cost of providing benefits is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit
credit method. The charge to the income statement refiects the current service cost of such obligations. The expected return on plan assets
and the interest cost on scheme liabilities are included within financial income and expenses in the income statement.

The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the balance sheet represents the excess of the present value of scheme liabilities aver the fair
vaiue of scheme assets. Differences between the actual and expected returns on assets and experience gains and losses arising on scheme
fiabilities during the year, together with differences arising from changes in assumgtions, are recognised in the statement of recognised
income and expense in the year. In accordance with the transitional provisions of IFRS 1 cumulative actuarial gains and losses at 1 January
2004 are presented within the opening retained earmings reserve at that date,

The Group's contributions to the schemes are paid in accordance with the rules of the schemes and the recommendation of the actuary.

(b} Other post-retirement henefit ohligations
Certain Group companies provide post-retirement healthcare benefits to its employees. The expected costs of providing these benefits are
accrued over the period of employment and are calculated by independent actuaries based on the present value of the expected liability.

(c) Share-based payments

In accordance with the transitional provisions, IFRS 2 'Share-based payments’ has been applied to share options gratied after 7 November
2002 that had not vested at 1 January 2005. Members of the Group’s senior management team are entitled to participate in the Executive
Share Option Scheme (ESOS) and the Long Term Incentive Plan {(LTIP). In addition, UK employees are able tc participate in the

Sharesave scheme.

The fair values of the ESOS and Sharesave schemes at the date of grant are astimated using the Black-Scholes pricing model. The fair value
of the LTIP scheme is estimated using a bespoke mode! that factors in the probabilities of achieving Total Shareholder Return (TSR)
performance conditions. For all schemes the fair value determined at grant date is expensed on a straight-line bagis over the vesting period,
based on an estimate of the number of shares that will eventually vest.

Borrowing costs
Borrawing costs are capitalised where the Group constructs qualifying assets. All other borrowing costs are written off to the income
statement as incurred.

Borrowing costs incurred within the Group's jointly controlied entities refating to the construction of assets in PPP projects are capitalised
until the relevant assets are hrought into operationat use.

Share capital
The ordinary share capitai of the Company is recorded at the proceeds received, net of directly attributable incremental issue costs.

Consideration paid for shares in the Company held by the Emgloyee Share Ownership Plan {(E30P) Trust are deducted from the retained
earnings reserve. Where such shares subsequently vest in the employees under the terms of the Group’s share option schemes or are sold,
any consideration received is included in the retained earnings reserve.

Provisions
A provision is recognised on the balance sheet when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, and
where it is prebable that an outfiow will be required to settle the obligation.

Provisions for restructuring are recognised when the Group has an approved restructuring plan that has either commenced or been
annaunced publicly. Future operating costs are not provided for.

Financial instruments
Financial instruments are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisicns of the instrument. The principal financial
assets and liabilities of the Group are as follows:

(a) Trade receivables
Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value and then are stated at amortised cost.
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1 Significant accounting pelicies continued

{h) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are carvied in the balance sheet at nominal value. For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand, including bank deposits with original maturities of three months or less. Bank overdrafts

are also included as they are an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

t¢) Trade payables
Trade payables are initially recognised at fair value and then are stated at amortised cost.

{d) Bank and other borrowings
Interest bearing bank loans and overdrafts and other loans are recognised initially at fair value. All borrowings are subseguently stated at
amortised cost with the difference between initiat net proceeds and redemption value recognised in the income statement over the period

1o redemption.

(o) Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date that the contract is entered into and subseguently re-measured in future pericds
at their fair value. The method of recognising the resulting change in fair value is dependent on whether the derivative is designated as a
hedging instrument.

A number of the Group's PEP jointly controlled entities have entered into interest rate derivatives as a means of hedging interest rate risk.
The effective part of the change in fair value of these derivatives is recognised directly in equity. Any ineffective portion is recognised
immediately in the income statement. Amounts accumulated In equity are recycled to the income statement in the periods when the
hedged items will affect profit or loss. The fair value of interest rate swaps is the estimated amount that the Group would receive or pay
to terminate the swap at the balance sheet date.

The Groug also enters into forward contracts in order (o hedge against small and infrequent transactional foreign currency exposures.

In cases where these derivative instruments are significant, hedge accounting is applied as described above. Wwhere hedge accounting is
not applied movements in fair value are recognised in the income statement. Fair values are based on quoted market prices at the balance
sheet date.
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2 Segment reporting
Segment information is presented in respect of the Group’s business segments, which are the primary basis of segrent reporting.
The business segment reporting format reflects the Group's management and internal reporting structure.

Inter-segment pricing is determined on an arm’s length basis. Segment trading results include items directly attributable to a segment
as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonabie basis.

Business segments

The Group is comprised of the foliowing main business segments:

» Construction Services: UK building, development and civil engineering activities and international regional construction services.
* Support Services: Rail infrastructure, roads maintenance, facilities management and other support services.

+ Investments: Equity returns on investments in Public Private Partnership (PPP} projects.

Esminations and

Construction Sevices Support Services Investments unallocated head ottice Consolidated
2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
£m £m £m fm £m fm fm £m fm £m
Revenue from externat
customers 1,050.1 9493 974.6 3908.9 0.8 0.8 - - 20255 18580
inter-segment revenue 0.3 0.5 28.6 259 - - (28.9) (26.4) - -
Segment revenue 1,050.4 9458 1,003.2 934.8 0.8 0.8 (28.9) (26.4) 2,025.5 1,85%.0
Segment trading result 4.8 10.5 399 46.3 0.8 (4.3) - - 455 525
Amortisation/impairment
of intangible assets - - {2.5) - (0.3) (0.3 - - {2.8) {0.3)
Unallocated expenses - - - - - - (10.4) 8.7 {10.4) (8.7)
Group operating profit 4.8 10.5 37.4 46.3 0.5 (4.6} {(10.49) (8.7) 323 43.5
Share of results of
joirtly controlled entities 8.2 32 0.5 0.4 6.9 55 - - 15.6 9.1
Profit from operations 13.0 137 37.9 467 7.4 0.9 {10.4) (8.7) 47.9 52.6
Non-operating items - 101
Net financing income 4.0 4.1
Income tax expense (11.1} (8.6)
Profit for the year 40.8 58.2
Segment assets 306.3 304.3 323.0 185.0 5.3 7.3 - - 634.6 496.6
Investment in jointly
controfled entities 336 26.7 1.2 0.6 28.3 38.2 (0.4} {0.4) 62.7 65.1
Unallocated assets - - - - - - 236.9 250.5 236.9 250.5
Total assets 339.9 331.0 324.2 1856 33.6 455 236.5 250.1 934.2 812.2
Segment liabilities (340.7) (276.4) (229.0) (205.1) (4.3) (8.4) - - (574.0) {489.9)
Unallocated liabilities - - - - - - (210.4) (194.7) (210.4) (194.7)
Total liabilities (340.7) (276.4) (229.0) (205.1) (4.3} (8.4) (210.4) (194.7) {784.4) (634.6)
Net assets/(liabilities) (0.8} 54.6 95.2 {19.5) 293 371 26.1 55.4 149.8 127.6
Capital expenditure 4.0 14.4 29.9 11.3 - — 20.1 1.5 54.0 272
Depreciation and
amortisation 2.4 3.7 12.7 79 e - 4,1 4.7 18.2 16.3
Impairment losses - - 1.0 - 0.3 0.3 - 0.2 1.3 0.5
Geographic segments
United Kingdom £Lrope Rest af the World Consolidated
2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
im £m £m £rn £m fm £m £m
Revenue from external customers 1.796.7 1.524.8 49.2 1881 188.6 146.1 2,025.5 11,8590
Segrent assets 780.4 6809 151 222 138.7 109.1 934.2 812.2

Capital expenditure 32.7 12.5 0.6 2.3 20.7 12.4 54.0 272
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3 Share of results of jointly controlled entities
The Group's share of results of jointly contrailed entities is analysed below:

2005 2004
£m frn
Revenue 258.7 1267
Operating profit 20.3 13.0
Net financing income/{expense) 1.1 (3.4}
Profit before tax and non-operating items 21.4 9.6
Non-cperating items (see note 5) {0.8) 1.5
Profit before tax 206 111
Income tax {5.0) (2.0
Profit for the year 15.6 9.1
The Group's share of the cperating profit of juintly controlled entities arises in the following business segments;
2005 7004
£m £fm
Construction Services 12.1 2.0
Support Services 0.7 0.6
Investments 7.5 104
203 13.0
4 Group operating profit
2005 2004
£m im
Group operating profit has been arrived at after charging/(crediting):
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 15.2 153
Amaortisation of intangible assets 4.0 1.0
Impairment of goodwill relating 1o jointly controlled entities 0.3 0.3
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 1.0 -
impairment of other non-current asset investments - 0.7
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment (0.9) -
Operating lease charges 65.9 57.7
Foreign exchange losses/(gains} 0.3 (0.5}
Auditors’ remuneration
- audit services 1.1 1.0
— non-audit services 0.3 0.4

In addition to the above amounts included in operating profit, KPMG Audit plc were paid fees associated with the acquisition of Planned
Maintenance Group Limited and Mowlem plc in the year ended 31 December 2005 amounting to £1.7m (2004: £nil). Such fees are treated
as attributable costs of acquisition.

Carillion’s share of the fees paid to KPMG Audit plc and its associates by Group jointly controlled entities in respect of audit services
amounted to £3.1m (2004: £0.1my).
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5 Non-operating items

2005 2004
Tax Tax
crediy/ credit/
Gross (charge} Gross {charge}
fm £m £m £m
Group
Profit on disposal of investments in jointly controlled entities - - 77 -
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment - - 2.9 (0.9)
Loss on disposal of business - - {0.5) 2.1
- - 10.1 1.2
Jointly controtled entities:
{Lossyprofit on disposal of business (0.8) - 1.5 0.2
Total (0.8} - 116 1.4

The loss on disposal of business in jointly controlled entities ¢f £0.8m in 2005 relates to the sale of a small non-core plant hire business,
The Group's share of the profit on disposal of business in jointly controlled entities in 2004 relates to 3 non-core contracting business in the
Republic of Ireland.

The profit on disposal of property, plant and eguipment in 2004 of £2.9m arose on the transfer of rail maintenance contracts to Network Rait.

& Financial income and expenses

2005 2004
fm frn
Financial income
Bank interest receivable 43 43
QOther interest receivable 3.1 3.1
Expected return on retirement plan assets 47.0 44.9
54.4 52.3
Financial expenses
Interest payable on bank loans and overdrafts (1.7} (1.5)
Other interest payable and similar charges (2.9} (2.5
Interest cost on retirement plan obligations (45.8) (44.2)
(50.4) (482
Net financing income 4.0 4.1

Other interest payable and simifar charges inciudes finance lease charges of £1.5m (2004: £1.0m).
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7 Payroll costs and employee numbers

2005 2002

£m £m

Wages and salaries 3580 3817
Social security costs 38.0 49 4
Pension costs 14.4 27.0
Equity settled transactions 1.2 0.6
4116 458.7

Pension costs represent amounts in respect of the Group’s UK and oversaas schemes as described in note 31 and includes £4.4m
(2004: £2.2m) in respect of defined contribution schemes.

Detailed information concerning Directors’ remuneration, including their pension benefits and long term incentive arrangements, is set out
in the Remuneration Report on pages 35 to 41,

The average number of employees during each year, including Directors, was:

2005 2G04

Number Mumber

Investments 18 17
Support Services 10,353 9,839
Construction Services 4,967 6,912
Corporate Centre 290 560
15,628 17,328

UK 11,867 11,975
Overseas 3,761 5,353

15,628 17,328

In addition to the above, there are 12,259 staft (2004: 7,306) employed within the Group’s jointly controlled entities located in the
Middle East.

8 Income tax
Recognised in the income statement

2005 2004
fm £fm

Current tax expense
Current year
- UK it 16.4
— Overseas - 0.7
Adjustments for prior years
- UK (2.1} (3.4)
— Qverseas - -
Total current tax 9.9 13.7
Deferred tax expense
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 2.9 (5.5}
Adjustments for prior years {0.8) 0.4
Total deferred tax 2.1 (5.1

Total income tax expense in the income statement 11.1 8.6
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8 income tax continued
Reconciliation of effective tax rate
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Z005 2004
fm £m
Profit before tax 51.9 66.8
Tax of jointly controlled entities 5.0 2.0
56.9 68.8
Income tax at UK standard corporation tax rate 30% 17.1 30% 206
Permanent differences 2.3 2.5
Unrelieved trade losses 0.2 0.6
Capital iterns not taxable (0.6) (5.7)
Amortisation of intangible assets 0.8 6.1
Fttect ot tax losses utilised {0.1) {0.9)
Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions (0.6) {0.6)
Over provided in prior years {2.1) (3.4
Effect of unrecognised timing differences {¢.9) (2.6}
Total tax {including tax of jointly controlled entities) 16.1 106
Tax of jointly controlled entities (5.0} (2.0}
Group income fax expense 11.1 8.6
Tax asset/{liability) recognised directly in equity
2005 7004
£m frn
Deferred tax on actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit pension schemes 2.0 8.0
Current tax on foreign exchange translation adjustmernits {0.5) 0.3
Tax recognised in statement of recognised income and expense 1.5 83
Deferred tax on equity settled transactions 0.3 0.2
Total tax recognised in eguity 1.8 8.5
9 Dividends
The following dividends were paid by the Company:
2005 2004
Pence per Perice per
£m share £m share
Current year interim 6.0 2.8 56 2675
Previous year final 10.1 4,825 10.8  5.175
16.1 7.625 16.4 7.85
The following dividends were declared by the Company in respect of each financial year:
2005 2004
Pence per Pence par
£m share £m share
Interim 6.0 2.8 56 2.675
Final 14.6 5.2 10.1 4.825
20.6 8.0 15.7 7.5

The interim dividend for 2004 includes 1.0 pence per share that represents a return to shareholders of a proportion of the profit generated

on the disposal of PPP equity shareholdings.

The final dividend for 2005 of 5,2 pence per share was approved by the Board on 8 March 2006 and has not been included as & liability
@s at 31 December 2005. The amount expected to be paid in respect of the 2005 final dividend of £14.6m includes the dividend payable
on 65.8m new Carillion shares issued following the acquisition of Mowlern plc on 23 February 2006.




Laridinn pls Section 07
Annual Report and Accounts 2005 Finanoiai Staternents

60

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wes

10 Earnings per share

{a) Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share at 31 December 2005 is based on the profit sttributable to equity holders of the parent of
£39.3m (2004: £56.4m) and a weighted average nurnber of ordihary shares outstanding during the year ended 31 December 2005 of
210.5m {2004: 208.4m), calculated as follows:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

i millions of shares 2005 2004
lssued ordinary shares at 1 January 214.3 214.0
Effect of own shares held by £S0P and QUEST {4.1} (5.7
Effect of shares issued in the year 0.3 0.1
Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 31 Decemher 210.5 2084

(b) Underlying performance

A reconciliation of profit before tax and basic earnings per share, as reported in the income statement, to underlying profit before tax and
basic earnings per share is set out below. The adjustments made in arriving at the underlying performance measures are made 10 Hiustrate
the impact of non-trading and non-recurring items,

Profit before tax 2005 2004
fm fm

Profit before tax as reported in the income statement 51.9 £6.8
Amartisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations 2,5 -
impairment of goodwill 0.3 0.3
Lossf{protity on disposal of investments and businesses 0.8 (11.8}
One-off impact of Netwaork Rait transfer - 7.2y
Underlying profit before tax 55.5 48.1
Basic eartings per share 2005 2004
Perce Pence

per share  per share

Basic earnings per share as reported in the income statement 18.7 271
Amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations 1.2 -
Impairment of goodwill 0.1 0.1
Loss/(profity on disposal of investments and businesses 0.4 (6.2)
One-off impact of Network Rail transfer - (2.4)
Underlying basic earnings per share 204 18.6

(C} Diluted earnings per share
The calculation of diluted earnings per share at 31 December 2005 is based con profit as shown in note 10(a) and a weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding calculated as follows:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted)

in millions of shares 2005 20064
Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 31 December 2105 2084
Effect of share options in issue 31 2.8
Weighted average number of ordinary shares {diluted) at 31 December 213.6 2112
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11 Property, plant and equipment

Land Plant,
and  equipment
buildings and vehicles Total
im £m £m

Cost
At 1 January 2005 16.9 57.6 74.5
Acquisitions Q.5 1.2 1.7
Additions 5.2 445 49.7
Disposals (6.3) (13.8) {20.1)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange rates 0.8 4.8 5.6
At 31 December 2005 17.1 9243 1114
Depreciation and impairment losses
At 1 January 2005 39 0.7 4.6
Depreciation charge for the year 1.0 14.2 15.2
Impairment charge - 1.0 1.0
Disposals (1.1) {(12.2} (13.3)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange rates 0.5 2.5 3.0
At 31 December 2005 4.3 6.2 10.5
Net book value
At 1 January 2005 13.0 56.9 69.9
At 31 December 2005 12.8 88.1 100.9
Cost
At 1 January 2004 9.7 56.4 76.1
Additions 1.6 254 270
Disposals 4.2 (23.8) (28.0)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange rates 0.2) (0.4) (0.6)
At 31 December 2004 16.9 57.6 74.5
Depreciation and impairment losses
At 1 January 2004 4.6 55 101
Depreciation charge for the year 1.3 14.0 15.3
Disposals (1.9) {18.5) 204
Effect of moverments in foreign exchange rates (G.1) (0.3) (0.4
At 31 Decernber 2004 3.9 0.7 4.6
Net book value
At 1 January 2004 151 50.9 66.0
At 31 Decernber 2004 13.0 56.9 £9.9

Included in the net book value of plant, egquipment and vehicles is £34.8m (2004: £23.0m) in respect of assets held under finance leases
and hire purchase contracts. The leased equipment secures lease obligations as disclosed in note 19.

Land and buildings include land with a cost of £1.0m {2004: £1.0m) that is not being depreciated.

The net book value of plant, equipment and vehicles includes £11.4m of costs associated with the development of new computer systems
for the Group’s human resources and finance functions. Depreciation of these costs over a period of between 5 and 8 years will commence
when the assets are brought into operational use during 2006.

Due to a change in the nature of contractual arrangernents in 2005 with Network Rail, a number of items of rail plant have become
redundant. Consequently, an impairment provision of £1.0m, included within administrative expenses, has been made tc write down these
items 1o their estimated recoverable amount.
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12 Intangible assets

Customer Total arising Computer
contracts from business software and
Goodwill and lists combinations licences Total
fm £m £m £m fm

Cost
At 1 January 2005 19.1 - 191 3.7 228
Acquisitions 34.5 6.2 40.7 1.0 41.7
Additions - - - 4.3 4.3
Disposals - - - (0.3) (0.3)
At 31 December 2005 53.6 6.2 59.8 8.7 68.5
Amortisation and impairment losses
At 1 January 2005 - - - 2.5 2.5
Arnortisation for the year - 2.5 2.5 1.5 4.0
Disposals - - - (0.3} ©.3)
At 31 December 2005 - 2.5 2.5 3.7 6.2
Net book value
At 1 January 2005 19.1 - 19.1 1.2 20.3
At 31 December 2005 53.6 3.7 57.3 5.0 62.3
Cost
At 1 lanuary 2004 204 - 204 35 239
Additions - - - 0.2 0.2
Disposals (1.3 - (1.3} - (1.3}
At 31 December 2004 19.1 - 181 37 228
Amaortisation and impairment {osses
At 1 January 2004 - - 1.5 1.5
Amortisation for the year - - - 1.0 1.0
At 31 December 2004 - - - 25 2.5
Net book value
At 1 January 2004 20.4 - 204 2.0 22.4
At 31 December 2004 ES - 19.1 1.2 20.3

Goodwill of £34.5m and customer contracts and lists of £6.2m arose in 2005 on the acquisition of Planned Maintenance Group Limited
{PMG) as disclosed in note 30. Goodwill has arisen on the acquisition of PMG because 3 large number of customer contracts and
refationships do not meet the criteria for separate recognition or could not be reliably measured.

The net bock vaiue of computer software and licences includes £1.6m of costs associated with the development of new computer systems
for the Group’s human resources and finance functions. Depreciation of these costs over a period of five years will commence when the
computer systemns are brought into operational use during 2006.

Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing goodwilt
The following units fiave significant amounts of goodwill:

2005 2004

£m £m

Rail projects 121 12.1
Citex Management Services contracts 7.0 7.0
Planned Maintenance Group Limited 34.5 -
53.6 19.1

The recoverable amount of the gocdwill attaching o cash-generating units is based on value in use calculations. Those calculations use cash
flow projections discounted at a pre-tax discount rate of 10%.
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12 Intangible assets continued
Amortisation charge
The amortisation charge is recognised in the following line items in the income statement:
2005 2004
£m fm
Cost of sales - -
Administrative expenses 4.0 1.0
4.0 1.0
13 Investments in jointly controlled entities
Equity Loan Total
investments advances  investments Goodwill Tatal
£m £m £m £fm £m
Cost
At 1 January 2005 26.7 241 50.8 1.1 51.9
Equity investments 53 - 5.3 - 5.3
Disposals (1.1} - {1.1) - (1.1}
Net loans advanced - 0.7 0.7 - 0.7
At 31 December 2005 30.9 24.8 55.7 1.1 56.8
Share of post-acquisition results
At 1 January 2005 (as previously reported) 13.6 - 13.6 - 13.6
Effect of adoption of 1AS 32 and IAS 39 on 1 January 2005 (9.7) - (9.7} - (9.7)
At 1 January 2005 (as restated) 3.9 - 3.9 - 3.9
Exchange rate movements 1.1 - 1.1 - 1.1
Share of results for the year after taxation 15.6 - 15.6 - 15.6
Share of change in fair value of cash flow hedges (net of tax) (1.3) - {1.3) - {1.3)
Disposals 0.2 - 0.2 - 0.2
Distributions received (12.9) - {(12.9) - {12.9)
At 31 December 2005 6.6 - 6.6 - 6.6
impairment fosses
At 1 January 2005 - - - 0.4 0.4
Impairment charge - — e 0.3 0.3
At 31 December 2005 - - - 0.7 0.7
Net book value
AY 1 january 2005 {as restated) 30.6 24.1 s4.7 0.7 55.4
At 31 December 2005 37.5 24,8 62.3 0.4 62.7
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13 Investments in jointly controlied entities continued

Fquity investments amounting to £5.3m relates to the acguisition of 50% interests in a number of development jointly controlled entities in
Canada. Of the £5.3m, £1.6m was paid in cash and £3.7m arose from the capitalisation into equity of current {oan receivables due from the
jointly controlied entities concerned. No goodwilt arose on any of these investments, During the year, the Group disposed of its 50%
interest in a small developrnent jointly controlled entity and a LiFT project for net proceeds of £8.6m.

Equity Loan Total
nwestments advances  investmernits Goodw Total
fm frr £m £ £

Cost
At 1 January 2004 332 331 66.3 1.1 67.4
Equity investments 1.1 - 1.1 - 1.1
Disposals {7.6) {5.5) {13.1) - (13.1)
Reciassified as other non-current asset investment - (3.4) (3.4) - (3.4}
Net loans repaid - G.H o.n - (0.1)
At 31 December 2004 26.7 241 50.8 1 519
Share of post-acguisition resuits
At 1 january 2004 116 - 1.6 - 1.6
Exchange rate movements 0.6 - 0.6) - (0.6)
Share of results for the year after taxation 9.1 - 9.1 - 9.1
Reclassified as other non-current asset investrnent 0.2 - 0.2 - 0.2
Disposals 0.6 - 0.6 - 0.6
Distributions received {7.3) - (7.3) - (7.3)
At 31 December 2004 13.6 - 13.6 - 13.6
Impairment 1osses
At 1 January 2004 - - - 01 01
Impairment charge - - - 0.3 0.3
At 31 December 2004 - - - .4 0.4
Net book value
At 1 January 2004 44 8 331 77.9 1.0 78.9
At 31 December 2004 40.3 24.1 64.4 0.7 65.1

The Group's aggregate share of net assets of jointly controlled entities is analysed below. Borrowings within jointly controlled entities
amounting to £819.6m (2004: £515.0m) are without recourse to the Carillion Group.

2005 2004
epp P
projects Other Total projects Cther Total
£m £m £m £m fm fm
Non-current assets 56.2 49.8 106.0 57.1 10.5 676
Cash 147.7 7.2 154.9 350 5.8 40.8
Qther current assets 656.2 88.8 745.0 4274 86.1 5135
Share of gross assets 860.1 1458 1,005.9 5195 1024 6219
Current borrowings (9.4) (1.8} (11.2) (6.6) (2.5) 9.1}
Current liabilities {34.8) (82.8) (117.6) (12.6) (33.1) (52.7}
Non-current borrowings (784.2) (24.2) (808.4) {466.00 (39.9) (505.9)
Non-current liabilities 2.2) (2.3) {4.5) (1.3) - (1.3)
Provisions {15.9) - (15.9) {12.6) - (12.6)
Share of gross liabilities {846.5) (111.1) {857.6) (506.1) {75.5) (581.6)
Share of net assets excluding derivatives 13.6 34.7 48.3 13.4 26.9 40.3
Financial instrument derivatives {10.8) - {10.8}) - - -
Share of net assets 2.8 34.7 37.5 13.4 26.9 40.3
Loan advances 24.8 - 24.8 241 - 24.1

Total investment in jointly contralled entities 276 34.7 62.3 37.5 26.9 64.4
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13 Investments in jointly controlled entities continued

Non-current assets and other current assets within PPP projects include cumuiative capitalised interest amounting to £3.8m (2004: £3.8m)
and £49.4m (2004: £43.6m); respectively.

Financial instrument derivatives within PPP projects relate to interest rate swaps entered into by the jointly controlied entities concernad
as a means of hedging interest rate risk and are stated net of deferred tax. In accordance with 1AS 39, these derivatives are accounted
for as cash flow hedges with movements in fair value each year recognised directly in eguity.

14 Other investments

£m
Cost/tair value
At 7T January 2005 (as previously reported) 6.8
Effect of adoption of 1AS 32 and IAS 39 on 1 January 2005 1.3
At 1 January 2005 (as restated} 8.1
Disposals (3.4)
At 31 December 2005 4.7
Net book value
At 1 January 2005 (as restated) 8.1
At 31 December 2005 4.7
There has been no movement in the fair value of other investments during the year.
The disposal in the year of £3.4m relates to the sale of a portfolio of unlisted investments.

tm
Cost/air value
At 1 January 2004 5.3
Disposals (1.5)
impairment (0.2}
Reclassified from investments in jointly controlied entities 3.2
At 31 December 2004 68
Provisicn
At 1 January 2004 05
Disposals (0.5)

At 31 December 2004 _

Net book value
At 1 January 2004 4.8
At 31 December 2004 6.8
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15 Deferred tax assets and liabilities
Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferrad tax assets and liabilities are attributable to timing differences relating to the following:

Assels {1abiities Net

2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004

fm fm fm £m fm fm

Property, plant and eguipment 6.0 52 (3.8) (1.5) 22 3.7

Other investments - - (0.4) - 0.4 -

Employee benefits 226 272 (2.2) (1.7) 20.4 255

Working capital 30.0 24 .4 {19.3) (23.5) 10.7 0.9

Cther items 0.1 - (3.8) (2.9) 3.7 2.9

Tax assets/liabilities) 58.7 56.8 {29.5) {29.0) 29.2 27.2

Set off of tax {23.5) {21.5) 23.5 21.5 - -

Net tax assets/liabilities) 35.2 353 {6.0) (8.1 29.2 27.2

Unrecognised deferred tax assels

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items:

2005 2602

£m £m

Deductible temporary differences - -

Tax losses {(19.68) (19.4)

(19.6) (19.4)

The tax losses do not expire under current tax legislation. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses due to the
lack of certainty concerning the quaritum and timing of future years taxable profits of the companies concerned.

Movement in temporary differences during the year

At THect of At Exchange AL

1 January 2005 as  adoption of ¥ January 2005 rate Recognised Recognised 31 December

previously stated IAS 39 as restated movements  Acquisitions in income in eguity 2005

£m £m £m £m £fm £m £fm £m

Property, plant and eguipment 3.7 - 3.7 - - (1.5) - 2.2
Cther investments - {C.4) {0.4) - - - - (0.4}
Empioyee benefits 25.5 o 25.5 - 4.0 7.1 (2.0) 204
Working capital 0.9 - 0.9 (0.2) 3.0 7.0 - 10.7
Other items (2.9) - (2.9) - - (0.8) - (3.7}
Eguity settled transactions - - - - - 0.3 (0.3) -
27.2 (0.4) 26.8 {0.2) 7.0 (2.1) (2.3) 29.2

At At

1 January Recognrsed Recognised 31 December

2004 Disposais i income in equity 2004

fm fm £m £m £m

Froperty, plant and equipment 5.2 - {1.5) - 3.7
Employee benefits 328 - 0.7 (8.0) 25.5
Working capital 4.1 (0.2) 5.2 - 0.9
Other items (3.4} - 0.5 - (2.9)
Equity settied transactions - - 0.2 (0.2) -
30.5 (0.2} 5.1 (8.2) 272
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16 inventories

2005 2004
fm fm
Raw materials and consumables 5.8 4.6
Development work in progress 15.4 13.4
21.2 18.0
17 Trade and other receivables
2005 2004
£m £
Trade receivables 134.0 1299
Arnourds owed by customers on construction conracts 2109 181.2
Other trade receivables and prepayments 54.8 43.0
Amounts owed by jointly controlled entities 37.0 16.8
Amounts owed under jointly controlled operations 23.0 18.2
459.7 3891
At 31 December 2005, tfrade receivables include retentions of £41.1m {2004: £32.1m} relating ta canstruction contracts.
18 Cash and cash equivalents
2005 2004
fm £m
Bank balances and cash in hand 73.7 53.9
Call deposits with a maturity of less than three months 107.2 1488
Cash and cash eguivalents 1809 2027
Bank overdrafts (11.2} (131

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows 169.7 185.6
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19 Borrowings
This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Group's interest-bearing loans and borrowings. For more infermation

about the Group’s exposure 10 interest rate and foreign currency risk, see note 27.

2005 T04
£m £m
Current liabilities
Bank overdrafts 11.2 13.1
Finance lease obligations 3.9 34
Other loans 1.9 0.9
17.0 17.4
Non-current liabilities
Bank ioans 34,0 32.8
Finance lease otligations 338 20.8
Other loans 5.3 29
73.1 56.5
Total borrowings 90.1 73.9

All bank loans and overdrafts are unsecured and bear interest at floating rates linked to LIBOR. Cther loans and finance lease obligations
are secured on the assets to which they relate.

Following the acquisition of Mowlem plc on 23 February 2008, non-current fiability bank loans of £34.0m were repaid and replaced by long
term bank loans under a new committed facility of £430m.

Finance lease liabilities
Finance lease liabilities are payable as follows:

NEITIIN Mirimum

lease iease
payments Interest Principal payments Interest Principal
2005 2005 2005 2004 2004 2004
£m £m £m £m £m Im
Less than one year 5.8 (1.9) 39 4.6 (1.2) 34
Between one and five years 20.9 {5.6) 15.3 131 (3.5} 96
More than five years 19.8 {1.3) 18.5 12.3 (1.1 112
46.5 {(8.8) 37.7 3G.0 (5.8) 24.2

Under the terms of the lease agreements, no contingent rents are payable,

20 Trade and other payables

2005 2004

£m Em

Trade payables 314.1 2737
Amounts owed to customers on construction contracts 57.5 429
Other tax and social security costs 24.8 18.4
Amounts owed to jointly controlled entities 26.2 14.7
Amounts owed under jointly controlled operations 6.8 2.3
Cther creditors 56.2 46.7
Accruals and deferred income 1148 87.5

6004 4862
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21 Provisions
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Restructuring Dilapidations Total

£m £m £m

AL 1 January 2005 18 .4 2.2
Pravision released - {0.4) {0.4)
Provision used during the year (1.8) - (1.8)

At 31 December 2005

The restructuring provision related 1o losses on the closure of Stranger Asia Limited which was completed during the year. The dilapidations
provision has been released during the year as no further lizhilities are anticipated.

22 Share capital

2005 2004
fm fm
Authorised
325,000,000 ordinary shares of 50p each 162.5 162.5
2005 2004
Number Mumber
million £11 rrillien fm
Issued and fully paid
At 1 fanuary 214.3 107.1 214.0 107.0
New share capital subscribed 0.6 c.3 0.3 0.1
At 31 December 214.9 107.4 2143 1671
23 Reserves
Reconciliation of movement in reserves
Share Translation Hedging Fair value Merger Retained
premium reserve reserve reserve reserve earnings Total
£m £m fm £m £m £m £m
At 1 January 2005 (as previously reported) 6.8 (1.4) - - 8.2 4.8 18.4
Effect of adoption of 1AS 32 and IAS 39 {net of tax) - - (9.7) 0.9 ~ - (8.8)
At 1 January 2005 (as restated) 6.8 (1.9) (9.7) 0.9 8.2 48 9.6
Total recognised income and expense - 2.1 (1.3) - - 44.0 44.8
New share capital subscribed 14 - - - - - 1.4
Share options exercised by employees - - - - - 0.7 0.7
Equity-settied transactions {net of tax) - - - - - 0.9 0.9
Transfer between reserves - - 0.2 - - (0.2) -
Dividends to equity holders of the parent - - - - (16.1) (16.1}
At 31 December 2005 8.2 0.7 (10.8) 0.9 8.2 341 41.3
At 1 January 2004 6.5 - - - 82 (54.7) (40.0}
Total recognised income and expense - (1.4) - - - 747 733
New share capital subscribed 0.3 - - - - - 0.3
Share options exercised by employees - - - - - 0.8 0.8
Equity-settled transactions {net of tax) - - - - - 0.4 0.4
Dividends to equity holders of the parent - - - - - (16.4y  (16.4)
At 31 December 2004 6.8 (1.4) - - 8.2 4.8 18.4

Translation reserve

- The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the transiation of the financial statements of foreign
operations that are not integral to the cperations of the Group, as well as from the translation of liabilities that hedge the Group’s net
investment in foreign operations. The translation reserve also includes any related current taxation.
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23 Reserves continued

Hedging reserve

The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow hedging instruments related
t¢ hedged transactions that have not yet occurred, together with any related deferred taxation.

Fair value reserve
The fair value reserve includes the cumulative net change in the fair value of available-for-sale investments until the investment is
derecognised, together with any related deferred taxation.

Merger reserve
The merger reserve arcse on the demerger from Tarmac plc on 29 July 1999,

Retained earnings

Retained earnings include the reserve for the Company’s own shares which comprises of the cost of the Company's shares held by the
Carillion Employee Share Ownership Plan (ESOP}. The shares held by the FSOP may subsequently be awarded to employees under the
Group’s share incentive schemes. The movements in the reserve for own shares included within retained earnings are as foliows:

2005 2004

£m £m

At 1 fanuary {5.4) (6.2)
Share options exercised by employees 0.7 0.8
At 31 December (4.7} (5.4)

At 31 December 2005, the ESOP held 3,715,612 (2004: 4,238,013) of the Companys shares. The ESOP has elected to waive all dividends
except for a total payment of 1 pence at the time each dividend is paid.

In addition to the ESOP, the Company has also established a Qualifying Employee Share Ownership Trust {{QUEST). During the year, the
QUEST subscribed for 700,631 shares in the Company at market value for a consideration of £1.7m. In addition, 1,129,680 ordinary shares
in the Company held by the QUEST were transferred to empioyees of the Group following the exercise of options under the

Sharesave Scheme. At 31 December 2005 the total number of shares held by the QUEST amounted to 390,334 (2004: 819,383} and had

a market value of £1.2m (2004: £1.9m). The QUEST has elected to waive all dividends in excess of 0.01 pence per share.

24 Reconciliation of movements in consolidated equity shareholders’ funds

2005 2004
£m £m
Recognised income and expense 448 733
New share capital subscribed 1.7 0.4
Share options exercised by employees 0.7 0.8
Equity settled transactions {net of tax} 0.9 0.4
Dividends paid to equity holders of the parent (16.1) (16.4)
Net addition to equity shareholders’ funds 32.0 58.5
Opening equity shareholders’ funds {as restated) 116.7 67.0
Closing equity shareholders’ funds 148.7 1255
Cpening equity shareholders” funds (as previously reparted) 125.5
Effect of adoption of IAS 32 and 1AS 39 on 1 January 2005 (8.8}

Opening equity shareholders’ funds (as restated) 116.7
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25 Share-based payments
The Group has established a share option programme that entitles key management personnel and senior employees to purchase shares in
the Company. Fuli details of each aption scheme can be found in the Remuneration Report on page 35.

The recognition and measurement principies in IFRS 2 have not been applied to grants of options before 7 November 2002 in accordance
with the transitional provisions in IFRS 1 and IFRS 2.

The terms and conditions of option schemes within the scope of IFRS Z are as follows, wheraby all options are settled by physical delivery of shares:

Grant date Number of instruments Vesting conditions Contractual life of options

LTIP 1 July 2003 653,339 Three years of service based 3 years
on Total Shareholder Return
compared to comparater group

ESOS 1 july 2003 1,391,355 Three years of sarvice and increase 10 years
in EPS of RPI plus a minimum of
4% over a rolling three year period

LTIP 31 March 2004 702,442 Three years of service based on 3 years
Total Shareholder Return compared
10 comparator group

ESOS 31 March 2004 1,111,463 Three years of service and increase 10 years
in EPS of RPt plus a minimum of 4%
over a rolling three year period

LTIP 15 March 2005 993,975 Three years of service based on 3 years
Total Shareholder Return compared
to comparator group

ESOS 15 March 2005 225,704 Three years of service and increase 1G years
in EPS of RPI plus a minimum of 4%
over a rolling three year period

Total share options 5,078,278

In addition to the above, the Group has a number of ESOS options schemes and two sharesave schemes that have a grant date
before 7 November 2002.

The number and weighted average exercise prices of all of the Group's share options is as foliows:

Weighted Weighled
average Number average Number
exertise price of options axerCise price ot options
2005 2005 2004 2004
Outstanding at the beginning of the year 119.1p 8,566,431 99.8p 10,797,317
Forfeited during the year 134.9p {596,844) 59.0p  {2,765,049)
Exercised during the year 105.8p {1,680,246) 77.8p (1,279,742
Granted during the year 44.9p 1,219,677 1133p 1,813,905
Outstanding at the end of the year 108.8p 7,509,018 119.1p 8,566,431
Exercisable at the end of the year 3,022,649 744,297

The options outstanding at 31 December 2005 have an exercise price in a range from nil up to 242.75 pence and a weighted average
contractual life of 4 years.
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25 Share-based payments continued
The fair value of services received in return for share options granted are measured by reference to the fair value of share options granted,
The estimate of the fair value of the services received is measured based on a Black-Scholes model in respect of the ESOS and a TSR model

in respect of LTIP using the following assumptions:

7005 2004 2003
LT ESQKS TP ESCS e ESO5

Fair value of share options and assumptions
Fair value at measurement date 149.0p 76.0p 33.85p  56.73p 75.14p  46.36p
Share price at grant date 2450p  245.0p 187.0p  187.0p 155.0p 159.0p
Exercise price - 2430p - 187.Cp - 159.0p
Expected volatility 40.07% 40.05% 430%  43.0% 43.6% 436%
Option life 3years 4 years Iyears 4 years 3years 4 years
Expected dividend vield 255%  2.55% 3.46%  3.46% 366% 3.66%
Risk-free interest rate {based on national government bonds) n‘a 4.86% nla  462% nfa  3.69%

The expected volatility is based on the historic volatility (calculated based on the weighted average remaining life of the share options},
adjusted for any expected changes to future volatility due to publicly available information.

Emgployee expenses

2005 2008
£m £m
Equity settled share options granted in:
2003 0.3 03
2004 0.4 0.3
2005 0.5 -
Total expense recognised as employee costs 1.2 0.6
26 Guarantees and contingent liabilities
2005 7004
£m £m
Guarantees in respect of jointly controlled entities and joint controlied operations 10.9 11.5
Guarantees in respect of deferred equity payments in PPP jointly controtled entities 3.0 4.5
Guarantees in respect of letters of credit issued by banks in respect of deferred equity
payments in PPP jointly controlled entities 26.4 12.2

Guarantees and counter indernnities have been given to financial institutions in respect of the provision of performance and other contract
refated bonds that are issued in the normal course of business.

Claims under contracts and other agreerents, including joint arrangements, are outstanding in the normal course of business.

The Group, in the normal course of its construction activities, is the subject of certain legal proceedings. The resolution of these proceedings
is regarded as unlikely to succeed or to have & material effect on the Group's financial position.

27 Financial instruments

Firancial risk management

Financial risk management is an integral part of the way the Group is managed. in the course of its business, the Group is exposed primarily
to foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, liquidity risk and credit risk. The overall aim of the Group's financial risk management policies is to
minimise potential adverse effects on financial performance and riet assets.

The Group's treasury departiment manages the principal financial risks within policies and operating parameters apgroved by the Board of
Directors. Treasury is not a profit centre and does not enter into speculative transactions.
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27 Financial instruments continued

Foreign currency risk

The Group operates in a number of overseas regions, primarily Canada, the Middie East and the Caribbean. In order to protect the Group’s
balance sheet from the impact of foreign exchange rate volatility, foreign currency denominated net assets of overseas operations that
exceed £10m equivalent are hedged, as a minimum, at least 50% of the net asset value. Net investment hedging is achieved through
borrowings denominated in the relevant foreign currencies. Group pelicy is 1o recognise gains and losses from the effective portions of the
hedges in equity and to recognise ineffective portions immediately in the income statement.

Profits arising within overseas operations are not hedged unless it is planned to make a distribution. Such distributions are then treatad as
currency transactions and hedged accordingly.

The Group has small and infrequent transactional foreign currency expesures that are hedged using forward contracts as described above.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest bearing debt is gredominantly foreign currency denominated borrowings for hedging net assets of overseas operations
and sterling borrowings to finance short-term working capital requirements. Such borrowings are subject to floating rates of interest linked
to LIBOR. No interest rate hedging is currently undertaken by the Group’s subsidiaries. However, a number of the Group’s PPP jointly
controlled entities have enterad into interest rate swaps.

Liguidity risk

The Group's policy on liquidity risk is to ensuire that sufficient cash is available to fund ongoing operations without the need 1o carry
significant net debt over the medium term. The Group’s principal borrowing facilities are provided by a group of core relationship banks
in the form of syndicated and bi-lateral loans and short-term overdraft faciities. The quanium of committed borrowing facilities available
to the Group is reviewed regularly and is designed to exceed forecast peak gross debt levels.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises on financial instruments such as trade receivables, short-term hank deposits and foreign currency hedging. Policies and
procedures exist to ensure that customers have an appropriate credit history. Short-term bank deposits and foreign currency hedging
transactions are executed oniy with highly credit-rated autherised counter parties based on ratings issued by the major rating agencies.
Counter party exposure positions are monitored regularly so that credit exposures to any one counter party are within predetermined limits.

Overall, the Group considers that it is not exposed to a significant amount of credit risk.

Derivative financial instruments

2005

Assets  Liabilities
£m £m
Forward foreign currency contracts - 0.3

I addition to the above, a number of the Group's PPP jointly controlled entities have entered into interest rate derivatives as a means of
hedging interest rate risk. Interest bearing debts and the associated interest rate derivatives within these PPP jointly controlled entities are
without recourse to the Group. At 31 December 2005, the Group's share of the total net fair value liability of interest rate derivatives in PPP
iointly controlled entities amounted to £45.1m, of which £15.5m {and the related deferred tax asset of £4.7mj} has been recognised directly
in equity.

Effective Interest rates
The Group's interest hearing borrowings were subject to effective interest rates at the balance sheet date as follows:

Range (%)
Bank overdratfts 3.48 tc 6.00
Bank loans 3.81t05.13
Finance lease obligations 3.10 to 6.54

Other ioans 4.19 to 5.97
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27 Financial instruments cortinued
Foreign currency exposure
The carrying amount of the Group's barrowings denominated in foreign currency is as follows:

2005 2004

fm fm

United States of America Doliars 14.8 131
Canadian Dollars 46.3 29.1
Danish Krona 10.6 1.4
Euro 0.2 0.2
Swedish Krona - 34
71.% 57.2

Of the total foreign currency borrowings of £71.9m (2004: £57.2m), the amount of borrowings used for hedging overseas operations
amounts to £34.0m (2004: £32.8m). The foreign exchange {oss of £4.0m (2004: £0.9m gain) on translation of the borrowings into sterling
has been recognised in the translation reserve.

Fair values
The book and fair values of the Group’s financial instruments at 31 Decemnber 2005 and 31 December 2004 are not materially different.

Maturity of financial liabilities
The maturity profile of the carrying amount of the Group's non—current borrowings is as follows:

Finance

Bank feans  Other loans leases Totat
£m £fm £m fm

31 December 2005
Between one and two years - 2.3 3.6 59
Between two and three years - 3.0 42 7.2
Between three and four years 34.0 - 36 376
Betwaen four and five years - - 3.9 39
More than five years - - 18.5 18.5
34.0 5.3 338 731

Finance
Bank loans  Other loans leases Total
fm £ £m fm
31 December 2004

Between one and two years - 1.0 2.4 34
Between two and three years - 1.8 2.3 4.2
Between three and four years - - 2.7 2.7
Between four and five years 328 - 22 35.0
More than five years - - 11.2 11.2
32.8 29 208 56.5

Borrowing facilities
The Group has the following undrawn committed borrowing facilities available at the year end in respect of which all conditions precedent
had been met:

2005 2004
£m fm
Expiring between two and five years 156.0 137.2

Following the acquisition of Mowlem plc on 23 February 2006, new committed borrowing facilities have been arranged totalling £490m,
which replace the existing committed facilities. Undrawn committed borrowing facilities measured against the new facility amount would
be £112.5m expiring hetween one and two years and £343.5m expiring between two and five years.
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27 Financial instruments continued

Comparative period

As permitted under the transitional rules of IFRS 1, the Group has adopted [AS 32 and IAS 39 prospectively from 1 January 2005. Comparative
information for 2004 is therefore prepared in accordance with the UK GAAP requirements of FRS 13 "‘Derivatives and other financial instruments:
disclosure’. The majority of the reguirerents of FRS 13 have been reflected above. The following additional disclosures are required:

Funding and liguidity

2004
Weighted
average
period unti
matlrity of
Assets Liabilities fakilities
£ £m Years
Nil coupon.
Sterling 0.1 33 2.8
Canadian Dollars 9.5 0.4 2.0
Omani Rials 5.0 2.6 1.5
Other 0.1 - -
14.7 6.3 22
Foreign currency exposure
The Group’s working capital currency exposures are:
Net foreign currency menetary assestiiabifties)
LS Dollars Euro Danish Kr Other Totat
fm £m f£m £1m fm
Functional currency of Group operation
At 31 December 2004
Sterling 0.3 G.4 {7.3) 0.2 (6.4)
28 Financial and capital commitments
2005 20604
fm £m
Commitments for capital expenditure in subsidiaries 1.8 36
Commitments for capital expenditure in jointly controlled entities and jointly controlled operations - -
Commitments for equity and subordinated debt in PPP jointly controlied entities 30.7 16.4
32.5 20.0
Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows:
2005 2004
Property Other Property Cther
£m £m fm £m
Within one year 6.0 9.5 5.5 8.4
Between one and five years 13.9 13.9 11.3 10.9
Over five years 22.0 0.2 16.1 0.4
41.9 236 32.9 19.7

The Group leases properties and vehicles for operational purposes. Property leases vary considerably in length up to @ maximum period of
99 years. Vehidle ieases typically run for a period of 3'2 years, None of the leases includes contingent rentals.
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29 Related parties
Identity of related parties
The Group has a related party relationship with its jointly controlled entities and key management personnel.

Transactions with key management personnel

The Group's key management personnel are the Executive and Non-Executive Directors as identified in the Remuneration Report on page 35.

In addition to their salaries, the Group also provides non-cash benefits to Executive Directors, and contributes to a post-employment defined

benefit plan on their behalf. Executive Directors also participate in the Group’s share option programme.
Non-Executive Directors receive a fee for their services to the Carillion pic Board.

Full details of key management personnel compensation is given in the Remuneration Report on pages 35 to 41,

Other than disclosed in the Remuneration Report, there were no other transactions with key management personnel in either the current

or preceding year.

Transactions with jointly controlied entities.
Sales to the Group’s jointly controlled entities, which are in the normal course of business and on commercial terms were:

2005 2004
£m £m
PPP jointly controlied entities

Accommodation Services (Holdings) Limited 0.4 1.3
Ellenbrook Holdings Limited 2.5 2.2
The Hospital Company {Swindon & Marlborough) Holdings Limited 10.8 26.0
The Hospital Cormpany {Oxford John Radcliffe) Holdings Limited 51.7 51.5
The Hospital Company {QAH Portsmouth) Holdings Limited 46.6 -
UK Highways Services Limited 7.0 8.2
UK Court Services (Manchester) Heldings Limited 0.2 38
Sheppey Route (Holdings) Limited 39.1 29.2
RSP {Holdingsy Limited 450 -
Others 3.3 39
206.6 126.1

Other jointly controlled entities
CR Thanet Limited Partnership 22.8 30.3
Modern Housing Solutions Limited 1.2 -
CarillionEnterprise Limited 1.0 -
Others - 0.2
231.6 156.6
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30 Acquisitions

On 8 March 2005, the Group acquired the entire share capita! of Planned Maintenance Group Limited {PMG) on an adjusted price basis
for £33m in cash pursuant to the completion accounts process. The company and its subsidiaries operate in the building services and
maintenance industry and its results are reported in the Sugpport Services segment. In the period from acquisition to 31 December 2005
PMG contributed profit before tax of £3.5m to the consolidated profit for the period. if the acguisition had occured on 1 January 2005,
Group revenue would have been £2,054.1m and profit before tax would have been £52.4m for the year ended 31 December 2005,

Fffect of acquisitions
The acquisition had the following effect on the Group’s assets and liabilities:

Acguiree’s net assets at the acquisition date

Carrying Fair value Recognised

amounts adjustments values

fm fm £m

Property, plant and equipment 1.7 - 1.7
intangible assets 1.0 6.2 7.2
Deferred 1ax asset 7.0 - 7.0
Inventories 0.2 - 0.2
Trade and other receivables 38.9 - 38.9
Cash and cash equivalents 0.1 - 0.1
Borrowings (3.0) - (3.0}
Trade and other payables {38.9) - {38.9)
Retirernent benefit liabitities {13.5) - (13.5)
Net identitiable assets and liabilities (6.5) 6.2 (0.3)
Goedwill recognised on acquisition 34.5
Consideration patd, satisfied in cash* 34,2
Net debt acquired 2.9
Net cash outflow 371

*Includes costs associated with the acquisition of £1.2m.

The fair value adjustment of £6.2m relates to customer contracts and lists that meet the criteria for recognition as an intangible asset.

31 Retirement benefit obligations
Carillion operates a number of pension schemes for eligible employees as disciosed below:

Carillion Staff and ‘B” Pension Schemes
Both schemes are defined benefit schermes and sre closed to new entrants. Existing members continue to accrue benefits for future service.

Actuarial valuations of the above schemes were undertaken by the Trustees” independent actuaries as at 31 December 2002 using the
projected unit method. The market value of the schemes’ assets at that date were £316.7m and £80.9m respectively, which represented
approximately 81% and 90% of the benefits that had accrued to members at that date, after allowing for future increases in salaries. The
contribtitions paid during the year were £11.7m (2004: £13.5m} in respect of the Carillion Staff Pension Scheme and £1.4m (2004: £1.6m)
in respect of the Carillion *8’ Pension Scheme.

The contribution rates include an alfowance for funding the past service deficits identitied at the 2002 valuation date over the remaining
average working life of the active scheme members. The contribution rates will be reviewed following the results of the valuations being
carried aut 3t 31 December 2005. The Group expects to pay contribution rates of 20% in respect of the staff scheme and 50% in respect
of the ‘B’ scheme of pensionable salaries respectively in 2006.

The Pension Protection Fund {PPF) levy is payable in addition to the funding plan.
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31 Retirement benefit obligations continued
Cariffion Public Sector Pension Scheme
The scheme is & defined benefit scheme. The scheme remains open to eligible employees transferring from the public sector as part of the

commercial obligations under PFl, PPP and Best Value contracts with public sector employers.

An actuarial valuation of the scheme was undertaken by the Trustees’ independent actuaries as at 31 December 2004 using the attained
age method. The market vaiue of the schemes’ assets at that date was £74.9m, which represented approximately 82% of the benefits
that had accrued to members at that date, after allowing for future increases in salaries. The contributions paid during the year were
£3.9m (2004; £1.8m}.

Following the transfer of the Metropolitan Police Authority contract in 2004, the bulk transfer of members o the incoming service provider
was completed during 2005.

The contribution rates agreed include an aliowance for funding the past service deficit by the end of December 2015. An immediate
payment of £2.2m was rmade in Decemnber 2005 in respect of the period 1 January 2006 to 31 December 2006, The Group expects
o pay 23.2% of pensionable salaries in 2006. Additicnal payments of £2.3m per annum will commence from 1 January 2007 to

31 December 2015.

The Pension Protection Fund (PPF) levy is payable in addition to the funding plan.

The PME Staff Pension and Life Assurance Scheme
Planned Maintenance Group Umited, whose principal trading subsidiary is Planned Maintenance Engineering Limited (PME), was acquirad in
March 2005. The PME Staff Pension Scheme is a defined benefit pension scheme and is closed to new entrants. £xisting members continue

10 accrue benefits for future service.

An actuarial vafuation of the scheme was undertaken by the Trustees’ independent actuaries as at 31 August 2004 using the attained age
method. The market value of the scheme's assets at that date was £27 .4m, which represented approximately 73% of the benefits that had
accrued to members at that date, after allowing for future increases in salaries.

As part of the purchase agreement a lump sum payment of £10.0m was paid to the scheme in the post acquisition period. The contributions
paid during the period since acquisition were £1.2m. The Group expects to pay 16.5% of pensionable salaries in 2006.

The Pension Protection Fund (PPF} levy is payable in addition to the funding plan.

Shared Cost Sections of the Railways Pension Scheme (RPS)
Employees of GTRM and Centrac, and former employees of British Rail transterred to these businesses, have pension provision via Shared
Cost Sections of the Railways Pension Scheme. Both the GTRM and Centrac Sections are closed to new entrants.

Shared cost arrangements are such that the employer and members share the cost of future service liabilities on a 60/40 split respectively
and any surplus or deficit emerging over time is dealt with on a similar basis. The contributions paid by the employer during the year were
£4.5m (2004: £4.5m) for GTRM and £0.2m (2004 £0.6m) for Centrac.

Independent actuaries appointed hy the Railways Pension Trustee Company Limited carried out s formal valuation of the Railways Pension
Scheme at 31 December 2004 using the projected unit method for GTRM and the attained age method for Centrac,

The market values of the scheme assets of the GTRM Section and Centrac Section at 371 December 2004 were £195.4m and £27.4m
respectively, which represented 93.6% and 102% of benefits that had accrued to members at that date, after taking account of future
increases in salaries, contributions payable and reserves. The contribution rates agreed for the GTRM Section indlude an allowance for
funding the past service deficit by the end of june 2015.

Following the transfer of rail maintenance contracts to Network Rail in 2004, the bulk transfer of members from the GTRM section of the
RPS 1o the Network Rail section of the RPS was completed during 2005,

The Group expects 1o pay 16.02% of pensionable salaries in respect of the GTRM Section untit 30 June 2006 and 22.08% of pensionable
salaries until the end of 2006. The Group expecis to pay 11.25% of pensionable salaries in respect of the Centrac Section until 15 June
2006, 16.62% of pensionable salaries until 30 June 2006 and 16.56% until the end of 2006,
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31 Retirement benefit obligations continued

Other UK and overseas schemes

The Group operates three UK defined contribution schemes, the Carillion Pension Plan, the PME Defined Contribution Plan and the Carillion
Retirement Plan (closed to new entrants since 2001). In addition, the Group operates a Stakeholder Plan ('Stakehoider Plus’).

The Carillion Pension Plan commenced on 1 April 2003. The majority of new employees are eligible to join this plan. Emplayees contribute
a minimum of 5% and the employer a minimurn of 7% of basic salaries. Up to 3% of any additional voluntary contributions paid by
employees is matched by the employer resulting in & maximum employer contribution of 10% of basic salary. Death in service lump sum
benefits are provided in addition. Contnbutions during the year were £1.4m {2004: £0.7m).

Employees of Caritlion Services and Carillion Health who are not efigible for the Cariliion Pension Plan are invited to participate in the
Carillion Stakeholder Plus managed by Merrill Lynch Pensions Limited. Employees contribute 5% and the employer 6.5% of basic salary.
Death in service Jump sum benefits are provided in addition. Contributions during the year were £0.5m (2004: £0.5m).

The PME Defined Contribution Plan commenced in April 1999, All new PME employees are offered membership of the plan. Employees
contribute 4% of basic pay and the Group pays 5% of basic pay {inclusive of a 1% allowance for insurance premiums and audit fees).
Contributions during the period since acquisition were £1.0m.

Contributions to the Carillion Retirement Plan during the year were £0.1m (2004: £nil).
Stakeholder pensions are also provided by B&CE Insurance and Scottish Widows where required by Working Rule Agreements.

Carillion Construction Limited is an admitted body in the Surrey Pension Fund and the Warwickshire Pension Fund. Carillion Services Limited
is an admitted body in the Rertfordshire Pension Fund. All sections were granted & fully funded past service position and employer
contributions are paid in accordance with the actuary's recommendations. The cantributions and investment returns are estimated to be
sufficient to maintain the fully funded past service position at 31 Decernber 2005, Contributions during the year, which have been accounted
for on a defined contribution basis, were £0.4m (2004; £0.3m).

The Carillion Group operates a defined benefit scheme for emplioyees of Carillion Canada Inc managed locally and suppiemental
arrangements in respect of certain executives, the Senior Executive Retirement Plan and & healthcare plan, the Post Retirement Benefit Plan.
The Group also operates defined benefit and defined contribution schemes for employees of Carillion Rail Sverige AB again managed locally.

Contributions during the year were £nil {2004: £nil) in respect of the Carillion Canada Inc defined benefit scheme, £0.1m (2004: £0.1m} in
respect of other post retirement benefits for senior Canadian emgloyees, and £0.9m (2004: £0.6m) in respect of the Swedish and Norwegian
defined benefit and defined contribution schemes.

I1AS 19 disclosures
The principal assumptions used by the independent qualified actuaries in providing the [AS 19 position were:

2005 2004
UK Canada [1]4 Canatla
Rate of increase in salaries 4.05% 3.25% 4.00% 3.25%
Rate of increase in pensicns 2.80% 2.25% 2.75% 2.25%
Inflation rate 2.80% 2.25% 2.75% 2.25%
Discount rate 4.75% 5.00% 5.30% 6.00%

The market values of the schemes’ assets, which are not intended to be realised in the short term, may be subject to significant change
before they are realised. The present values of the schemes’ liabilities are calculated by reference to the investment return on Grade AA
corporate bends. The assumptions used do not necessarily represent the investment return that may be achieved.

For all schemes the mortality basis is in line with the basis used by the respective Trustee at the last valuation. As the Trustees review their
assumptions according 10 the valuation cycle the Group will seek independent advice on any appropriate changes.
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31 Retirement benefit obligations continued

The overall expected rate of return on assets is determined by reference to local long term interest rates, the yield on gilts or Treasury stock
and the Actuary’s recommendation on the allowance for the potential long term extra return from investing in equities. No credit has been
taken for the potential extra yield above gilts or Treasury stock for investment in corporate debt when determining the projected pension
cost charged to the income statement.

Carillion Canada Inc operates an unfunded healthcare scheme for retired employees. For the purposes of the actuarial valuation of the
scheme the irmmediate medical cost trend is 9% per annum falling to 5% per annum by 2010. An increase of 1% in the medical cost trend
would increase the scheme liabilities by £0.6m and the total service cost by £0.04m. A decrease of 1% in the medical cost trend would
reduce liabilities by £0.5m and total service cost by £0.03m.

Carillion has adopted immediate recognition of any actuarial gains or losses through the Statement of Recognised Income and Expense as
permitted under 1AS 19.

The 1AS 19 position for the schemes is as follows:

Expected rate Public FIE Railways

of return % Staff B’ Sector Staff Pension Canada Total
31 Pecember 2005 UK Canada £m £m fm £m fm £m £m
Equities 6.70 7.00 2279 38.1 51.7 218 113.4 11.9 464.8
Government bonds 3.85 4.00 181.7 51.8 16.1 17.2 36.0 2.7 305.5
Corporate bonds 4.61 5.00 69.0 15.1 13.1 5.6 - 2.2 105.0
Other 4.36 2.50 58 1.2 4.3 1.9 7.0 0.4 20.6
Market value of scheme assets 484.4 106.2 85.2 46.5 156.4 17.2 895.9
Present vatue of funded
scheme liabilities (523.9) (105.2) {99.0) (50.8) (166.6} (12.8} (958.3)
Present value of unfunded
scheme liabilities - - - - - {5.5) {5.5)
Total (deficitisurplus (39.5) 1.0 (13.8) {4.3) (10.2) {1.1} (67.9)
Related deferred tax asset 20.4
Net pension liability (42.5)

Expected rats of Pubirc Railways
return % Statt ‘B Sectar Pension Canada Total

31 December 2004 UK Carada fm tm £m £m £m £m
Eguities 7.15 7.00 205.7 378 45% 145.0 9.1 4436
Government bonds 4.40 430 140.2 42.4 16.8 25.6 36 2286
Corporate bonds 5.16 5.70 63.9 13.8 10.7 - 0.9 89.3
Other 461 2.50 5.0 1.1 1.3 78 0.1 15.3
Market vaiue of scheme assets 414.8 852 74.7 i7/8.4 13.7 776.8
Presant value of funded scheme liabilities {472.3} (95,1} (87.2) {194.4} (8.3} (858.3)
Present value of unfunded scheme liabilities - - - - (3.7) (3.7
Total (deficit¥surplus - {(57.5) 0.1 (12.5) (16.0) 0.7 {85.2)
Related deferred tax asset mmmmm 255
Net pension hability (59.7)
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31 Retirement benefit obligations continued
Expense recognised in the Incoma Statement
2005 2004
£m im

(Charge)/credit to operating profit
Current servica cost relating to defined benefit schemes

{12.0)  (24.5)

Past service cost relating to defined benefit schemes - {0.3)
Settlernents 7.0 -
Defined contribution schemes {4.4) (2.2

Total

{(144) (27.00

Credit/{charge) to other finance income

Expected return on pension scheme assets 47.0 44.9
Interest cost on pension scheme liabilities {45.8) {(44.2)
Net finance return 1.2 0.7
Total actuarial gains and losses recognised in the Statement of Recognised income and Expense 6.7 26.3

Change in defined benefit obligation
Obligation at 1 January

Current service cost

Interest cost

Contributions from scheme members
Past service cost

Acquisitian of PMG

Benefits paid

Actuariat gains and losses

Effect of exchange rate changes
Settlements

(862.0) (832.0)
(17.0)  (24.5)
(45.8)  (44.2)

(52) (54
- (0.3)
(43.0} -
923 461
(1988) (1.7
(2.2) -
118.0 -

Obligation at 31 December

(963.7) (862.0)

Change in the fair value of scheme assets

Fair value at 1 January 776.8 7226
Expected return on scheme assets 47.0 449
Acquisition of PMG 29.5 -
Contributions from the employer 32.9 220
Contributions from scheme members 5.2 54
Benefits paid (92,3 (a6
Actuarial gains and losses 205.5 28.0
Effect of exchange rate changes 2.2 -
Settlements 111.0) -
Fair value at 31 December 8958 7768

The amount included in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit schemes is as follows:

Present value of defined benefit obligations

(963.7) (862.0)

Fair value of scheme assets 8958 7708
Net deficit (67.9) (85.2)
Schemes i surglus (within non-current assets) 6.4 4.6

Schemes in deficit (within non-current liabilities)

(74.3) (89.8)

(67.9) (85.2)
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31 Retirement benefit obligations continued

History of experience gains and losses

2005 7004 2003 2002 2001

fm fm £m m £m

Present value of the defined benefit obligation {963.7) (862.0) {832.0) (674.1) {710.6)
Fair value of scheme assets 8958 776.8 7226 598.5 796.4
(Deficity/surplus (67.9) (85.2) {109.4) {75.6) 85.8
Experience gains and losses on scheme liabilities {198.8) a7 0.2 4.9) -
Percentage of defined benefit obligation 21% - - 1% -
Difference between expected and actual return on scheme assets 205.5 28.0 66.3 (1369) 871
Percentage of scheme assets 23% 3% 9% (23%3 {11%)

32 Post balance sheet events
On 23 Fehbruary 2006, the Group acguired the entire share capital of Mowlem plc. The consideration of £341m was satisfied by the issue of
65.8m Carillion shares and cash of £117m.

33 Accounting estimates and judgements
Management has discussed with the Audit Committee the development, selection and disclosure of the Group’s critical accounting policies

and estimates and their application.

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date, that have a significant
risk of causing & material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below:

Construction contracts

in determining the revenue and costs to be recognised each year for work done on construction contracts, estimates are made in relation
1o final out turn on each contract. Management continually review estimated final out turn on contracts and make adjustments

where necessary.

Impairment of goodwill
Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the future cash flows expected 1o arise from the cash-generating unit
to which the goodwill is attached. Note 12 provides details of the carrying value of goodwill.

Defined benefit pension scheme valuations
In determining the valuation of defined benefit pension scheme assets and labilities, a number of key assumptions have been made. The
key assumptions, which are given below, are largely dependent on factors outside the control of the Group:

s Expected return on plan assets
s inflation rate

« Mortality

* Discount rate

* Salary and pension increases

Details of the assumptions used are included in note 31.

34 Principal subsidiaries, jointly controlied entities and jointly controlled operations
A list of significant investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and jointly controlled operations, including the name, country of
incorporation and proportion of ownership interest is given on page 84.

35 Explanation of transition to IFRS
These are the Group's first consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS.

The accounting policies set out in note 1 have been applied in preparing the consotidated financial statements, including
comparative information for the year to 31 December 2004 and the preparation of an opening IFRS balance sheet at 1 January 2004
{the Group’s date of transition)

In preparing its opening IFRS balance sheet and comparative information for the year t¢ 31 December 2004, the Group has
adjusted amounts previcusly reported in financial statements prepared in accordance with previous GAAP In addition, following
the adoption of IAS 32 and 1AS 39, the Group has adjusted previously restated total equity at ¥ January 2005,
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35 Explanation of transition to IFRS continued
The reconciliation of total equity at 1 January 2004 and 31 December 2004 is given below:
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31 December 2004

1 January 2004
£m

£m

Total equity as previously reported under UK GAAP 186.9 151.6
Adjustments on adoption of IFRS:

Emplayee henefits (69.3} (90.0)
Business combinations 32 -
Share-based payments 0.3 0.2

Deferred tax (2.9} (3.4)
Proposed dividends 103 10.8

Other (0.7 0.1

Total IFRS adjustments {59.3} {82.3)
Total equity under IFRS 1276 69.3

The reconciliation of total equity at 1 lanuary 2005 following the adoption of 1AS 32 and IAS 39 is given below:

1 January 2005
£m

Total equity as reported under IFRS at 31 December 2004

127.6

Adjustments on adoption of 145 32 and IAS 39:

Group share of fair value of cash flow hedges in jointly controlied entities
(net of deferred tax assets of £4.2m}

Fair value of available for sale investments

Deferred tax on the above

(9.7)
1.3
{0.4)

Total 1AS 32 and IAS 39 adjustments

(8.8)

Total equity under IFRS at 1 January 2005

118.8

The reconciliation of profit for the year to 31 December 2004 is given belaw:

Year to
31 December 2004
£m

Loss for the period under UK GAAP

{16.0)

Adjustments on adoption of IFRS:

Employee benefits

Business combinations
Share based payments

Deferred tax
QOther

22
718
(0.2}

0.5
(0.1}

Total IFRS adjustments

74.2

Profit for the period under IFRS

58.2

Employee benefits

tAS 19 replaces SSAP 24 "Accounting for pension costs’ and is broadly similar to the requirements of FRS 17 'Retirement benefits’.
Disclosure of the potential impact of FRS 17 has been included in the Group’s annual repart and accounts since 2001. As permitted by 1AS
19, the Group has opted to recognise immediately and in full the actuarial gains and losses arising in each accounting period in the
Statement of Recognised income and Expense. This treatment is similar to the requirements of FRS 17.

Under IAS 19 the surplus or deficit relating to defined benefit schemes are recognised on the balance sheet of the Group. Although the
methodology for determining the income statement charge is similar to SSAP 24, the actuarial assumptions are different. In particular, 1AS 19
requires the discount rate used in the evaluation of scheme liabilities to be based on market yields on high quality corperate bonds

at the balance sheet date. In contrast, SSAP 24 required the use of long-term investment return rate to discount liabilities. The difference in
approach to the discount rate used can lead to a more volatile income statement charge under IAS 19 compared to SSAP 24,
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35 Explanation of transition to IFRS continued

Business combinations
IFRS 3 ‘Business combinations’ covers the accounting for acquisitions, which is dealt with under UK GAAP by FRS 6 'Acquisitions and

mergers’, FRS 7 “Fair values in acquisition accounting’, and FRS 10 "Goodwill and intangible assets’.

IFRS 3 strictly prohibits the use of merger accounting that in certain circumstances can be applied under UK GAAP. Although goodwill
arising on business combinations is recognised as an asset in the balance sheet under both IFRS and UK GAAF IFRS 3 prohibits the
amortisation of goodwill. Instead, IFRS 3 reguires goodwill to be subject to annual impairment reviews. In addition, goodwill previously
written off to reserves under UK GAAP remains in reserves under IFRS and is not recycled through the income statement on disposal of
the business to which it relates.

The adjustment in the table above relates primarily to goodwill previously written off to reserves on the original acquisitions of Crown
House Engineering and Carillion BTP, which were both disposed of in 2004. The impatrment of goodwill under IFRS refates to UK
Highways Services Limited reflecting the reduction in future cash flows as we maove nearer to the end of it's maintenance contract in 2007.

Share-based payments
IFRS 2 “Share-based payments' replaces UITF 17 ‘Employee share schemes’ under UK GAAP.

IFRS 2 requires the fair value cost of providing employee share option schemes to be charged to the income statement, and in respect
of equity settled share-based payments, recognised directly in eauity. This differs to the UITF 17 approach under which the charge to
the income statement is hased on the intrinsic vaiue of the share options. The scope of IFRS 2 is wider than UITF 17 as it relates to all
share-based payments. Consequently, Save as You Earn (SAYE) schemes are within the scope of IFRS 2, whereas under UITF 17 they are
specifically exempt.

Deferred tax
IAS 12 'Income taxes’ is the IFRS equivalent of FRS 16 ‘Current tax’ and FRS 19 'Deferred taxation’ under UK GAAP

There is no change to the basis of calculating current income tax as a result of adopting IAS 12. However, the basis of calculating deferred
tax changes from an income statement approach under FRS 19 to a balance sheet approach under 1AS 12. The balance sheet approach
compares the tax value with the carrying value of assets and liabiiities at the balance sheet date. Of the additional requirements of 1AS 12,
the most significant is the requirement to recognise a deferred tax liability in respect of the unremitted earnings of overseas entities, where
their distribution cannot he controlled or planned by the Group.

Proposed dividends
IAS 10 (revised 2003} "Events after the balance sheet date’ is the FRS equivalent of SSAP 17 "Accounting for post balance sheet events’
in the UK. Both standards are similar except in respect of the accounting treatment of dividends.

Under 1AS 10, dividends declared and approved by shareholders after the balance sheet date are not permitted to be recognised as a

liability at the balance sheet date. This differs from the UK GAAP treatment of proposed dividends, which are accrued for the in the financial
period to which they relate. The adiustment to equity at 31 December 2004 and 1 January 2004 reflects the reversal of the proposed
dividend accrued in the 2004 and 2003 financial staterments respectively.

Financial instruments

The accounting for, and presentation of, financial instruments is dealt with under IFRS by IAS 32 ‘Financial instruments: disclosure and
presentation’ and IAS 39 ‘Financial instruments: recegnition and measurement’. Under UK GAAP there is no comprehensive standard which
addresses the accounting for financial instruments. In the UK, FRS 13 ‘Darivatives and other financial instruments: disclosures’ reguires

certain disclosures 1o be made.

IAS 39 requires the fair value of derivative financial instruments to be included on balance sheet, whereas under UK GAAP they are nct
recognised. The Group does not enter into significant derivative transactions. However, a number of the Group’s PPP jeintly controlled
entities enter into interest rate swap derivatives, These are accounted for as cash flow hedges in accordance with 145 39 and the Group's
share of the movements in fair value are recognised directly in the hedging reserve within equity provided the hedge is effective.

In addition, other hon-current asset investments are classified as available-for-sale assets in accordance with 1AS 39, These investrents
are held on the balance sheet at fair value, with movements in fair value between reporting periods recognised in the fair value reserve
within equity.




Company Balance Sheet

At 31 December 2005

section 07

Financial Statements

Annaal Report and Accounts

Note 2005 2004
restated
fm fm
Fixed assets
Investments in subsidiary undertakings and joint ventures 3 192.2 1553
Current assets
Debtors 4 192.3 106.8
Cash at bank and in hand 1171 1434
3094 2502
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 5
Borrowings (2.9) (194
Cther creditors (207.9) (131.5)
{2108y (1509
Net current assets
Cue within one year 69.9 72.0
Debtors due after more than one year 4 28.7 27.3
98.6 993
Total assets less current liabilities 290.8 2546
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 6
Borrowings (43.3) (43.1)
Net assets 247.5 211.5
Financed by:
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 7 107.4 107.1
Share premium 8 8.2 6.8
Profit and loss account g 131.9 976
Equity shareholders’ funds 2475 2115

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 8 March 2006 and were signed on its behaif hy:

Chris Girling

John McDonM
Chief Executive

Finance Director
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Notes to the Company Financial Statements

1 Principal accounting policies
The following accounting pelicies have been applied consistently in dealing with items which are considered material in relation to the

Company's financial statements, except in respect of the matters noted below,

Changes in accounting policies
During the vear the Company adopted FRS 17 ‘Retirement benefits’, FRS 20 ‘Share-based payments’, FRS 21 "Events after the balance

sheet date’, FRS 25 ‘Finandial instruments: disciosure and presentation’, FRS 26 ‘Financial instruments: measurement” and FRS 28
"Corresponding amounts’. The adoption of these standards represents a change in accounting policy and the comparative figures have
been restated accordingly.

The effect of the change in accounting policy on adoption of FRS 21 was to recognise the final proposed dividend for the year ended 31
Decembrer 2004 of £10.1m in the cusrent year. The final proposed dividend for the current year of £14.6m will be recognised in the
following year as it has vet to be approved.

The effect of the adoption of FRS 26 is 1o include on balance sheet the fair value of forward foreign currency contacts that previously were
not required to be recognised. As permitted by FRS 26, the Company has adopted its requirernents prospectively from 1 January 2005.
The effect of the adoption of FRS 26 on net assets is nil at 1 January 2005 and a reduction of £0.2m at 31 December 2005.

The adopticn of FRS 17, FRS 20, FRS 25 and FRS 28 has had no effect on net assets in either the current or preceding year.

Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention and in accordance with applicable UK accounting

standards and law.

Taxation

Deferred tax assets or liabilities arise from timing differences between the recognition of gains and losses in the financial statements and
their recognition in the tax computation that have arisen but not reversed by the balance sheet date, except as otherwise required by FRS 19.
Liabilities are calculated on & non-discounted full provision basis. Assats are calculated on the same basis, but are recognised only to the
extent that is it probable that they will be recovered,

Fixed asset investments
In the Company’s financial statements, investments in subsidiary undertakings and joint ventures are stated at cost, less provision for

any impairment.

Leasing

The Company enters into finance lease arrangements on behalf of subsidiary companies. As permitted by SSAP 21 "Accounting for leases
and hire purchase contracts’, the assets relating to the finance leases are included in the financial staternents of the subsidiaries concerned.
The capital element of outstanding finance leases is included within borrowings. The finance charge element of rentals is charged to the
orofit and loss account at a constant periodic rate of charge on the outstanding obligations,

Own shares
Company shares held by the Employee Share Cwnership Plan (ESOP) trust are presented within the profit and loss account reserve until such
time as the interest in the shares is transferred unconditionally to the emgloyees. Costs of administering the trust are charged to the profit

and loss account as incurred.

The ESOP trust is regarded as a guasi subsidiary under FRS 5 "Reparting the substance of transactions’ and its assets, liabilities and results are
consclidated into the financial statements of the Company.

Foreign currencies
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated into sterling and recorded using the contracted exchange rate. Monetary assets

and liabilities denominated in foreign currendies are translated into sterling at the exchange rates ruling at the relevant balance sheet date
and the gains and losses on translation are included in the profit and loss account.

Cash flow statement
A cash flow statement has not been presented as permitted by FRS 1 (revised) 'Cash flow statements’.
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Notes to the Company Financial Statements i

1 Principal accounting policies continued

Share-hased payments

In accordance with the transitional provisions, FRS 20 "Share-based payments’ has been applied to share options granted after 7 Novernber
2002 that had not vested at 1 January 2005, Members of the Company’s senior management team are entitled to participate in the
Executive Share Qption Scheme (ESCS) and the Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP). In addition, UK employees are able to participate in the
Sharesave scherme. The fair values of the ESOS and sharesave schemes at the date of grant are estimated using the Black-Scholes pricing
model, The fair value of the LTIP scheme is estimated using a bespoke model that factors in the probabilities of achieving Total Shareholder
Returr (TSR} performance conditions. For all schemes the fair value determined at grant date is expensed on a straight line basis over the
vesting pericd based on an estimate of the number of shares that will eventually vest.

Financial instruments

The Company’s principal financial assets and liabilities are cash at bank and in hand and borrowings. Cash at bank and in hand is carrried
in the balance sheet at nominal value. Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost. In addition, the
Company enters into forward contracts in order to hedge against small and infrequent transactional foreign currency exposures, Forward
contracts are measured initially at fair value, with changes in fair value during the year recognised in the profit and loss account. Fair values
are based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date.

Financial guarantee contracts

Where the Company enters into financial guarantee contracts to guarantee the indebtnesss of subsidiary companies, the Company considers
these to be insurance arrangements and accounts for them as such. In this respect, the Company treats the guarantee contract as a
contingent liability until such time as it hecomes probable that the Company will be reguired to make a payment under the guarantee.

Retirement benefit obligations

Pension costs are recognised in the financial statements in accordance with the requirements of FRS 17. Employees of the Company
participate in the Carillion ‘Staff” and 'B" schemes which provide pensions on a defined benefit basis. The assets and liabilities of these
schemes relating to the Company cannct be readily ascertained on a reasonable and consistent basis as the schemes are operated for the
benefit of the Carillion Group as a whole. Consequently, the Company accounts for these schernes as if they were defined contribution
schernes. Details of the Group's pension schemes are disclosed in note 31 of the consofidated finandial statemnents.

2 Profit for the year
As permitted by section 230 of the Companies Act 1985, the Company has elected not to present its own profit and loss account for the
year. Carillion plc reported a profit for the financial year ended 31 December 2005 of £49.3m (2004: £62 8m).

The auditors’ remuneration for audit services to the Company was £30,000 {2004 £27,000).

3 Investments

Subsidiary Joint
undertakings ventures Tatal
£m £m £fm

Cost:
At 1 January 2005 166.9 0.3 167.2
Additions 37.5 - 375
Disposais (1.9} - (1.9}
At 31 December 2005 202.5 0.3 202.8
Provision:
At 1 January 2005 11.9 - 11.9
Provision in the year 0.6 - 0.6
Disposals {1.9) - (1.9}
At 31 December 2005 10.6 - 10.6
Net book value:
At 31 December 2005 191.9 0.3 192.2
At 31 Decernber 2004 155.0 03 155.3

Of the additions in the year of £37.5m, £34.2m relates to the acquisition of Planned Maintenance Group Limited (PMG} in March 2005.
In the post acquisition pericd, the Company invested £3.3m in Planned Maintenance Enginearing Limited, the principal trading subsidiary
of PMG. The principal subsidiary undertakings and jeint ventures of the Company are shown on page 94.
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4 Debtors

2005 2008

fm £m

Amounts falling due within one year
Amaounts owed by group undlertakings 154.3 76.9
Cther debtors 0.3 2.4
Other prepayments and accrued income 7.2 0.2
Deferred tax asset 1.8 -
Amounts falling due within one year 163.6 795
Amounts falling due after more than one year
Amounts owed by group undertakings 28.7 27.3
Total debtors 192.3 106.8

The amounts cwed by group undertakings falling due after more than one year includes £9.3m (2004: £10.3m) refating to finance lease
transactions entered into with Carillion Construction Limited and Carilion Flest Managenient Limited. Further details are disclosed in
note 6 below.

5 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

2005 2008

restated

fm £m

Bank overdrafts 1.5 18.2
Net obligations due under finance leases 1.4 1.2
Borrowings 29 15.4
Amounts owed to group undertakings 191.1 119.5
Amounts owed to joint ventures 10.5 10.5
Corporaticn tax - 06
Other creditors - 0.3
Accruals and deferred income 6.0 06
Derivative financial instruments 0.3 -
210.8 1509

Derivative finandial instrurnents relate to the fair value of forward foreign currency contacts used to hedge trading transactions.

6 Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

2005 2004

£m £m

Bank loans 34,0 328
Net obligations due under finance leases 9.3 10.3
43.3 431

In the Company, net obligations due under finance leases relate to financing agreements for fixed assets that are used by Carillion
Construction Limited and Carillicn Fleet Management Limited, both wholly owned subsidiaries. The assets have been recognised in the
accounts of the subsidiaries in accordance with SSAP 21 "Accounting for leases and hire purchase contracts’, together with corresponding
liabilities to Caritlion pic. Carillion ple recognises these inter company debts within armounts owed by group undertakings in note 4.
interest is charged on the above bank loans at floating rates linked to LIBOR.

All bank loans and overdrafts are unsecured. Net obligations due under finance leases are secured on the assets to which they relate.

The maturity profile of alf borrowings is disciosed in note 13 on page 91.
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7 Share capital
2005 7004
fm fm
Authorised
325,000,000 ordinary shares of 50p each 162.5 162.5
2005 2094
Number Number
million fm mitlion £m
Issued and fully paid
At 1 January 214.3 107.1 214.0 107.0
New share capital subscribed 0.6 0.3 0.3 0.1
At 31 December 214.9 107.4 214.3 107.1

8 Reserves
Share  Profit and
premium [oss account Total
fm fm £m

At 1 January 2005 (as restated - see note 1} 6.8 97.6 104.4
Retained profit for the year - 49.3 49.3
Share options exercised by employees - 0.7 0.7
Equity settled transactions (net of tax} - 0.4 0.4
Premium arising on issue of shares 1.4 - 14
Dividends paid to shareholders - (16.1) (16.1)
At 31 Pecember 2005 8.2 131.9 140.%

The profit and loss account includes the reserve for the Company’s own shares which comprises of the cost of the Company's shares held
by the Carillion Employee Share Ownership Plan (ESOP). The shares held by the ESOP may subsequently be awarded to employees under the
Company's share incentive schemes. The movements in the reserve for own shares included within the profit and loss account are as follows:

2005 2004

£m fm

At 1 lanuary {5.4) (6.2}
Share options exercised by employees 0.7 0.8
At 31 December {a.7) (5.4)

At 31 December 2005, the ESOP held 3,715,612 {2004 4,238,013) of the Company’s shares. The ESOP has elected to waive all dividends
except for a total payment of 1 pence at the time each dividend is paid.

In addition to the ESOP the Company has also established a Qualifying Employee Share Ownership Trust {QUEST’). During the year, the
QUEST subscribed for 700,631 shares in the Company at market value for a consideration of £1.7m. in addition, 1,129,680 ordinary shares
in the Company held by the QUEST were transferred to empioyees af the Group following the exercise of options under the Sharesave
Scheme, At 31 December 2005 the total number of shares held by the QUEST amounted to 390,334 (2004: 819,383) and had a market
value of £1.2m (2004 £1.9m}. The QUEST has elected to waive all dividends in excess of 0.01 pence per share.
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9 Reconciliation of movement in shareholders’ funds

2005 2004
tm £m
Retained profit for the year 49.3 62.8
New share capital issued 1.7 04
Equity settled transactions (net of tax} 0.4 0.3
Share options exercised by employees 0.7 0.8
Dividends paid to shareholders (16.1) (16.4)
Net addition to shareholders’ funds 36.0 479
Opening shareholders” funds (as restated) 211.5 163.6
Closing shareholders’ funds 2475 2115
Opening shareholders' funds (as previously reported) 2014 152.8
Effect of adoption of FRS 21 10.1 10.8
Opening shareholders” funds (as restated) 2115 1636
10 Other guarantees and contingent liabilities
2005 2004
£m fm
Guarantees in respect of barrowings of subsidiaries, joint ventures and joint arrangements 10.9 11.5
Guarantees in respect of deferred eguity payments in PPP joint ventures 3.0 4.5
Guarantees in respect of letters of credit issued by banks in respect of deferred equity payments in PPP joint ventures 26.4 12.2

The Company has issued performance guarantees in respect of its subsidizries, joint ventures and joint arrangements in the normal course
of business.

11 Pension arrangements

As the Staff and ‘B’ defined benefit schemes are run for the Carillion Group as a whele the Company is unable to identify its share of the
schemes’ assets and liabilities on a consistent and reascnable basis. Hence, as permitted by FRS 17, the schemes are accounted for by the
Company separately as if the schemes were defined contribution schemes. Details of the Group’s pension schemes are disclosed in note 31

to the consclidated financial statements.

12 Share-based payments
The Company has established a share option programme that entitles key management personnel and senior employees to purchase shares
in the entity. Details of the Company's share option programme are disclosed in note 25 to the consclidated financial statements and in the

Remurneration Report on page 38.

13 Financial instruments
Details of the Company's principal financial instruments are discussed under accounting policies. The numerical financial instruments

disclosures are set out below.

Derivative finandial instruments

2005 .
Assets  Liakilities

fm £m
Forward foreign currency contracts - 0.3
Effective interest rates
The Company’s interest bearing borrowings were subject to effective interest rates at the balance sheet date as follows;

Range (%]}

Bank overdrafts 4.00 to 6.00
Bank loans 3.81to 5.13
Finance lease obligations 5.00 to 6.50
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13 Financial instruments continued
Foreign currency exposure
The carrying amount of the Company’s borrowings denominated in foreign currency is as follows:

2005 2004

£m £m

United States of America Dollars 14.6 13.1
Canadian Dollars 19.4 17.0
Swedish Krona - 2.7
34.0 32.8

Foreign currency borrowings of £34,0m (2004: £32.8m), are used for hedging overseas operations of the Group. The foreign exchange
loss of £4.0m (2004: £0.9m gain) on translation of the borrowings into sterling has heen recognised in the profit and loss account.

Fair values
The book and fair values of the Company’s financial instruments at 31 December 2005 and 31 December 2004 are not materially different.

Maturity of financia! liabiities
Tne maturity profile of the carrying amount of the Company’s borrowings is as follows:

Bank Bank Finance
loans  overdrafts leases Total
Em £m £m £m
31 December 2005
More than five years - - 4.0 4.0
Between four and five years - - 1.4 1.4
Between three and four years 330 - 1.3 353
Between two and three years - - 1.4 1.4
Between one and two years - - 1.2 1.2
More than one year 34.0 - 9.3 43.3
Less than one year - 1.5 14 2.9
34.0 1.5 10.7 46.2
Bank Bank Finance
loans overdrafis leases Total
fm fm fm fm
31 December 2004
More than five years - - 5.4 54
Between four and five years - - 1.3 1.3
Between three and four years - - 1.3 1.3
Between two and three years 32.8 - 1.2 34.0
Between one and two years - - 1.1 1.1
More than one year 328 - 10.3 431
Less than one year — 18.2 1.2 19.4
32.8 18.2 11.5 62.5

Borrowing facilities
The Company has the following undrawn committed borrowing facilities available at the year end in respect of which all conditions
precedent had been met:

2005 2004
fm £m
Expiring between two and five years 156.0 137.2

Following the acquisition of Mowlem plc on 23 February 2006, new committed borrowing facilities have been arranged totalling £490m,
which replace the existing committed facilities. Undrawn committed borrowing facilities, measured against the new facility amount would
be £112.5m expiring between one and two years and £343.5m expiring between two and five years.

14 Post halance sheet events
On 23 February 2006, the Company acquired the entire share capital of Mowlem plc. The consideration of £341m was satisfied by the
issue of 65.8m Company shares and cash of £117m.
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FRS RS =Y RS
IFRS 2004 2003 2002 2061
2005 restated restated restated restated
Income statement fm £m £m £ fm
Total revenue 2,284.2 1,985.1 1,972.7 1,9752 1,890.7
Less: share of jointly controlled entities revenue {258.7) {(126.1) (118.8) {1286} (191.0}
Revenue 2,025.5 1,85%.0 1,853.9 1,846.6 1,699.7
Underlying operating profit
Group 35.1 36.4 351 25.2 16.1
Jointly controlied entities 20.3 13.0 19.0 14.4 211
554 49.4 54.1 38.6 37.2
Net financing income/{expense)
Group 4.0 4.1 1.4 11.8 12.3
Jointly controlled entities 1.1 (3.4) {4.9) (5 2} {3.6)
5.1 0.7 (3.5 6.6 8.7
Taxation on jointly controfled entities (5.0) (2.0} (3.4 {19 (5.4)
Underlying profit before tax 55.5 481 472 44.3 405
Exceptional operating items
Group - 7.2 (33.1} - {8.9)
Jointly controlled entities - ~ - - (1.2}
- 7.2 (331} - (10.1)
Exceptional non-operating items
Group - 101 103 (0.3 -
Jointly controlled entities (0.8) 1.7 {0.4} (5.0 -
(0.8) 11.8 9.9 (5.3} -
Goodwill impairment and intangible amortisation (2.8} {0.3) (3.8} {2.7) (0.5}
Profit before taxation 51.9 66.8 202 36.3 295
Taxation (11.1) (8.6} {10.3) (10.00 (4.3
Equity minority interests (1.5) (1.8 (1.7 (2.1} 3.0
Profit for the year 39.3 56.4 82 242 22.5
Balance sheet
Intangible assets 62.3 203 22.4 45.0 42 8
Tangible assets 100.9 69.9 66.0 56.9 53.0
investments in jointly controlled entities:
Share of gross assets 4,005.9 6219 644.4 646.1 572.0
Share of gross liabilities (957.6)  (581.6} (599.7) (606.8) (530.4)
48.3 403 447 393 a41.6
Loan advances 24.8 24 331 21.7 19.2
Goodwill 0.4 0.7 1.0 - -
Financial instrument derlvatives (10.8) - - - -
62.7 65.1 78.8 61.0 60.8
COther investments 4.7 6.8 4.8 83 9.4
Working capital and provisions (119.8) (81.3) 1.0 (23.1) (74.8)
Tax (4.3) {22.3) (24.7} (147 (12.5)
Cash {net of finance leases) 9¢.8 128.8 59.6 2.1 a4.7
Net assets excluding pension obligations 197.3 187.3 145.9 135.3 123.4
Pension obligations (net of deferred tax) {472.5} (59.7} {76.6) (52.9) 59.2
Net assets 149.8 1276 69.3 82.4 i82.6
Equity sharehofders’ funds 148.7 1255 67.0 80.2 179.3
Minority interests 1.1 21 23 2.2 3.3
149.8 1276 69.3 82.4 182.6
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RS TFRS TFRS IFRS
IFRS 2004 2603 2002 2001
2005 restoted restated restated restated
Operating ratio
Underlying operating profit on revenue (%} 2.4 2.5 27 20 2.0
Financial ratios
Interest covered by underlying operating profit (times) - - 15.9 - -
Dividend cover on underlying earnings {times) 2.1 2.5 2.5 32 33
Share information
Dividends per ordinary share 8.0p 7.5p 6.75p 4.8p 4.4p
Earnings per share on published earnings 18.7p 27.1p 4.4p 10.7p 10.9p
Underlying earnings per share 20.4p 18.6p 17.2p 14.1p 14.3p

Prior year information has been restated following the adoption of IFRS as disclosed in Note 1.
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Principal Subsidiary Undertakings, Jointly Controlled Entities

and Jointly Controlled Operations

Except where shown, all subsidiary undertakings and jointly controlled entities are incorporated in Great Britain and operate in the UK. All
holdings are of ordinary shares and except where shown, all subsidiary undertakings are 100% owned (with equivalent voting rights) and
jointly controlled entities and jointly controlled operations are 50% owned. Shares of those undertakings marked with an asterisk are directly

owned by Carillion plc.

Principal subsidiary undertakings
Carillion Canada inc {Canada)
Carillion (Caribbean) Ltd (Trinidad & Tohago)
Carillion CR Limited

Carillion Construction Ltd *

Carillion Fleet Management Ltd *
Cariltion Highway Maintenance Ltd *
Cariliion Private Finance Ltd *
Cariftion Services Lid *

Monteray Ltd 51%

Planned Maintenance Engineering Ltd
Postworth Ltd *

Principal jointly controlled entities

Public Private Partnerships

Accommodation Services (Holdings) Ltd 40%

Arrow Light Rail Holdings Ltd 12.5%

Education Care & Discipline Ltd

Education Care & Discipline Three Ltd

Ellenbrook Holdings Lid

GS4L Caritlion (Fazakerley) Ltd

GSL Carillion (Onley) Ltd

RSP {Holdings) Ltd 30%

Sheppey Route {Holdings} Ltd

The Healthcare infrastructure Company of Canada (ROR) Inc {Canada)
The Healthcare Infrastructure Company of Canada (WOHC) inc (Canada)
The Hospital Company {Oxford John Radcliffe) Haldings Ltd

The Hospital Company (QAH Portsrnouth) Holdings Ltd

The Hospital Company (Swindon & Martborough) Holdings {1td 33.3%
Town Hospitals {North Staffordshire) Holdings Ltd

Town Hospitals (Southern General) Holdings Ltd

UK Court Services (Manchester} Holdings Ltd 33.3%

LUK Highways ABS (Holdings) Ltd

Others

Al Futtaim Carillion LLC (UAD) 49%
Carillion Alawi LLC (Oman} 49%
Carillion Richardson Partnership 50%
Ermnrill Services LLC (UAE) * 49%

Servus Ltd (Trinidad & Tobago)

Jointly controlied operations

Name, propertion of interest held and address of principal place of business:

CAMBBA Construction Group 25%
Carillion-URS Joint Venture 70%
Carilfion-WsP 1V 60%
GTBB 50%

Nature of business

Construction and infrastructure services
Construction and infrastructure services
Holding company for property development
Construction and infrastructure management
Supply and maintenance of vehicles

Roads and ground maintenance and repair
Hoiding company for PPP project companies
Facilities management

Property and facilities management services
Building services and maintenance

Supply of operatives to the construction industry

Associated project

GCHQ, Cheltenham

Nottingharn Express Transit

Medway Secure Training Centre
Rainsbrook Secure Training Centre
University of Hertfordshire Student Accommodation
HM Prison Altcourse

HM Prison Rye Hill

Renfrewshire Schoois

A249 Kent

Royal Ottawa Hospital, Canada
william Osler Hospital, Canada

John Radcliffe Hospital, Oxford

Queen Alexandra Hospital, Portsmouth
Great Western Hospital, Swindon
Harplands Hospital

Glasgow Southern General Hospital
Manchester Magistrates Court

A55 North Wales

Nature of business

Building and civil engineering
Building and civil engineering
Property Developiment
Facilities management
Facilities management

Mill Lane, Off Watling Street, Shenstone, Staffordshire, England
Pytchley Maintenance Compound, Pegasus Court, Kettering
South Business Park, Kettering, Nerthamptonshire, England
Bradiford, West Yorkshire, England

Rugby, Warwickshire, England

A complete list of Group subsidiary undertakings will be attached to the Company’s annual return to the Registrar of Companies.

This list is at 31 December 2005 and, therefore, does not include companies acquired with Mowfem plc.




Shareholder Information

Dividends

Dividends are normally paid twice a year. The proposed final dividend
in respect of the year to 31 December 2005 will be payable on

23 june 2006 to those shareholders on the register on 28 April 2006.

A dividend reinvestiment plan (DRIP) will also be offered.

For those shareholders whao prefer not to participate in the DRIP,
arrangements can be made to pay your dividends automatically into
your hank or building society account. This service has a number

of benefits:

s there is no chance of the dividend cheque going missing in the post;

= the dividend payment is received more guickly, as the cash is paid
directly into your account on the payment date without the need to
wait for the chegue to clear; and

« yau will be helping Carillion to improve its efficiency by reducing
printing and cheque clearing costs.

If you wish to register for this service please call Lioyds TSB Registrars
on the number detailed below to request a dividend mandate form.

Results
Half year to 30 June 2006: announced 6 September 2006
Full year to 31 December 2006: announced March 2007

Shareholder enquiries

Lioyds TSB Registrars maintain the register of members of the
Company. If you have any gueries concerning your sharehclding,
or if any of your details change, please contact the Registrars:

Lloyds TS8 Reqistrars
The Causeway
Worthing

West Sussex

BN9S GDA
Telephane 0870 600 3953
Textphone for sharehgiders
with hearing difficulties 0870 600 3950

Share dealing service

Carillion now offers its UK shareholders, Shareview Dealing, a
telephone and internet share sale service operated by Lloyds TSB
Registrars. For telephone sales call 0870 850 0852 between 8.30am
and 4.30pm, Manday to Friday, and for internet sales log on to
www.shareview.co.uk/dealing. You will need your shareholder
reference number as shown on your share certificate.
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Multiple accounts on the shareholder register

If you have received two or more sets of the documents conceming
the Annual General Meeting this means that there is maore than one
account in your name on the shareholder register, perhaps because
either your narme or your address appear on each account in a slightly
different way. For security reasons, the Registrars will not amalgamate
the accounts without your written consent, so if you would like any
multipte accounts combined into one account, please write to Lloyds
TSB Registrars at the address given above.

Shareview (electronic communications)

wiwwy shareview.co.uk is a service offered by Lioyds TSB Registrars that
enables you to check your holdings in many UK comganies and helps
you 10 oiganise your investments electionically. You can register for this
portfolio service which is easy 1o use, secure and free as long as you
have access to the internet by logging on to wwaw.shareview.co.uk

and following a simple registration process.

Electronic proxy appointments

For the AGM to be held on 10 May 2006, you may, if you wish,
register the appointment of a proxy electronically by logging on o
the website www.sharevote co.uk

You will need your voting reference numbers (the three 8-digit
numbers shown on your form of proxy}. Alternatively, if you have
reqgistered for a Shareview pertfolio, log on to your portfolio at
www shareview.co.uk and click an "Company Meetings”.

Please note that any electronic communication that is found to
contain & computer virus will not be accepted.

ShareGift

ShareGift is & charity share donation scheme for shareholders,
administered by the Orr Mackintosh Foundation. it is especially

for those who may wish to dispose of a smalt parcel of shares
whose value makes it uneconomic to sell on a commission basis.
Further information can be obtained at www.sharegift.org or from
Lioyds TSB Registrars.
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Advisers

Auditor

KPMG Audit Plc
2 Cornwall Street
Birmingham

B3 2DL

Banker

National Westminster Bank plc
16 South Parade

Nottingham

NGT 20X

Joint brokers
Morgan Stanley
25 Cabot Sguare
Canary Wharf
London

E14 SQA

Qriel Securities
125 Wood Street
London

EC2V 7AN

Financial adviser
Lazard

50 Stratton Street
London

Wil 8lL

Legal adviser
Slaughter and May
One Bunhill Row
London

ECTY 8YY

Share registrar
Lloyds TSB Registrars
The Causeway
Warthing

West Sussex

BN92 6DA

Internet
wwwy carillicnplc.com




